
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Wednesday, 1 December 2021 
 
 

CABINET 
will meet on 

Thursday, 9 December 2021 
beginning at 

6:30 pm 
in the 

Reception, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 
 
TO: Councillor Keith House (Chair) 
 Councillor Paul Bicknell (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor David Airey 
Councillor Ian Corben 
Councillor Tonia Craig 
 

Councillor Rupert Kyrle 
Councillor Derek Pretty 
 

 
 

Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298 
Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

  
 
 

 
 

JOANNE CASSAR 
Executive Head of Governance 

 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and 
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to 
access committee papers. 
 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

1.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 18 October 2021. 
 

2.   Apologies  
 

3.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

4.   Recommendations from Committees (Pages 9 - 10) 
 

5.   Asset Transfer Policy (Pages 11 - 18) 
 

6.   One Horton Heath Property Transaction (Pages 19 - 36) 
 

7.   Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document (Pages 37 - 102) 
 

8.   Biodiversity Strategy 2022-2032 (Pages 103 - 146) 
 

9.   Corporate Fees and Charges (Pages 147 - 170) 
 

10.   Corporate Performance Report (Pages 171 - 298) 
 

11.   Corporate Risk Management Annual Report (Pages 299 - 318) 
 

12.   Exempt Business  
 
To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 in respect of the following item(s) of business on the grounds that it 
is/they are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.  
  
The Schedule 12A categories have been amended and are now subject to the 
public interest test, in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  This 
came into effect on 1st March 2006. 
  
It is considered that the following items are exempt from disclosure and that the 
public interest in not disclosing the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

 EXEMPT ITEM(S)  
 

13.   Property Transaction (Pages 319 - 330) 
 

14.   Property Transaction (Pages 331 - 340) 
 
 

 

2



 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Monday, 10 January 2022 at 7:00 pm 

In the Rooms 16/17, Eastleigh House, Upper 
Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  
 

3

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

CABINET 
 

Monday, 18 October 2021  (7:00 pm – 7:01 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor House (Chair); Councillors Bicknell, Airey, Corben, Craig, Kyrle 
and Pretty 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Bourne, Garton and Duguid 
 
 

________________________________________ 
 
RECOMMENDED ITEMS (REQUIRING A DECISION) 
 

55. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion.  
 

56. RECOMMENDATION FROM COMMITTEES 
 
There were no recommendations from Committees. 
 

57. TOWN CENTRE PRINCIPLES 
 
Issue 
 
The Guiding Regeneration Principles document captures the key themes 
that together will guide the regeneration of Eastleigh town centre as we 
recover from the pandemic. It aims to give strategic direction to delivery in 
the short to medium term, and frame more detailed discussions with 
stakeholders about how we collectively shape Eastleigh in the future. 
(Paper 6) 
 
Consideration 
 
Our towns and local centres have been changing gradually for some time, 
due to competition from both online and out-of-town retail and leisure 
offers which has led to the slow decline of the retail sector. 
 
The pandemic, and the social distancing restrictions imposed by the 
Government, have further impacted our Local Centres and the businesses 
within them. The pandemic has accelerated existing trends to the extent 
that footfall has decreased (50%-60% during lockdown in Eastleigh), 
shopping online has increased (nationally 20% to 33.8% sales by the end 
of the 2nd

 lockdown), and occupancy levels have fallen (93% to 89% in 
Eastleigh town centre, excluding charity shops, since February 2020). 
 
RESOLVED –  

5

Agenda Item 1



2 
 

 
That Cabinet approve the Guiding Regeneration Principles document 
– Together we make Eastleigh, at Appendix 1. 
 

58. CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT STRATEGY 
 
Issue 
 
This Strategy provides an overarching set of principles for all enforcement 
carried out by the Council. Separate enforcement policies determine 
specific approaches for individual areas of enforcement. (Paper 7) 
 
Consideration 
 
Councillors have previously suggested a renewed policy approach to 
enforcement. Previous policy documents were out of date and insufficient 
to support a robust legal approach. At the same time the Council’s Internal 
Auditors identified that the Council lacked an overarching enforcement 
strategy. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 

(1) approves the attached draft Strategy (Appendix 1). 
(2) agrees that the Corporate Enforcement Strategy is presented 

to Policy and Performance Committee and Cabinet for approval 
every two years; and 

(3) agrees that approval of service specific enforcement polices 
be approved by Executive Head of relevant services in 
consultation with Portfolio leads. 

 
[NOTE: Cabinet agreed that the second recommendation be 
amended.] 
 
RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

59. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

60. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 September 2021 be 
agreed as a correct record. 
 
M6853 

6



3 
 

 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



Recommendations to Cabinet  

P&P Recommendations – 14 October 2021 

 

Asset Transfer Policy  

Recommended: 

(1) That Eastleigh Borough Council communicate with the Parishes to 
understand and address issues and concerns relating to asset 
transfers that are currently in progress, regardless of the outcome of 
the policy decision. 

 
(2) Ensure that asset transfer legal agreements clearly state the need for 

the Parish to provide specific expertise to appropriately manage sites 
with complex biodiversity features; and for the Borough Council to 
consider how to support Parishes achieve this, e.g. with training from 
Council staff; and  

 
(3) Ensure that asset transfer legal agreements allow for latent defects in 

assets to be addressed by the Borough Council post transfer where the 
defect has occurred through no fault of the Parish and could not be 
known about at the time of transfer, within a specified time period, to 
be agreed. 

9

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Thursday, 14 October 2021  

CABINET  

Thursday, 25 November 2021 

ASSET TRANSFER POLICY 

Report of the Strategic Planning Manager 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that   
 
(1) The Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel considers and comment on the 

Asset Transfer Policy at Appendix A. 

(2) Cabinet approves the Asset Transfer Policy at Appendix A. 

 

Summary 
 
The Council has had a policy of Asset Transfers to town and parish councils since 1994.  
This document collates various previous related policy documents into a single and up-to-
date policy that reflects this approach. 

Focus for Scrutiny 

To consider the Policy and make any comments ahead of final approval. 

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence, 
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area. 

 

Strategic Implications  

2. This Policy relates to taking decisions at the most local level, reflecting the 
Local First approach in the Corporate Plan 2015-2025. 

11

Agenda Item 5



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Introduction 

3. The Council has had a policy on Asset Transfers since 1994. This document 
collates the existing policy approach from previous documents into one 
document. 

Asset Transfer Policy 

4. The Council has transferred a large number of assets to parish and town 
councils over many years, enabling those more local councils to make 
decisions and manage facilities closer to the people who use and benefit from 
those assets.  The Policy highlights the rationale and benefits of transferring 
assets. 

5. The Policy reflects the existing policy approach to Asset Transfers, so is 
therefore helpful for new Council staff, as well as parish and town councils, to 
understand the approach.  

Financial Implications 

6. There are no implications arising directly from the policy.  Work to transfer 
assets is carried out by services within existing budgets. Changes to asset 
ownerships are reflected in changes to the special expense element of the 
Council’s Council Tax calculations, and service planning each year.  

Risk Assessment 

7. An up-to-date single policy document clarifies the approach for Council staff 
and parish and town councils.   

Equality and Diversity Implications 

8. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it is a 
report dealing with internal or procedural matters only. 

 

Climate and Environmental Implications 

9. Asset management decisions, including sustainability issues, will be a matter 
for the owner of any transferred asset (i.e. the parish or town council).  The 
Council will work with parish and town councils to encourage sustainable 
approaches to assets as part of the Council’s net zero carbon target by 2030. 

 

Conclusion 

10. The Policy at Appendix A reflects an existing and longstanding Council policy 
on Asset Transfers to town and parish councils. 

DICCON BRIGHT 
STRATEGIC PLANNING MANAGER 

12



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 
Date: 22 September 2021 
Contact Officer: Diccon Bright  
Tel No: 023 8069 8436 
e-mail: diccon.bright@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: Appendix A Asset Transfer Policy 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None 

13



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Asset Transfer Policy - September 2021 – Transfer of Assets to Parish and Town 

Councils 

 

Introduction 

Eastleigh Borough Council (“the Council”) has since 1994, adopted a policy of transferring 

assets to parish and town councils.  This process aligns with the Council’s approach to 

localism, working constructively with parish and town councils for the benefit of communities.  

The approach is based on the principle that decision-making should take place as close to 

communities as possible, which includes decisions both about the way an asset is managed 

and about how much money is raised and spent. It also gives parish and town councils the 

opportunity to play a greater role in improving their areas and the quality of life of their 

residents.  

The policy is based on the presumption that the Council will devolve assets unless it can be 

demonstrated that we can’t.      

This updated policy document includes policy decisions taken over several years and 

captures the current approach. 

Benefits of Asset Transfers 

1. Decision-making is devolved and locally controlled. 

 

2. Management, quality and improvements to assets are more responsive to local 

interests. 

 

3. Residents then contribute directly to the costs for their area, paying once (as now) via 

the parish or town council precept, with the Council’s precept in that parish adjusted 

down to reflect the devolved costs.  

(The Council will continue to act as the collection agency, collecting all the precepts 

for parish and town councils, Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service, Hampshire 

County Council, Hampshire Constabulary and the Council itself). 

 

4. In the event of local government reorganisation, transfer of assets would ensure that 

control is retained at parish and town council level and not centralised to a remote 

unitary council or combined authority. 

 

Initial considerations 

5. Type of asset.  The Council welcomes discussion on transfer of any assets to parish 

and town councils; the most likely transfers will be of assets which have local 

relevance i.e. used and enjoyed by residents of a single parish or town council area. 

Where this is the case the policy presumption will be that the town or parish council 

rather than the Council, should own the asset, subject to Cabinet ratification. Parish 

and town councils should approach the Local Area Manager (LAM) in the first 

instance.  

 

6. Types of assets that will usually be transferred include: 

15



2 
 

a. Open spaces 

b. Countryside sites 

c. Allotments 

d. Cemeteries 

e. Play areas 

f. Community centres 

g. Bus Shelters 

h. Playing Fields 

i. Public Toilets. 

 

7. Assets of strategic importance and/or used by residents from across the Borough 

may also be considered, but are less likely to be approved by the Council for transfer. 

 

8. Designated sites: certain sites carry an ecological designation (SSSI, SINC, SAC, 

SPA, Ramsar, Local Nature Reserve, Local Wildlife Site) and require enhanced 

management. Protecting the ecological value of such sites is a part of the Borough’s 

Biodiversity Strategy and approach to tackling the Climate and Environment 

Emergency. Such assets will be considered by the Council for transfer, but parish 

and town councils should consider the extra management issues required for 

maintaining ecological designations and preserving amenity value. Specialist Council 

advice and services can be ‘bought-back’ by parish and town councils to support the 

management of designated sites. The Council reserves the right not to transfer such 

sensitive sites, and/or to transfer sites conditional on parish or town councils entering 

a service agreement with the Council for expert management and/or advice for a 

period of time, until the parish or town council has acquired such expertise. 

 

9. The Council encourages a strategic approach to asset transfers.  Agreements for 

transfers will be given by the Council in the context of the overall scope of potential 

transferable assets. This will avoid creating a patchwork of asset ownerships and 

management in a parish area which would be difficult to manage and confusing to 

residents.  

 

10. Good planning and timetabling is required on both sides so that changes to precepts 

and Special Expenses can be made ahead of budget decisions by both the Council 

and parish or town councils, and the issuing of Council Tax bills.  

 

11. The Council will bring the asset up to a reasonable standard and pay associated 

costs, ahead of transferring the asset, subject to negotiation with the parish or town 

council. The parish or town council may wish the asset to be improved to a higher 

standard and this is for the parish or town council to arrange and to meet these costs 

from their budget, setting their precept accordingly.  

 

12. Trees. The Council currently has a programme of both scheduled and reactive 

inspection and maintenance. Trees on land being transferred will be inspected and 

any necessary maintenance carried out ahead of transfer. The Council will provide 

advice concerning liabilities and costs relating to trees, and a buy-back service will be 

made available. Where there is a shared need across a number of parish and town 

councils the Council can arrange training for grounds maintenance staff.   

 

16



3 
 

13. Once an asset is identified for possible transfer, the process may involve a number of 

queries and issues to be resolved ahead of a formal decision on each side to 

proceed with a legal transfer. Local Area Managers will oversee this process.  

 

14. The Council decision about whether an existing asset can be transferred to a parish 

or town council will be made by the Council’s Cabinet.(A different process applies to 

assets arising from s106 agreements.) The Council’s Asset Management team will 

then issue an instruction to the Council’s Legal Services’ staff to undertake and 

complete a legal transfer. 

 

15. Identifying assets for transfer, tracking the process of pre-transfer and legal transfer 

work will be overseen internally by the Council’s Community Assets Board. The Local 

Area Manager will be point of contact for parish and town councils, usually liaising 

with the clerk. 

 

16. Where new assets are created as part of new developments, the Council has a clear 

process of early engagement with parish and town councils, negotiation with 

developers, informing the design and checking quality of provision by the developer 

and then legal transfer, first to the Council and then onward to the parish or town 

council, unless a direct transfer from the developer to the parish or town council 

proves possible. In some cases the Council, rather than the developer, will provide 

the asset (e.g. a play area). Local Area Managers can provide more information 

about this process. 

 

17. Early engagement with parish and town councils is appreciated on how many and 

which assets to transfer. This helps the Council to plan the work required to complete 

transfers, and plan for any changes to services e.g. where the Council requires a 

reduced staff team, due to work transferring to parish or town councils. 

 

Transfer process 

18. Assets will be transferred at a nil consideration. (See also section on ‘commuted 

sums’ below.) 

 

19. The Council will pay the reasonable legal costs of parish and town councils to 

transfer assets. This is currently (September 2021) deemed to be £750 per asset 

transfer. 

 

20. Use of assets post-transfer.  The legal transfer will include any relevant covenants 

which ensure the value of a piece of land or an asset to local people is protected. 

The Council may impose terms in a transfer that the parish or town council needs to 

seek agreement before disposal of an asset or a change of its use, or that a 

percentage (up to 100%) of the value of the asset realised on disposal accrues to the 

Council.  If disposal is considered, the Council should first be offered the asset back 

without cost. The transfer terms will also cover the situation where the parish or town 

council ceases to exist and there is no provision for the transfer of assets to another 

local authority. 

 

17



4 
 

21. In some cases the usage of a transferred asset may be safeguarded by the Council 

through a community use management agreement and/or agreed asset management 

plan. 

 

22. Prior to the completion of a legal transfer (and where this may take time to complete), 

town and parish councils may enter an agreement with the Council to manage and 

maintain the asset including enhancing the maintenance standard above that which 

the Council would usually apply, at the expense of the parish or town council. 

 

23. Each asset transfer is different and may carry a number of legal or technical issues to 

be resolved by several Council staff. The Council will seek to progress transfers 

without unnecessary delay. In rare cases Ministerial consent or public consultation 

may be required to effect a transfer. 

 

Post transfer 

24. Special Expenses. The Council uses ‘Special Expenses’ (an element of Council Tax) 

to raise funds from residents in each parish area to pay for local assets that the 

Council holds.  When an asset transfers, the Council will stop charging local 

residents this Special Expense element of Council Tax.  Parish and town councils 

may choose to increase or reduce their precept by a similar amount to fund their 

(new) costs of managing the asset.  Residents will not pay twice.  

 

25. Parish and town councils are advised to plan carefully for the repair and renewal of 

their assets. The parish or town council may request that the Council negotiates and 

collects further funding from future development for improvements and 

enhancements to the assets where future development would increase usage of the 

asset. This reflects the continued interest the Council has in supporting communities 

to have the best possible assets and community infrastructure, whoever is the owner 

of the asset. 

 

26. In some cases the Council may have ‘commuted sums’ i.e. funding collected from 

developers for the initial years of maintenance, which will be passed over to the 

parish or town council.  

 

27. The Council will assist town and parish councils with initial advice and guidance on 

management and maintenance of an asset e.g. trees. The Council may provide 

management plans and service specifications as starting points for parish and town 

councils to consider future management.  Town and parish councils should ensure 

that they have in-house or outsourced the required capability and capacity to manage 

and maintain assets once in their ownership. This may require new technical skills or 

knowledge e.g. in relation to trees or ecology, inspections of play equipment. 

 

Town and parish councils may ‘buy back’ services from the Council to manage and maintain 

assets that have been transferred. Such services would be funded by the town or parish 

council. The Council will draw up management plans, service level agreements and 

contracts to carry out such work. 

18



CABINET  

Thursday, 9 December 2021  

PROPERTY TRANSACTION REPORT 

Report of the Chief Executive 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that Cabinet 
 

(1) Approve additional expenditure of £30.7M (Appendix A) to bring forward the 
delivery of secondary infrastructure at One Horton Heath funded by 
borrowing repaid from future sales and rental income; 

(2) Approve the revised serviced plot business plan (Appendix B); and 

(3) Approve the revised First Reserved Parcel (FRP) business plan (Appendix C) 

 
 

Summary 
 
The Council has previously purchased land and assets to deliver a new community west of 
Horton Heath in the borough (total 320 acres i.e. 129 hectares). Land purchases and the 
Project Brief followed Cabinet approvals in October 2017, July 2018, April 2019, and 
September 2020, and the project is known as One Horton Heath. 

Cabinet approval is sought to approve the budget for the Secondary Infrastructure Delivery 
(SID) and updates  

The attached Financial Appraisals and supporting information are explained in this report 

Statutory Powers 
 

Localism Act 2011 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. This proposal responds to the One Horton Heath Project Brief, as well as 
several of the Council’s Corporate Objectives. 

2. A key Council Corporate Plan objective is ensuring there is a planned housing 
supply to meet residents’ requirements for new housing in the borough.  The 

19

Agenda Item 6



  
 
  

Corporate Strategy for Housing (February 2018) explains the Council is a 
housing delivery enabler and taking responsibility for making development 
happen in the area, with an emphasis on actively using its own assets and 
capabilities to unlock housing opportunities. 

3. On 11 July 2019, Cabinet approved a Project Brief for the One Horton Heath 
Project, which confirmed the direction of travel or ‘roadmap’ for the Council’s 
development team responsible for the planning, design and implementation of 
the Council’s aspirations for the land as landowner. Further information about 
the project is online at www.onehortonheath.co.uk 

4. The Project Brief aims to deliver the maximum reasonable quantum of 
residential development, to ensure efficient use of land. Delivering 
infrastructure ahead of residential development wherever possible and 
otherwise simultaneously with development, is another key aim, and 
justification for accelerating secondary infrastructure within the One Horton 
Heath Boundary in order to deliver on the infrastructure first approach. 

Introduction 

5. One Horton Heath is a major mixed-use development set across 320 acres 
which is being delivered directly by the Council providing many opportunities 
to meet and further Corporate objectives in respect of the environment, 
housing supply, health and wellbeing of residents in the Borough.  

6. Since acquiring the land in 2018 operations have focused on land 
management, various forms of site wide enabling work and installation of 
major new highway infrastructure and green spaces at the northern and 
southern ends of the site.  

7. In September 2021 the Development Management Committee approved a 
new site side masterplan, a consent once issued that will set parameters for 
all future design, delivery and long-term operation of the site.  

8. In October 2021 the Development Management Committee approved plans 
for the first phase of housing and new green infrastructure adjacent to 
Burnetts Lane.  

9. In line with the Council’s commitment to infrastructure first, plans have already 
been submitted for the new link road between Burnetts and Lane and 
Allington Lane which will be opened in 2023 prior to any houses being 
occupied. 

10. OHH prioritises provision of the right infrastructure at the start of the project.  
Now that the new masterplan has been approved, the Council is able to 
progress the remaining primary infrastructure in accordance with the approved 
business case. The Council also wishes to accelerate provision of site wide 
secondary infrastructure and is seeking Cabinet approval to incur further 
expenditure so that all primary and secondary infrastructure is provided by 
completion of the first phase of housing. 

20

http://www.onehortonheath.co.uk/


  
 
  

 

Secondary Infrastructure Delivery 

11. In the context of One Horton Heath, secondary infrastructure includes the 
following elements within the site boundary, between development parcels 
and enroute to key destinations within the site layout such as the school local 
centre and sports provision, the cost breakdown is shown in Appendix A. 

(a) Carriageways, footways & cycleways. 

(b) Mains drainage, water, electricity, telecoms and broadband. 

(c) Formal and informal open spaces. 

(d) Surface water management via on site Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SuDS). 

(e) Destination play facilities. 

(f) On site sports provision. 

(g) Ecological mitigation. 

(h) Nutrient mitigation via on site SuDS. 

(i) Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 

12. There are a variety of reasons why approval to accelerate delivery of the 
secondary infrastructure is being sought at this time.  

(a) Previous approvals operated on the assumption that all secondary 
infrastructure would come forward in piecemeal fashion alongside 
development parcels.  

(b) Having now fixed the new masterplan some elements of secondary 
infrastructure need to be delivered in advance of housing parcels in 
any event e.g., carriageways, footways & cycleways to the onsite 
education facilities and destination play. 

(c) The scope of onsite delivery has grown over the course of planning 
determination since original business case approval, for example 
nutrient mitigation, ecological mitigation and BNG. 

(d) It is more desirable and sensible to take a comprehensive approach to 
secondary infrastructure delivery rather than progressing individual 
development parcels with the need to complete individual additional 
infrastructure items at a later date. 

13. The primary reason for accelerating the secondary infrastructure is to fully 
realise the Council’s commitment to infrastructure first for the benefit of 
existing and new residents in this part of the Borough and to de-risk future 

21



  
 
  

delivery of individual development parcels. The full extent of the approved 
infrastructure and the FRP can be seen at Appendix D leaving the future 
parcels (non-shaded areas) for approval. 

Financial Implications 

14. A summary of the historic financial approvals for One Horton Heath is shown 
at Appendix E.  

15. Bringing forward the delivery of SID at a cost of £30.7M will be initially funded 
by borrowing and repaid from future sales and rental receipts. It is important to 
note that this cost is not an increased cost to the overall project budget but 
bringing forward spend to enable delivery of the Councils ‘Infrastructure First’ 
approach. 

16. As this cost will become part of the serviced land appraisal last approved in 
September 2020, the revised appraisal shown in Appendix B is required to be 
reapproved. This shows a net reduction in surplus to £9.16M, recognising the 
£30.7M cost of SID.  

17. Whilst the total surplus at this stage is reduced, the business case recognises 
that should the Council decide to sell off serviced plots in the future and they 
still only generate an income of £84,000 a plot the scheme will create a net 
surplus.   

18. This income figure is now some years out of date, and this value will have 
risen over time with inflation, and to recognise the reduced delivery risk in the 
delivery parcels. The District Valuer is providing an updated figure which has 
yet to be received at the time of writing.  

19. Whilst it is envisaged that income will have increased, it is also noted that 
construction costs will have increased over this period.  Where known, such 
as where construction costs have already been incurred, works are ongoing, 
or tendered for, actual forecast costs are factored into the business 
case.    Where costs are upcoming but as yet untendered for, such as the SID 
costs, estimates are included in the business case having been calculated 
using the latest current forecasts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22



  
 
  

20. A financial summary of this approval is shown below: 

Land Appraisal 

  
  

  

  
Expenditure 

(£) 
Income  

(£) 
Total  

(£) 

Projected Income   (221,214,150)   

Total Cost 181,363,971     

        

Position Approved Sept 2020 181,363,971 (221,214,150) (39,850,179) 

        

        

Adjust LAAC Grant to Income 20,800,000 (20,800,000)   

        

Additional SID Costs 28,087,441     

Financing Costs of SID 2,600,000     

        

New Net (SURPLUS) Position 
Approved Dec 2021 

232,851,412 (242,014,150) (9,162,738) 

 

21. As the FRP previously approved included a cost element of SID (£1.2M) this 
has been removed from the FRP appraisal. This leads to a reduction in the 
FRP budget of £1.2M as detailed in Appendix C and shown in summary in the 
table on the following page: 

FRP Appraisal 
  

  

  

  
Expenditure 

(£) 
Income  

(£) 
Total  

(£) 

        

Projected Income   (121,981,250)   

Total Cost 121,786,750     

Position Approved Feb 2021 121,786,750 (121,981,250) (194,500) 

        

Reduced Cost for SID (1,200,000)     

        

New Net Position Approved Dec 
2021 

120,586,750 (121,981,250) (1,394,500) 

Note – The total expenditure includes £33.012M of costs allocated from the 
land appraisal so the true additional capital spend is £87.6M. 

22. In addition to the Council’s usual project monitoring processes, further cost 
monitoring is regularly undertaken by the Horton Heath Commercial Manager, 
due to the size of the funds involved. These include a full monthly cost report 
to both the Project Management Team and Financial Services and fully 
reported to the Horton Heath Board quarterly.   In addition, should changes be 
required, additional reporting will be provided as necessary. This process 
includes a full reconciliation of the spend against the cost in the cost plan by 
the Chief Accountant. 

23



  
 
  

Risk Assessment 

23. Cabinet is asked to note the financial appraisals summarised in the 
Appendices. The appraisals have been compiled by the Council’s in-house 
delivery team. All appraisal inputs and assumptions have been tested with 
local agents, contractors, and where relevant other departments of the 
Council (Finance, Legal, Direct Services etc). 

24. The One Horton Heath project is supported by a Risk Register that is closely 
monitored. This followed a comprehensive risk assessment which 
accompanied the October 2017 original property transaction for the land, and 
the subsequent land purchases. The most significant risks associated with 
large-scale development projects include market downturn and an impact on 
sales values; economic uncertainty associated with BREXIT and COVID-19; 
abnormals leading to works which exceed the budgeted contingency sum; 
financial collapse of business partners; knowledge retention; unknown 
liabilities. 

25. Any construction process includes inherent risks, and these are mitigated as 
far as possible through good procurement process and contract controls.  
There are also industry standard levels of contingency which will reduce as 
the project progresses and the risks are removed. 

26. The construction industry has been impacted by the Covid Pandemic and 
Brexit.  Material availability and labour supply have escalated construction 
costs.  This is forecast as a short-term risk (1-2 years) and is monitored 
through the Strategic Risk Management Group and Audit and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee. 

27. In addition, the OHH project has additional scrutiny from the Housing Working 
Group, containing senior staff members and councillors from the Audit and 
Resource Scrutiny Panel, considering housing developments and reporting 
back their findings to the Audit and Resources Scrutiny panel regularly 
throughout the year. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

28. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it has 
been assessed against the criteria and an Equality Impact Assessment has 
not been carried out. The proposal does not relate to eliminating 
discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or fostering good relations 
between different people with protected characteristics.  

29. Any specific construction or works projects approved in future in accordance 
with this budget would be likely to address issues around accessibility for 
persons with disabilities or older persons, and so on. At that stage, a full 
Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) may need to be carried out if deemed 
proportionate.  

24



  
 
  

30. It is considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be 
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried 
out. 

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

31. The appraisal proposed in this report do not explicitly lead to an increase in 
Greenhouse Gas/CO2, or damage ecology or the environment. The 
environmental impacts and net benefits of the One Horton Heath project are 
set out elsewhere. In May 2020, the Council submitted an Environmental 
Impact Assessment (EIA) Scoping Request for One Horton Heath to help 
ensure the highest environmental standards for the new development. This 
included a nil impact on the environment and a net gain in biodiversity. In 
addition, the project is seeking to enable many environmental initiatives such 
as ground source heat pumps and self-sufficient for energy usage. 

 

Conclusion 

32. To fully deliver on the ‘Infrastructure First’ approach and enable a better 
environment earlier for residents of One Horton Heath and the local residents 
it is recommended that Cabinet approve the advancement of funding for 
secondary infrastructure delivery. 

 

TOM ANDREWS 
CHIEF ACCOUNTANT 

 
Date: 23 November 2021 
Contact Officer: Tom Andrews  
Tel No: 02380 688259 
e-mail: tom.andrews@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 5 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* List Background Papers or state None. 
 

25



This page is intentionally left blank



27



This page is intentionally left blank



29



This page is intentionally left blank



31



This page is intentionally left blank



33



This page is intentionally left blank



35



36



 

 

 

CABINET 

Thursday, 9 December 2021  

TREES AND DEVELOPMENT SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT 

Report of the Senior Planning Policy Specialist  

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 
(1) Approves the final draft Eastleigh Borough Trees and Development 

Supplementary Planning Document for adoption alongside the Local Plan; 
and 

(2) Delegates authority to the Senior Planning Policy Specialist to make minor 
editing changes to the document prior to publication. 

 

Summary 
 
The Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) provides guidance 
on the approach to trees alongside new development in the Borough. This is the final draft 
version which includes limited changes following public consultation in June – July 2021.  

The guidance in this document will be used by Development Management when 
negotiating new development proposals and determining planning applications. Until the 
adoption of the Local Plan, this will be interim planning guidance. Once the Local Plan has 
been adopted, the Trees and Development SPD will become part of the Council’s Local 
Plan and Policy Framework. 

Statutory Powers 
 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (“TCPA 1990”) 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (“PCPA 2004”)  

The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (“the Local 
Planning Regulations”) 

 

37

Agenda Item 7



 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Strategic Implications  

1. The decision in this report supports the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Policy 
on trees. The guidance will help meet the objectives in the Council’s Corporate 
Plan (2015 – 2025) to develop green infrastructure and deliver an excellent 
environment for all. It also supports the Council’s commitment to tree planting 
as part of the Climate Change and Environmental Emergency programme and 
has significant positive benefits. 

Introduction 

2. In May 2021, Cabinet approved the publication of the consultation draft Trees 
and Development SPD for public consultation. This SPD provides technical 
guidance on the implementation of Local Plan policy DM1, General Criteria for 
New Development. It will be a material consideration in determining planning 
applications. 

3. The SPD includes key principles about incorporating existing trees, planting 
and establishing new trees and in exceptional cases, the replacement of 
existing trees on site. It collates guidance in one document and sets out how 
and when applicants should engage with the Council. This will help maximise 
the benefits of trees within developments, to deliver a net gain in trees and 
avoid potential conflicts if they are not given full consideration at an early 
stage. 

Consultation on the draft SPD 

4. The document was subject to six weeks public consultation between 9 June 
and 21 July 2021. This was a separate consultation carried out at the same 
time as the Local Plan Main Modifications consultation. Notification of the 
consultation was sent out to people on the Local Plan consultation database 
and who had signed up for email updates.  

5. A total of 22 responses were received during the public consultation period. 
These include comments from individuals, public bodies and councils. In 
addition, the document was discussed at Policy and Performance Scrutiny 
Panel during this time and further internal comments were also received 
during the consultation period. 

6. The Consultation Statement published in Appendix 1 provides details of the 
public consultation and comments received on the consultation draft SPD. It 
sets out the main issues raised and the Council’s response and resultant 
changes proposed to the SPD. 

Responses received and proposed changes 

7. The majority of the comments received were supportive or commented on 
detailed proposals in the SPD. These comments related to technical aspects 
of tree planting such as planting distances away from structures, species 
selection, highways and water management issues and planting to avoid 
crime. Comments were received on policy aspects of appropriate enforcement 

38



 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

and penalties, the use of tree canopy assessments and standards for 
arboriculturists. There were also site specific comments and comments on 
trees with Tree Preservation Orders (TPO) which are not specifically covered 
by the SPD. A small number of responses commented on nuisance from trees 
and questioned the need for further guidance. Some changes are proposed in 
response to these comments, as set out below.   

8. Alternative requirements were suggested including avoiding construction 
within a certain distance of established trees, using only native trees and 
specifying the amount of open land required around the base of new trees. 
The Council is already meeting some of the standards suggested such as the 
distance standard. In other cases such as using only native trees and the 
open land requirement, technical input will be required on a case by case 
basis taking into account multiple factors and it is not possible to include a 
single rule to cover all eventualities. While the emphasis will be on the use of 
native trees, using exclusively native species is not appropriate. This is partly 
because current guidance suggests not relying totally on native species in 
order to spread the risk to our tree population from the many new tree 
diseases spreading across from other parts of Europe and Asia and because 
of climate change. Other comments were submitted on the resources required 
to manage tree issues in the Council. While this may be relevant for the wider 
Tree Strategy, this is beyond the scope of the SPD. No further changes are 
proposed following these comments. 

9. Some of the comments received suggested changes that would make the 
document clearer for the general public such as including common names for 
tree species and adding a glossary. As the SPD is a technical document to 
guide developers and consultants, it was decided that these changes were not 
necessary. 

10. In addition to the comments proposing changes to the document, there were a 
number of wider comments about trees, hedgerows and nature conservation 
and potential implications for not complying with standards which were 
beyond the scope of the document or the powers of the Council. No changes 
were considered in response to these comments.   

Changes to the consultation draft Trees and Development 
SPD 

11. Appendix 2 provides a schedule of the changes made in the final draft version 
of the SPD. They include removing the option for a financial contribution 
instead of replacement trees, redrafting diagrams and minor wording changes 
for clarity. 

12. Changes have been made following the responses received from Hampshire 
County Council as Highways Authority and as Flood Authority. As a result of 
their representations, the following changes were made: 

(a) Changes to Figures 1 – 4 in response to comments by Hampshire 
County Council as Highways Authority and internal comments about 
the wider design aspects shown (as opposed to the layouts with regard 

39



 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

to street trees). Addition of a note to state that the (non-tree related) 
design aspects of these figures are illustrative (paragraph 36.1); 

(b) Expanded text on SuDS features (Sustainable Drainage Systems) 
(paragraph 36.2.2) and about the potential of tree pit design to serve 
multiple purposes including storm water management (paragraph 44.2) 
in response to comments from Hampshire County Council as Flood 
Authority; 

(c) Reference added to Hampshire County Council’s Highways Guidance 
Note 15 ‘Trees, Landscape and Ecology’ (paragraphs 32.2, 11.2 and 
36.7); 

(d) Specific mention of the various aspects development layouts should 
take account of including utilities and sightlines (paragraph 15.3) 

13. Other changes were made as a result of other comments and further 
consideration by officers. These provide more information and clarification on 
the guidance in the SPD: 

(a) More details provided on the information required by the Council and 
on engagement with service providers and specialists (paragraphs 
11.1, 18.2 and 19.2); 

(b) Further clarification on discharging pre-commencement conditions and 
changes to approved plans (paragraphs 26.1 and 30.2) 

(c) Addition of cross references to the tree replacement policy (Appendix 
1) and references to the Biodiversity SPD and Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) SPD; 

(d) Wording changes to clarify the role of trees and the urban forest (Part 
2);  

(e) Additional wording to clarify that the guidance will be considered 
alongside other design guidance (Part 1); 

(f) Addition of text stating that the Council expects that existing trees are 
retained (paragraph 13.4); and   

(g) Reference removed to alternative arrangements for a monetary 
payment for the provision of off-site replacement trees (Appendix 1, 
section 4);  

14. In addition, the Council is proposing updates to reflect recent changes to the 
National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 4.3 and 22.2) and further 
minor wording changes to remove any ambiguity, clarify terms and highlight 
positive actions that can be undertaken.  

15. The final draft SPD (Appendix 3) has been prepared for publication. This 
version includes a contents page and photos and has been designed to reflect 
the Local Plan style. This report requests delegated approval to make minor 

40



 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

changes to the document before its publication. These changes cover minor 
factual, presentational or typographical changes that do not materially affect 
the content of the SPD such as updating images and correcting and updating 
text.     

Next steps  

16. Subject to Cabinet approval, the SPD will be finalised with minor, non-material 
changes as required. The SPD will be formally adopted when the Local Plan 
is adopted, until that time, it will be a material planning consideration with 
more limited weight.  

17. Following the adoption of the SPD, the Council will publish the final version of 
the SPD and an adoption statement as set out in the adopted Statement of 
Community Involvement (2015) and Addendum (2020). In accordance with 
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)(England) Regulations 2012, 
any person with sufficient interest in the decision to adopt this SPD may apply 
to the High Court for permission to apply for judicial review of the decision. 
Any such application must be made promptly and in any event not later than 3 
months after the date on which the Trees and Development SPD was 
adopted. 

Financial Implications 

18. None related to this report. The work to progress this SPD to adoption is 
accounted for in existing budgets.  

Risk Assessment 

19. There are no identified risks relating to this report.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

20. An Equality Impact Assessment was undertaken on the Local Plan and its 
proposed modifications. The SPD provides detailed guidance on a Local Plan 
policy and promotes good practice and has no equality and diversity 
implications. 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

21. The SPD will have positive impacts on climate change and the environment. 
Trees contribute to the environment in a variety of ways and are an important 
element in mitigating the effects of climate change. The guidance will help 
maximise these benefits in new developments.   

Conclusion 

22. Cabinet is asked to approve the adoption of the Trees and Development SPD.  

DAWN HEPPELL 
SENIOR PLANNING OFFICER (LOCAL PLAN) 

41



 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 
Date: 29 November 2021 
Contact Officer: Dawn Heppell  
Tel No:  
e-mail: dawn.heppell@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 3 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

Appendix 1 Consultation Statement  

Appendix 2 Schedule of changes to the consultation draft Trees and Development 
SPD  

Appendix 3 Final draft for Cabinet Trees and Development SPD  

 

42



1 
 

Appendix 1  

Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document 

Draft Consultation statement 

November 2021 

 
Introduction  
 
1. The Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was 

published for six weeks public consultation between 9 June - 21 July 2021. This 
statement details the consultation on this document before and during this 
period. It sets out how it was undertaken and how the main issues raised in the 
consultation were addressed.   

 

2. This statement has been prepared in accordance with regulation 12(a) of the 

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.  

Background on the Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document  

 
3. The Trees and Development SPD provides technical guidance on policy DM1 in 

the emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-2036) which sets the general 
criteria for new development in the borough. The SPD is a new guidance 
document and collates existing guidance in one document. It provides guidance 
on the approach to trees alongside new developments from the initial design of 
the proposal and preapplication discussions through construction and planting to 
the avoidance of future conflicts as trees mature.  

 
4. The SPD is part of a suite of documents setting out the Council’s approach to 

trees. The proposed Tree Strategy will provide the overarching framework 
including the vision for trees in the borough and key principles. The emerging 
Tree Policy sets out the approach to tree management for all trees under the 
Council’s ownership or management. 

 
5. The approach to trees within development sites was discussed at the Policy and 

Performance Scrutiny Panel meeting in September 2020. Since those 
discussions, the Eastleigh Borough Council Environment group has provided 
input over a series of meetings as the draft was developed between September 
2020 and March 2021. The consultation draft was approved by Cabinet on 24 
May 2021.  

Public consultation on the draft SPD  

 
6. The Council published the Trees and Development Supplementary Planning 

Document and the SEA/HRA screening statement for public consultation from 
Wednesday 9 June - Wednesday 21 July 2021.  

 
7. Notification of this consultation was sent to everyone who had signed up to the 

Council’s Local Plan email updates and individuals and organisations on Local 
Plan  consultation database, about 1,800 emails and letters in total. These 
included statutory consultees, residents and developers.  

43



2 
 

 
8. The documents were available online via links on the Council webpage. Paper 

copies of these documents were also available to view at Eastleigh House, other 
Parish/Town Council Offices and libraries in the borough. Alongside the draft 
SPD and SEA/HRA screening statement, the Council produced a guidance note 
for the venue explaining the consultation and printed out hard copies of the 
response form.     

 
9. The Council encouraged people to respond electronically using the consultation 

hub; https://eastleighboroughcouncil.citizenspace.com. A representation form 
was produced and representations were also accepted via email.  

 
10. On 15th July, as part of the formal consultation the SPD was discussed at the 

Council’s Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel. 

Responses received on the draft SPD  

 
11. The Council received a total of 22 responses on the document as a result of the 

public consultation. Of these, 14 were from individuals, 5 from Councillors and 
parish councils and 3 from public or local authorities. All the responses were 
submitted electronically, either through the consultation hub or via email.   

 
12. In addition to responses from the public consultation, the document was 

discussed at the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel and further internal 
comments were received.   

Addressing the main issues raised 

 

Summary of key issue Council response and 
recommended changes 
 

General comments  

 Comments on the importance of trees and their 
roles in mitigating climate change, reducing the 
risk of flooding and making better places to live 

Noted. No change required 

 Support for the protection of trees and concerns 
about the loss of trees on specific sites 

Welcome support. No change 
required 

 Questions about the protection of other habitats 
and hedgerows 

These comments go beyond the 
scope of the Trees and 
Development SPD. No change 
required 

 Need to be clear about the scope of the 
guidance and clarify that it does not provide 
guidance on wider design principles 

Text added to clarify scope of 
document 

Specific guidance and standards  

 Need for clear guidance for developers with 
numerical standards and best practice 
illustrations   

The SPD is a technical document 
setting out detailed policy 
requirements and includes 
illustrations of how trees can be 
designed in the highway 

44

https://eastleighboroughcouncil.citizenspace.com/


3 
 

Summary of key issue Council response and 
recommended changes 
 

 Need to consider existing trees when designing 
new development  

Text added to the section on 
existing trees to specifically state 
that the Council expects existing 
trees are retained.   

 Need to avoid future issues by considering the 
distance to other structures and the 
management of trees 

This is already standard practice 
and the SPD sets out guidance on 
this. No change required 

 Suggestion that pre-emptive felling and site 
clearance should result in the refusal of 
planning permission 

This is beyond the powers of the 
Council. No change required 

 Importance of planting to avoid crime and to not 
obscure or prevent natural surveillance  

Noted. However this is too 
restrictive and too specific. No 
change required 

 Need for cross references to other technical 
guidance  

Agree. References added to 
guidance produced by the Council 
and others including Hampshire 
County Councils 

 Concern that some of the highways design 
principles shown are not supported by the 
County Council and there is conflict between 
the SPD and County Council’s technical 
guidance.   
 

The draft final SPD revises the 
highway layouts shown in Figures 
1-4 and notes that they are 
illustrative layouts for wider design 
aspects  

Implementation of SPD   

 Concern about lack of staff capacity to 
implement the measures in the SPD 

Noted. These comments go beyond 
the scope of the Trees and 
Development SPD. No change 
required 

 Concern about enforcement and the penalties 
when people breach regulations 

Noted. These comments go beyond 
the scope of the Trees and 
Development SPD. No change 
required 
 

 
 
Changes to the draft SPD 
 
13. The changes made in the final draft version of the SPD include removing the 

option for a financial contribution instead of replacement trees, redrafting 
diagrams and minor wording changes for clarity.  
 

14. In response to the detailed comments from Hampshire County Council as 
Highways Authority and as Flood Authority, the following changes were made: 
 

a. Changes to the diagrams Figures 1 – 4 and their titles in response to 
comments by Hampshire County Council as Highways Authority about 
the wider design aspects shown (as opposed to layouts with regard to 

45



4 
 

street trees) and internal comments. Addition of a note to state that the 
design aspects of these figures are illustrative (paragraph 36.1); 

b. Expanded text on SuDS features (Sustainable Drainage Systems) 
(paragraph 36.2.2) and about the potential of tree pit design to serve 
multiple purposes including storm water management (paragraph 44.2) 
in response to comments from Hampshire County Council as Flood 
Authority; 

c. Reference added to Hampshire County Council’s Highways Guidance 
Note 15 ‘Trees, Landscape and Ecology’ (paragraphs 32.2, 11.2 and 
36.7);  

d. Specific mention of the various aspects development layouts should 
take account of including utilities and sightlines (paragraph 15.3) 

15. Other changes were made as a result of other comments and further 
consideration by officers. These provide more information and clarification on 
the guidance in the SPD: 
 

a. More details provided on the information required by the Council and on 
engagement with service providers and specialists (paragraphs 11.1, 
18.2 and 19.2); 

b. Further clarification on discharging pre-commencement conditions and 
changes to approved plans (paragraphs 26.1 and 30.2) 

c. Addition of cross references to the tree replacement policy (Appendix 1) 
and reference to the Biodiversity SPD; 

d. Wording changes to clarify the role of trees and the urban forest (Part 
2);  

e. Additional wording to clarify that the guidance will be considered 
alongside other design guidance (Part 1); 

f. Addition of text stating that the Council expects existing trees are 
retained (paragraph 13.4); and   

g. Reference removed to alternative arrangements for a monetary 
payment for the provision of off-site replacement trees (Appendix 1, 
section 4);  

16. The Council proposed updates to reflect recent changes to the National 
Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 4.3 and 22.2) and further minor wording 
changes to remove any ambiguity, clarify terms and highlight positive actions 
(paragraphs 14.3, 17.1, 19.1, 23.1, 36.2.1-3, 36.3.1, 36.4.1, 40.2, Key points 3 
and 4).   

 
17. The final SPD has been prepared for publication. This version includes a 

contents page and photos were added to add the readability of the document 
and illustrate guidance. It has been designed to reflect the Local Plan style.  

  

46



5 
 

Appendix - Schedule of comments and EBC responses 
 
Number and 
Type 

Comments Summary Specific Relevant Points/Suggestions EBC comment Change 
req.  

Response 1 
 
Public 

Comment on climate change and 
sustainability; Other non-SPD related 
matters, including planning and 
green energy. 
  

1 mature 'native tree to be provided, on 
site or otherwise, for every 'single 
dwelling built in the borough. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No construction within certain distance of 
established trees. To avoid future 
destruction by encroachment and more 
development extensions. 
 
New planting of trees to factor in 30-50 
year growth and spread of roots and 
branches. 
 

The SPD sets out detailed guidance to determine the 
appropriate level and type of tree planting within 
developments and addresses issues such as the 
impact of removing existing trees. This is based on 
diameter of tree removed which may require more 
than one tree as a replacement. Species selection is 
governed by multiple factors and it is problematic to 
use only native trees in light of climate change. 
 
This proposal is already standard guidance. 
 
 
 
 
This proposal is already standard practice. 

No 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No 
 
 
 
 
No 

Response 2 
 
Public 

No requirement for SPD.  My opinion that there is no need for 
further regulations about Trees The 
current situation gives more than 
adequate power to you tree officials… 
 

We believe that an SPD is required to clarify and 
detail the policies in the Local Plan. 

No 

Response 3 
 
Public 
 

Positive, supporting comment.   None. Welcome support No 

Response 4 
 
Public 
 

Positive, supporting comment.  None.  Welcome support No 

Response 5 
 

Comment on nuisance from trees.  No comments relevant to the SPD or its 
scope. 

The SPD provides guidance to ensure that 
development is designed to consider both existing 

No 

47



6 
 

Number and 
Type 

Comments Summary Specific Relevant Points/Suggestions EBC comment Change 
req.  

Public 
 

and new trees and avoid future conflicts.  

Response 6 
 
Public 

Supportive of SPD with comments 
on new tree planting distances to 
structures, management and 
enforcement.  

A 7 metre gap between a medium sized 
tree and the building line represents a lot 
of space on both sides of the road, so I 
can see developers complaining about 
lack of profitability. 
 
trees in urban and suburban places do 
need management so that they don't 
damage structures or overwhelm living 
spaces and windows. There needs to be 
a protocol to allow management without 
lengthy planning applications 
 
there needs to be a system for protecting 
trees and ensuring developers fulfill their 
obligations. 

Noted. Developers are advised to consider trees at 
an early stage and this should be one of the aspects 
considered when determining the capacity of sites.   
 
 
 
The SPD provides guidance to ensure that at the 
planning stage development is designed to consider 
both existing and new trees and avoid future conflicts. 
Issues around the management of Tree Preservation 
Orders are beyond the scope of this SPD.  
 
 
An enforcement system already exists but is resource 
limited. This issue goes beyond the scope of this 
SPD. 

No 
 
 
 
 
 
No 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No 

Response 7 
 
Public 

Supportive of SPD with comments 
on species selection.  

In paragraph 40.2: 
1. Change "consider" to "show evidence 
of selecting". 
2. Change last sentence to "Choices of 
tree species must also demonstrate how 
provenance and biosecurity have 
influenced the souorcing of proposed tree 
stock. 
 

The final SPD has amended the wording and clarified 
this requirement. It now states that ‘major 
development applications must demonstrate how 
provenance and biosecurity have influenced the 
sourcing of proposed tree stock’. 

Yes 

Response 8 
 
Public 
 

Comments on enforcement and 
penalties.  

No comments relevant to the SPD or its 
scope. 
 

An enforcement system exists but is resource limited. 
This issue goes beyond the scope of this SPD. 

No 

Response 9 
 
Public 

Comments on new tree planting 
distances to structures. 

I note that the building line is to be set 5+ 
metres from small trees.  Appendix 3 lists 
such trees to be 6-11 metres in height.  
Some insurance companies will refuse to 
insure buildings that are within 7 metres 

Tree sizes in this document are defined by canopy 
volume not height. There are already huge numbers 
of trees in the UK at or closer than the 7m quoted. It 
is government policy that all streets should have trees 
but also that efficient use should be made of land. 

No 

48



7 
 

Number and 
Type 

Comments Summary Specific Relevant Points/Suggestions EBC comment Change 
req.  

of a tree higher than 3 metres. I suggest, 
therefore, that the 7+ metre building line 
should be regarded as the absolute 
minimum (unless the tree in question is 
containerised and meets the garden 
standard of 2 metres – see para 38.2). 
 

The balance in the SPD is considered correct. 

Response 10 
 
Public 
 

All 3 comments specific to former 
Police Station on Leigh Road  

No comments relevant to the SPD or its 
scope. 
 

- No 

Response 11 
 
Public 

14 comments on biodiversity, 
hedgerows, wildlife corridors, 
habitats, etc. (plus 2 points on 
RPAs). 
 
1 comment on rainwater percolation.  

Item 15 must include a reference to the 
establishment and protection of the Root 
Protection Area as defined by the 
Woodland Trust particularly in regard to 
the design and construction of below 
ground works such as building 
foundations, drainage and road bases - 
see attached link. 
What is a Root Protection Area? - 
Woodland Trust. 
Item 15 must also be more specific on the 
need to provide buffer zones for the 
protection of existing trees and 
hedgerows. 
 
Item 17 must include specific reference to 
the establishment and protection of Root 
Protection Areas as defined by the 
Woodland Trust particularly in regard to 
the design and construction of below 
ground works such as building 
foundations, site drainage, and road 
bases. 
 
Item 43 should include a requirement for 

Root Protection Areas (RPAs) are mentioned 
throughout the document (see section 17) and are 
standard practice. Issues about below ground works 
are addressed in section 18. This SPD does not 
cover hedgerows.  
 
The final version of the SPD adds in a definition of 
RPAs – ‘the minimum area around a tree deemed to 
contain sufficient roots and rooting volume to 
maintain the tree’s viability’.   
 
 
 
 
 
Root Protection Areas (RPAs) are mentioned 
throughout the document (see section 17) and are 
standard practice. Issues about below ground works 
are addressed in section 18.  
 
 
 
 
 
The SPD provides guidance on various aspects of 

No 
 
 
 
 
 
Yes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No 

49



8 
 

Number and 
Type 

Comments Summary Specific Relevant Points/Suggestions EBC comment Change 
req.  

sufficient open land around the base of 
each new tree to allow for rainwater 
absorption required for the root structure. 

successful new tree establishment. This will be 
considered on a site by site basis as this will vary and 
adequate water can be obtained by a tree from a 
smaller area in some circumstances. 
 

Response 12 
 
Public 
 

Positive, supporting comment, with 
additional comments on TPOs.  

No comments relevant to the SPD or its 
scope. 
 

Welcome support No 

Response 13 
 
Public 

Positive, supporting comment. 
 
Comments on hedgerows, 
biodiversity, habitats, etc.  
 
Comments on specific wording of 
policy DM1. 
  
 

Just one other comment it would be 
useful in Appendix 3 & 4 to add the 
common names for the trees listed.  

The SPD provides technical guidance for developers 
and consultants. Common names for the trees are 
interchangeable and not always consistent.  

No 

Response 14 
 
Public 

A positive, supporting comment. 
 
Comments on habitats, wildlife 
corridors, biodiversity, etc. 
 
Comments on weak language and 
other specific word choices.  
 
Comments on specific sites and 
individuals (including an ongoing 
criminal investigation). 
 

[section 7] 
The document does not - at this point - 
require developers / designers to design 
AROUND the EXISTING landscape.  Pre-
existing trees appear to be desirable, but 
essentially disposable element to a plot. 
 
[para 13.1] 
"The benefits derived from a tree are 
generally proportionate to ..." . This is 
good, but there is increasing evidence 
(Merlin Sheldrake - Entangled Life) that 
fungal networks hold a fundamental place 
in habitat health. 
 
[section 14] 
Pre-emptive felling = planning permission 
refused. 

The SPD provides guidance on existing trees before 
considering new trees and the retention of existing 
trees is a central theme. However in order to ensure 
that this is clear, additional text will be included in 
section 13 to state that the Council expects that 
existing trees are retained. 
 
 
Agree, however this SPD focuses on the tree, rather 
than its many symbiotic relationships and therefore 
this is beyond the scope of the guidance.   
 
 
 
 
The Council works within the laws that dictate 
planning and has little recourse in law to do this. 
These suggestions are beyond the scope of the SPD.  

Yes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No 
 

50



9 
 

Number and 
Type 

Comments Summary Specific Relevant Points/Suggestions EBC comment Change 
req.  

 
14.2  Pre-emptive site clearance will 
result in any subsequent planning 
application on the site, or any part of it, 
being rejected. 
 
[section 29] 
If permissions are materially breached, 
permission should be revoked. 
 
[section 30] 
Poisoned tree = post-hoc alteration of 
planning permission absolutely denied. 
 
[Key point 7] 
Species selection for replacements: 
species should be locally native. 
Alternatively, species that are likely to 
migrate naturally northwards into 
Eastleigh as the climate warms.   
Exotics, planted for quick growth but 
suppressive of native vegetation of 
insignificant benefit to wildlife, (e.g. 
elaeagnus) should be strongly 
discouraged. 
 

 
See above 
 
 
 
 
See above 
 

 

See above.  

 
 
Species selection is governed by multiple factors and 
it is problematic to use only native trees in light of 
climate change. Certain species would be 
discouraged, but the appropriate species would be a 
decision for the Landscape Architects. 

 
 
No 
 
 
 
 
No 
 
 
 
 
No 
 
 
No 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Response 15 
 
Hants. 
Constabulary  

Comments on planting to avoid 
crime. Suggested changes and 
additions in relation to crime.   

[section 34] 
We would ask that consideration is given 
to the inclusion of several paragraphs 
relating to the prevention of crime, 
disorder and the fear of crime within the 
SPD; worded as below or with words to 
convey the same meaning: 
“Good natural surveillance is one of the 
attributes of development that reduces 
the opportunities for crime and disorder. A 

Whilst the general thrust of the comments is accepted 
there is far too much detail on this for an SDP about 
trees. It would be inappropriate to include phrases 
such as ‘nor create a place within which a person 
might lie-in-wait unseen.’ As this would completely 
preclude native shrub and tree structure planting 
critical to most major developments for ecological and 
play value. 
 
Overall, it is felt that these suggestions are too 

No 

51



10 
 

Number and 
Type 

Comments Summary Specific Relevant Points/Suggestions EBC comment Change 
req.  

carefully considered soft landscaping 
scheme provides for good natural 
surveillance of the public realm, reducing 
the opportunities for crime and disorder 
and reducing the fear of crime.” 
 
“New features such as and footpaths etc. 
and public open space must be 
positioned so that natural surveillance is 
not obscured / prevented by the retained 
trees and soft landscape.” 
 
“New trees and soft landscaping should 
be positioned so as not to obscure / 
prevent the natural surveillance of the 
(proposed) public realm, nor create a 
place within which a person might lie-in-
wait unseen.” 
 
To highlight the importance of preventing 
crime and disorder, we ask that 
consideration is given to a new “key point” 
relating to the prevention of crime and 
disorder, worded as below or with words 
to convey the same meaning: 
“Applicants must demonstrate that the 
landscape scheme contributes to the 
reduction of crime and disorder and the 
fear of crime.” 
 

restrictive and too specific, being relevant to only 
certain situations. It is felt that post-planting 
management is more appropriate to this issue, such 
as crown lifting once trees become established 

Response 16 
 
Bishopstoke 
Parish 

Comments on issues at existing 
sites; staffing resources and liaison 
between tree officers and planning 
department. 
 
Comments on desire to see canopy 

no mention of aftercare requirements in 
draft SPD 
 
[section 5] 
The “Urban Forest” proposal lacks 
credible detail, bringing into question the 

Disagree, this is addressed in section 46.  
 
 
 
Section 5 provides information on the background for 
trees in the borough. The urban forest is not a new 

No 
 
 
 
No 
 

52



11 
 

Number and 
Type 

Comments Summary Specific Relevant Points/Suggestions EBC comment Change 
req.  

cover assessment.  
 
Comments relating to more cross-
referencing.  
 
 

extent to which it is really a Borough 
commitment. 
Whilst we welcome this initiative in 
principle, as set out this is little more than 
a concept lacking; a spatial plan, funding 
or programme for delivery.  
 
In addition there is no mention whether it 
is the Councils intention to retro plant 
within existing urban/suburban areas and 
how this will be achieved. To demonstrate 
the effectiveness of its strategy we would 
expect the Council to undertake an 
annual canopy survey and report this in 
its Annual Monitoring Report. 
 
Advice for developers should be more 
positive, with clear standards, process 
requirements and technical advice. 
The language needs to be strengthened 
stating clearly the Local Planning 
Authority’s requirements for developers 
with clear numerical standards and best 
practice illustrations. 
• Requirement for Detailed Technical 
Advice which should include:  
o Tree protection measures during 
construction.  
o New planting requirements to achieve 
bio-diversity net gain, where this cannot 
be achieved through tree 
planting/retention alone factor in the other 
measures, e.g. green walls / roofs.  
• Aftercare requirements, advice and 
EBCs regime for enforcement and 
conditions monitoring and discharge.  

proposal but a term for the collection of trees within a 
city, or in this case, a borough.   
 
 
 
 
 
The SPD provides guidance about trees and new 
development. This suggestion is beyond the scope of 
the document.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
The SPD provides guidance on some of these 
elements such as tree protection measures. Where 
guidance is not included, this reflects the inability to 
create a policy that fits all circumstances, such as 
tree pit detail. It is not possible to provide detail for 
every eventuality and these elements will require 
technical input from officers. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

53



12 
 

Number and 
Type 

Comments Summary Specific Relevant Points/Suggestions EBC comment Change 
req.  

• Numerical standards/advice for planting 
distances from buildings, e.g. “Guideline 
distances from Development to Trees” 
Leeds City Council 2011  
• Trees and Sustainable Urban Drainage 
– not just in a highway setting  
• Tree pit detail for planting in urban 
areas, including staking and growing 
material content and volume. Membrane 
requirements for planting in brown field 
and potentially contaminated locations. 
 
Concerns raised are raised about a lack 
of staff capacity to effectively implement 
the tree retention, protection and 
management requirements set out in the 
draft SPD. 
To effectively manage tree issues set out 
within the draft SPD the Eastleigh 
Borough Council requires well trained and 
motivated staff with the capacity to be 
effective. 
 
In addition, as the Council is a major 
player in land acquisition and 
development e.g. urban extension at 
Horton Heath, can it be expected that 
Council Staff will be as rigorous when 
investigating their employers breaches of 
tree protection and protocols? 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Agree, however this is beyond the scope of the SPD 
document. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This SPD applies to all development, whether 
undertaken by the Council or private developers. 
Officers have, and will continue to treat EBC as they 
do other developers.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No 
 

Response 17 
 
HCC as 

Positive, supporting comment.  
 
Supportive of pre-application advice 

[section 10] 
The County Council issued Technical 
Guidance Note 15 ‘Trees, Landscape and 

A link has been added to this guidance (paragraph 
36.7).  
 

Yes 
 
 

54



13 
 

Number and 
Type 

Comments Summary Specific Relevant Points/Suggestions EBC comment Change 
req.  

Highway 
Authority 

and promotion of their own, paid-for 
service.  
 
Comments on specific points, 
especially regarding highways and 
areas that contradict their own 
policies.  
 

Ecology’(TG15) in November 2020. 
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/transport/
TG15-Trees-Landscape-and-Ecology.pdf 
This document provides clarity for 
developers/applicants regarding the 
Highway Authority’s position in 
connection with new and existing street 
tree provision and should be considered 
within the SPD and appended to the 
document. 
 
[section 36] 
In terms of the technical guidance within 
the document there are a number of 
design principles promoted within the 
document which are not currently 
supported by the County Council for the 
purposes of highway adoption, in 
particular the use of permeable kerbs and 
rain gardens as a landscaping feature are 
not considered suitable from a 
maintenance perspective and this 
therefore presents conflict between the 
SPD and the County Council’s technical 
guidance. 
 
More clarity is sought generally from the 
Borough Council regarding the materials 
proposed to ensure these are suitable for 
highway adoption. 
 
Whilst the Highway Authority support the 
boulevard approach suggested, it is 
essential that highway safety is not 
compromised and therefore street trees 
should be designed and planted outside 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A note has been added to paragraph 36 that includes 
the text: ‘The accompanying diagrams set out 
acceptable street layouts in terms of street trees: all 
other design aspects shown are illustrative. Current 
design advice from HCC should always be sought on 
land to be adopted as highway..’ 
 
The SPD continues to refer to rain gardens as 
examples of SuDs. Please note that this guidance 
would also apply to unadopted roads.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The note added to paragraph 36 also includes the 
text ‘Whilst tree cover should be maximised, tree and 
soft landscape planting should be designed with due 
consideration to visibility splays and general highway 
safety’.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Yes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Yes 
 
 
 
 

55



14 
 

Number and 
Type 

Comments Summary Specific Relevant Points/Suggestions EBC comment Change 
req.  

of the required visibility splays based on 
the design speed. 
 
Also, it is also not clear whether the 
figures within the document are for 
illustrative purposes, as currently the 
street layouts would not be supported by 
the Highway Authority and are contrary to 
guidance such as LTN1/20. For example, 
on Figure 2, cycling on carriageway for 
access streets within development sites 
would not be accepted and a segregated 
cycle route would be required for this 
street type. 
It is therefore requested by the local 
Highway Authority that a further review of 
the example street layouts is undertaken 
in order to accommodate not only street 
trees and landscaping features but all 
modes of transport too. This will ensure 
that developers/applicants are aware of 
the requirements to accommodate both 
trees and people and avoid later conflicts 
at the planning stage and ultimately 
proposed highway adoption. 
 

 
 
 
The final SPD has amended the figures to address 
these concerns, for example Figure 2 now shows a 
segregated cycle route. A note has also been added 
to state that these street layouts are illustrative, see 
text above. 
 
Figures 1-4 provide illustrations of appropriate tree 
planting in the highway however the wider street 
layouts are illustrative only. Following these 
comments, the figures have been amended and a 
note added in the text at the end of paragraph 36.1.   
 
 

 
 
 
Yes 
 
 
 
 
 
Yes 

Response 18 
 
HCC as Flood 
Authority 

Comments on potential additional 
wording and detail.  

[section 5]  
Comments as Lead Local Flood Authority 
- The water management benefits of trees 
and tree planting are briefly mentioned in 
paragraph 5.3, though there are very few 
details. The County Council would 
suggest that some more details of the 
water management could be included, 
such as: 
• Evapotranspiration (in the tree canopy 

Section 5 provides a general overview of the benefits 
of trees and is not exhaustive. The Council has 
appointed consultants to produce a SuDS SPD that 
will address these issues. A cross reference to this 
SPD has been added to the document.  
 
 
 
 
 

Yes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

56



15 
 

Number and 
Type 

Comments Summary Specific Relevant Points/Suggestions EBC comment Change 
req.  

section) comparative to canopy size trees 
can significantly reduce the amount of 
rainwater reaching the ground, therefore 
reducing surface water flooding 
• Tree roots draw water from the ground 
reducing groundwater levels and 
therefore reducing risk from groundwater 
flooding during the wet season 
• Tree cover increases infiltration of 
surface water flow and reduces the 
removal of topsoil during floods 
• Trees provide shade and urban cooling 
effects reducing drought during the hot 
season. 
 
In paragraph 44.1 – tree pits, the County 
Council notes that no reference is made 
to attenuating tree pits, which can be 
used in urban environments to increase 
water storage and reduce the risk of 
surface water flooding. The County 
Council would recommend that this 
reference should be made as part of this 
section.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The text in paragraph 44.2 has been amended to add 
in reference to the multiple purposes that tree pits 
can serve such as storm water management.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Yes 
 

Response 19 
 
Fair Oak and 
Horton Heath 
Parish 

Positive, supporting comments. 
 

None.  Welcome support No 

Response 20 
Cllr Dave 
Kinloch  

Comments on enforcement and 
standards for arboriculturists  

Tree protections are not enforced to the 
full extent of the law including potentials 
to fine etc. What if there is a failure to 
replace the trees? What action will be 
taken? 

These comments go beyond the scope of this SPD 
but these issues will be considering in the emerging 
Enforcement SPD. 
 
 

No 
 
 
 
 

57



16 
 

Number and 
Type 

Comments Summary Specific Relevant Points/Suggestions EBC comment Change 
req.  

 
Is there a minimum standard for a 
arboriculturalist that the council would 
accept? Is there a professional body that 
stipulates a minimum level of education 
and expected standards?  

  

 
In terms of education and experience, there is no 
minimum standards. While we are supportive of a 
qualification’s framework and chartership, if the 
information is sound, then qualifications are 
irrelevant.  

 
No 

Response 21 
Cllr Derek 
Pretty 

Supporting comments None Welcome support No 

Response 22 
Cllr Cynthia 
Garton 

Comments on role of trees, proximity 
to buildings and tree mortality 
 
Supporting comments 

A development should be planned around 
the trees, not the other way round. 
 
 
In the section “space for Trees” it 
mentions the proximity of trees to 
buildings, which I believe is very 
important. Buildings should not be placed 
so close to trees that they cause a 
problem further down the line. 
 
The statements in the SPD (on tree 
mortality), but it can only work if those 
statements are enforced with regular 
inspections and site meetings. 
 
Tree lined streets are a brilliant idea, as it 
gives character and makes the area a 
nicer place to live. 
 

Agree. The SPD provides guidance on existing trees 
before considering new trees and the retention of 
existing trees is a central theme. 
 
Welcome support 
 
 
 
 
 
Note comment. Enforcement is beyond the scope of 
the SPD.  
 
 
 
Welcome support 

No 
 
 
 
No 
 
 
 
 
 
No 
 
 
 
 
No 
 

  

58



Appendix 2 Schedule of changes to the consultation draft Trees and Development SPD 

(Additions to the text are shown underlined, deletions are crossed through) 

New para / 
Figure no.  

Change 

1.2  This SPD will be used as a material consideration in the determination of planning applications and, therefore, 
will be considered by Council Officers and Elected Members as part of their assessment of planning applications. It 
will be considered alongside other design guidance such as Design Codes for development areas.  
  

4.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) contains a number of policies where trees are relevant. 
Specifically, paragraphs 170, 171 and 175 relate to trees.  Of particular importance is paragraph 131, which provides 
justification for this SPD. In addition, paragraphs 174, 175 and 180 relate to trees. On a broader note, trees also have 
potential to be relevant with regards to paragraphs 8, 20, 28, 180 and 181.  
 

5.1  Eastleigh’s urban forest – all public and privately-owned trees within the district area Borough of Eastleigh – 
delivers multiple benefits. Traditionally, trees are seen as having a role in the aesthetic of place, helping new 
developments blend into existing areas. While this function is important, the urban forest provides trees provide 
numerous other benefits contributing to the quality of life of Eastleigh’s residents, and to the Borough of Eastleigh as a 
whole.  
   

5.2  Paragraph moved from 5.3 to 5.2 and text added to end of paragraph – ‘The emerging Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) SPD provides further guidance on the implementation of SuDS in the borough’. 
  

5.3  Text moved from paragraph 5.4 to 5.3: 
 The urban forest provides Trees provide habitat and biodiversity, and increased contact between residents and 
wildlife. Health benefits, such as stress relief and mental wellbeing, are provided by the urban forest and an active 
lifestyle associated with recreation amongst trees.  
  

5.4  Text moved from paragraph 5.5 to 5.4: 
 Finally, the urban forest increases trees increase social activity, improves community cohesion, and creates a 

59



New para / 
Figure no.  

Change 

sense of place. The visual nature of trees, through their structure and design, generates positive emotional responses 
and provides aesthetically pleasing urban environments.  
  

5.5  Text moved from paragraph 5.2 to 5.5: 
 In July 2019, Eastleigh Borough the Council declared a Climate Change and Environmental Emergency. This 
recognised the impact of climate crisis on nature and that nature must be a key part of climate mitigation and 
adaptation strategies. One of the actions identified to support this is strengthening the Council’s position on tree 
replacement planting. As part of the Climate and Environmental Emergency programme, the Council has also 
committed to planting 160,000 trees in the borough by 2030 and is creating has created a tree nursery to supply 
locally grown trees.  
  

6.2 The urban forest has Trees have the ability to provide a significant proportion of benefits derived from green 
infrastructure and, thus, the development and maintenance of a healthy urban forest is critical to the sustainability of a 
region’s green infrastructure.  
 

11.1 Applicants must submit the necessary arboricultural and landscape documents as listed within the local validation list 
with an application. Failure to do so may result in non-validation of an application or delays in determination. For 
further advice about what information about the landscape design developers regarding the information applicants 
should submit with a planning application please refer to the Landscape Checklist for New Development in Hampshire 
and the Isle of Wight which is available on the council’s website (Appendix 5) and British Standard 5837:2012, Annex 
B. Eastleigh Borough Council’s Local List for Validation should also be consulted. 
 

11.2 For applications where there will be a visual impact on the landscape, where landscape is proposed (either in 
replacement or additional tree planting), or where trees are either proposed to be removed or could be impacted by 
the development, applicants must supply, as part of the application, a Tree Survey, an Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment, an Arboricultural Method Statement, and landscape design, specification, management and 
maintenance plans. In addition, there may be tree-related ecological documents that are required (please see 
Biodiversity SPD).  
 

60



New para / 
Figure no.  

Change 

13.4 The Council expects that existing trees are retained. Applicants must consider tree retention as a high priority and at 
the earliest point in the design stages. It will be necessary to demonstrate that tree retention has been fully considered 
as part of the planning process.  
 

14.3 If it is obvious the Council considers it is clear that pre-emptive tree removal has occurred, the Council will seek 
suitable replacement trees as part of any planning process, thereafter, as per the Appendix 1 – Tree Replacement 
Policy (Appendix 1). 
 

15.3 Development layouts must be designed to ensure that retained trees are able to grow and mature in the space 
provided, both above and below ground, taking into account utilities, sightlines, lighting, structures and all other 
elements of the scheme. The Council will consider space and post-development pressure when considering 
applications (see also sections 18 and 42).  
 

17.1 Buildings and hard surfacing within the Root Protection Areas (RPA) of trees – the minimum area around a tree 
deemed to contain sufficient roots and rooting volume to maintain the tree’s viability – can damage roots, by 
severance and physical damage or by inhibiting water infiltration and gaseous exchange.  
 

18.2 Applicants should locate all services outside of RPAs to prevent root damage. Dedicated service runs should be 
incorporated within the design and detailed within submitted arboricultural documents. Early engagement with service 
providers is, therefore, essential. Where it has been demonstrated that there is no alternative to services within RPAs, 
any work must be undertaken in accordance with the National Joint Utilities Group recommendations and be 
supervised by a suitably qualified person.  
 

19.1  Trees in, or adjacent to, the highway are highly visible and contribute a proportionally greater level of visual 
amenity to the local area, as well as being better located close to certain sources of pollution, such as vehicle 
generated particulate matter to provide maximum ecosystem service provision. 
 

19.2  The provision of site access, roads and driveways should be placed to minimise the need to remove trees and 
hedges for sightlines. Applicants should not seek the removal of trees as a first step to achieve sightlines. 

61



New para / 
Figure no.  

Change 

Collaborative working with suitable highway specialists, the Local Highways Authority and the Council is 
recommended to avoid unnecessary tree loss. 
  

21 Key point 3. The Council expects applicants to demonstrate that tree retention has been fully considered as part of the 
planning process. Only where there is exceptional justification, as clearly evidenced by applicants, will tree removals 
be considered. In cases where tree removals are unavoidable and considered justified, the Council will expect 
applicants to submit proposals for the addition of new trees, as per the Tree Replacement Policy contained in 
Appendix 1, and a ten-year maintenance plan for their establishment period. 
 

22.2 Ancient and Veteran trees are afforded high levels of protection within planning policy and standing advice. NPPF 
paragraph 175c 180c states that: “development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such as 
ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) should be refused…”.  
 

23.1 Along with individual ancient and veteran trees, trees may occur as a part of larger habitats, such as woodland or 
wood pasture, that may carry other ecological designations or protections. Designations such as Sites of Importance 
for Nature Conservation (SINCs), Priority Habitats and ancient and semi-natural woodland (ASNW), PAWS will require 
additional protection.  
 

24 Key point 4. Proposals which would have adverse impacts or destroy result in the loss of ancient or veteran trees, or 
trees within other ecological designated areas, will not be permitted. The Council consider that tree replacement 
planting to mitigate for proposed tree loss in this instance is not acceptable. 
 

26.1 Planning conditions may be used to secure further or actions post approving the development. Some conditions may 
require the submission of details which at the time of the decision may be difficult to establish when additional 
information must be provided after determination. Commonly this would be in connection with an Arboricultural Method 
Statement and final landscape details, where heads of terms may have been submitted and agreed, but further detail 
is then required pre-commencement.  
 

62



New para / 
Figure no.  

Change 

30.2 No deviation from the approved plans can be made without the written agreement of the Council. Engagement with 
the Council is essential so as to determine the most suitable process. This may be through formal amendment of the 
permission by variation of condition or a non-material minor amendment. Where the tree is additionally protected by a 
Tree Preservation Order (TPO), a TPO application may be required.  
 

32.2 Applicants must provide suitable replacement tree planting for all trees removed in line with the Tree Replacement 
Policy (Appendix 1), regardless of BS 5837 categorisation. Where replacement trees have been agreed, these will be 
in direct compensation for trees removed and will not be double counted for other purposes.  
 

36.1 Added to end of paragraph:  
NOTE: The accompanying diagrams set out acceptable street layouts in terms of street trees: all other design aspects 
shown are illustrative. Current design advice from HCC should always be sought on land to be adopted as highway. 
Whilst tree cover should be maximised, tree and soft landscape planting should be designed with due consideration to 
visibility splays and general highway safety. 
 

36.2.1 Be designed as boulevards able to accommodate large species of trees, preferably utilising semi-mature stock, on 
both sides of the highway at a maximum of 10 metre spacing, preferably utilising semi-mature stock;  
 

36.2.2 Where the route passes through existing or proposed development or significant areas of hard standing be Be flanked 
on both sides of the highway by a minimum of 3 metre soft landscape zone incorporating trees and SuDS features – 
techniques for holistically managing water runoff onsite to reduce the quantity, and increase the quality, of surface 
water that drains into sewers from a development (e.g. rain gardens); and 
 

36.2.3 Delete bullet point 36.2.3.  
Be designed to ensure that new tree planting is not sacrificed to accommodate forward visibility or sightline standards. 
 
 
 
 

63



New para / 
Figure no.  

Change 

Figure 1 Figure 1: Illustration of an acceptable street tree layout on a Strategic Route 
Diagram in consultation draft SPD to be deleted: 
 

 
 
 

64



New para / 
Figure no.  

Change 

Amended diagram to be added: 
 

 
 

36.3.1 Incorporate large trees species (medium sized may be acceptable, depending on the species and the context) using 
preferably semi-mature stock, on either one side of the street, or, on alternate sides at maximum 10 metre spacing, 
using preferably semi-mature stock. Bus routes and access roads with several side streets are, for example, 
significant enough to require large trees; and  

65



New para / 
Figure no.  

Change 

Figure 2 Figure 2: Illustration of an acceptable street tree layout on an Access Street 
Diagram in consultation draft SPD to be deleted: 
 

   

66



New para / 
Figure no.  

Change 

Amended diagram to be added: 
 

 
 
 
 

67



New para / 
Figure no.  

Change 

Figure 3 Figure 3: Illustration of an acceptable street tree layout on a Neighbourhood Street 
Diagram in consultation draft SPD to be deleted: 
 

 

68



New para / 
Figure no.  

Change 

Amended diagram to be added: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

69



New para / 
Figure no.  

Change 

Figure 4 Figure 4: Illustration of an acceptable street tree layout on an Active Travel Corridor 
Diagram in consultation draft SPD to be deleted: 
 

 

70



New para / 
Figure no.  

Change 

Amended diagram to be added: 
 

 
 
 

36.7 New paragraph added: 
The Highways Authority in Eastleigh Borough is Hampshire County Council. Further information on the Highway 
Authority’s position in connection with new and existing street tree provision can be found their Technical Guidance 
Note 15 ‘Trees, Landscape and Ecology’(TG15) and should be considered by applicants.  
 

71



New para / 
Figure no.  

Change 

40.2 Applicants should consider a diverse range of native and appropriate non-native tree species, within their schemes. All 
major development must also include a least one large tree species. Consideration must also be given to Major 
development applications must demonstrate how provenance and biosecurity have influenced the when sourcing of 
proposed tree stock.  
 

44.2 Where additional new trees are to be planted within areas of hard landscape, applicants should use proven, up-to-date 
technical solutions to tree pit design in these areas. These solutions may also serve multiple purposes, such as storm 
water management. For additional new trees the amount of soil volume required for the trees to successfully establish 
and mature should be calculated and justified.  
 

Appendix 
1 

Delete alternative arrangements section: 
4.  Alternative Arrangements 

 
4.1. Where the applicant has demonstrated that the addition of the required tree replacements cannot be 

realistically accommodated on the development site, the Council will consider a monetary payment, as part of 
section 106 agreement, so that the required trees can be planted on land close-by. This trigger will be 
considered on a case-by-case basis. 
 

4.2  In these cases, the Council will expect the applicant to carry out a Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees 
(CAVAT) assessment of the trees proposed for removal. This CAVAT assessment will be considered as part of 
the planning application.  

 
Renumber ‘Notes’ section - 5. 4. Notes and subsequent paragraphs 5.1-5.3 4.1-4.3 
 

 

 

72



Trees and Development 
Supplementary Planning 
Document 
Draft final version for Cabinet  
November 2021

73



Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document2

The Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document 
provides technical guidance for policy DM1 in the Eastleigh Borough 
Local Plan. 

Any queries regarding the document should be sent to:

localplan@eastleigh.gov.uk

Address: Local Plan team, Eastleigh Borough Council, Eastleigh House, 
Upper Market Street, Eastleigh SO50 9YN

www.eastleigh.gov.uk/supplementaryplanningdocuments

74

mailto:localplan%40eastleigh.gov.uk?subject=
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/supplementaryplanningdocuments


November 2021 3

Contents page
PART 1 – Introduction and Background 4
1. Purpose 4
2. Structure of This SPD 4
3. How to Use This document 4
4. Legal and Policy Context 4

PART 2 – The Benefit of Trees and the Urban Forest 6
6. Eastleigh’s Urban Forest within the Context of Green Infrastructure 6
7. The Role of Trees and the Urban Forest in Sustainable Development 3

PART 3 – Guidance and Support for Applicants 7
8. Pre-application Advice 7
9. Specialist Advice 7
10. Guidance 7
11. Local Validation Lists and Information Requirements 7
13. Existing Trees 8
14. Pre-emptive Felling 8
15. Space for Existing Trees 9
16. Seasonal Nuisance and Light 9
17. Buildings and Hard Surfacing within Root Protection Areas 10
18. Underground Services 10
19. Highways and Sightlines 10
22. Ancient and Veteran Trees 11
23. Other Ecological Designations 11
26. Discharging Pre-commencement Conditions 12
27. Other Arboricultural Conditions 12
28. Tree Protection Measures 12
29. Supervision, Monitoring and Reporting 13
30. Changes to Approved Plans 13
32. Replacement Tree Planting 13
34. Landscape Design 14
36. Roads and Streets 14
37. Trees and Car Parking 18
38. Garden Trees 19
40. New Tree Species Selection 19
41. New Tree Size Selection 19
42. Future Conflicts with Utilities, Sightlines and Lighting 20
43. Above Ground Space for New Trees 20
44. Tree Pit Design and Soil Volumes 20
45. Inappropriate Planting Locations 21
46. Planting Practice and Maintenance 21
47. Tree Mortality 21

Appendix 1 – Tree Replacement Policy  22
Appendix 2 – Calculating Tree Canopy Volume 23
Appendix 3 – New Tree Size Exemplar 23
Appendix 4 – List of Fastigiate Trees 24
Appendix 5 – Further Guidance and References 29

75



Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document4

PART 1 – Introduction and Background

1. Purpose
1.1. This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been developed to outline Eastleigh Borough Council’s  

(the Council) approach to trees in relation to development. 

1.2. This SPD will be used as a material consideration in the determination of planning applications and, therefore, will be 
considered by Council Officers and Elected Members as part of their assessment of planning applications. It will be 
considered alongside other design guidance such as Design Codes for development areas.  

1.3. The aim of this SPD is to ensure that trees are fully considered as part of the planning process, so that the multiple 
benefits of trees can be experienced by the Borough of Eastleigh, and by existing and future residents. 

2. Structure of This SPD
2.1. This SPD is divided into three parts: Part 1 introduces the SPD and sets it in context; Part 2 details the benefits of trees 

to the Borough of Eastleigh; and Part 3 provides outline guidance, specific considerations, and expectations, to be 
used by applicants during the planning process.

3. How to Use This document
3.1. This SPD provides additional detail to applicants on relevant planning policies contained within the Local Plan. 

3.2. It is beyond the remit of this SPD to provide a complete, tailored guidance document – it functions to 
provide supplementary guidance, specific to the Borough of Eastleigh, to established industry guidance and 
recommendations commonly used when considering trees and development. 

3.3. Prospective applicants should consider this SPD at the earliest possible point in the design stages. Particular attention 
should be given to the blue ‘KEY POINTS’ that highlight expectations and important specific considerations.

4. Legal and Policy Context
4.1. The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (TCPA) recognises the importance of trees to the environment, public 

amenity, and the planning process. Specifically, section 197 places a duty on the Council, during the planning 
process, to consider the preservation and planting of trees with regards to development.

4.2. Further, the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERCA) places a duty on the Council to consider 
the conservation of biodiversity whilst exercising its functions. 

4.3. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) contains a number of policies where trees are relevant. Of 
particular importance is paragraph 131, which provides justification for this SPD. In addition, paragraphs 174, 175 
and 180 relate to trees. On a broader note, trees also have potential to be relevant with regards to paragraphs 8, 
20, 28, 180 and 181. 

4.4. The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides more details to support the NPPF. The guidance specifically related 
to trees is set out in sections on the ‘Natural Environment’ with covers ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees; 
‘Tree Preservation Orders and trees in conservation areas’; and ‘Air Quality’.

4.5. The principal Development Management policy, DM1 in the Local Plan, states that:

All new development should (as relevant):

a. not have an unacceptable impact on, and where possible should enhance:

i. residential amenities of both new and existing residents; the character and appearance of urban areas, the 

76



November 2021 5

countryside and the coast;

ii. biodiversity (avoiding significant adverse impacts); and

iii. the significance of heritage assets;

b. make efficient use of the site, optimise opportunities to increase density and have regard to potential 
development opportunities on adjoining land;

c. take full and proper account of the context of the site including the character, appearance and land uses of the 
locality or neighbourhood, and be compatible with adjoining uses and be well integrated with these in terms of 
mass, scale, materials, layout, density, design and siting, both in itself and in relation to adjoining buildings, spaces 
and views. Where adjoining development is poor in urban design terms, new development should contribute to 
improving the character of the area; 

d. not involve the loss of or damage to trees, woodlands, hedgerows, ponds, priority 
habitats or other landscape features of value to the character of the area, for appearance 
or biodiversity unless they can be replaced with features of equivalent or enhanced value 
(recognising that some species and habitats may be irreplaceable); 

e. include a landscape scheme covering the design and layout of external space; 

f. protect and enhance public rights of way and National Trails and provide fully connected green 
infrastructure that interlaces the development and connects into the wider network; 

g. provide satisfactory management arrangements for all landscape, green infrastructure 
and biodiversity enhancement; 

h. incorporate provision for people with disabilities and create accessible communities that cater for all; 

i. incorporate design measures to inhibit criminal and anti-social behaviour; 

j. incorporate provision for on-site waste management; and 

k. include provision for public art associated with new large scale development in accordance with the Council’s 
adopted Public Art Strategy.

77



Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document6

PART 2 – The Benefit of Trees and the  
Urban Forest

5. The Benefits of Trees to Eastleigh
5.1. Eastleigh’s urban forest – all public and privately-owned trees within the Borough of Eastleigh – delivers multiple 

benefits. Traditionally, trees are seen as having a role in the aesthetic of place, helping new developments blend into 
existing areas. While this function is important, trees provide numerous other benefits contributing to the quality of life 
of Eastleigh’s residents, and to the Borough of Eastleigh as a whole.

5.2. Trees provide local ecosystem services, such as microclimate regulation, air filtration and water management, which 
equate to quantifiable natural capital (financial value). These services not only improve the lives of residents but are 
a strategic element in mitigating the effects of climate change. The emerging Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
SPD provides further guidance on the implementation of SuDS in the borough.

5.3. Trees provide habitat and biodiversity, and increased contact between residents and wildlife. Health benefits, 
such as stress relief and mental wellbeing, are provided by the urban forest and an active lifestyle associated with 
recreation amongst trees.

5.4. Finally, trees increase social activity, improve community cohesion, and create a sense of place. The visual nature of 
trees, through their structure and design, generates positive emotional responses and provides aesthetically pleasing 
urban environments.

5.5. In July 2019, the Council declared a Climate Change and Environmental Emergency. This recognised the impact of 
climate crisis on nature and that nature must be a key part of climate mitigation and adaptation strategies. One of the 
actions identified to support this is strengthening the Council’s position on tree replacement planting. As part of the 
Climate and Environmental Emergency programme, the Council has also committed to planting 160,000 trees in the 
borough by 2030 and has created a tree nursery to supply locally grown trees.   

6. Eastleigh’s Urban Forest within the Context of Green Infrastructure
6.1. Where Eastleigh’s urban forest interconnects, forming a multifunctional greenspace network, it becomes an intrinsic 

element of the region’s green infrastructure. Planning for green infrastructure within cities, districts and regions is 
increasingly viewed as a requirement within strategic urban development, providing sustainable, resilient, and 
liveable urban areas.

6.2. Trees have the ability to provide a significant proportion of benefits derived from green infrastructure and, thus, 
the development and maintenance of a healthy urban forest is critical to the sustainability of a region’s green 
infrastructure. 

7. The Role of Trees and the Urban Forest in Sustainable Development
7.1. High quality, well designed landscape, which includes existing tree retention and additional new tree planting, 

is fundamental to ensuring that development in the Borough of Eastleigh accesses the multiple benefits of trees. 
Therefore, it is critical that the design of soft landscape elements of new development is given the same level of 
consideration as the design of the structures themselves. 

7.2. Economic, social, and environmental sustainability of a development can be aided by the retention of existing trees 
and the addition of new ones. Trees, along with the benefits discussed above, can make an area more attractive to 
new residents and businesses and increase the appeal of a property to prospective buyers. Trees create a positive 
perception of a place. Trees can improve the environmental performance of buildings by reducing heating and 
cooling costs. 

78



November 2021 7

PART 3 – Guidance and Support for Applicants

Pre-Application Advice, Guidance and Information Requirements
High quality, sustainable development is best achieved when attention to detail is given high priority from the feasibility 
stages, through design and implementation, all the way through to the end of construction and beyond. Quality advice 
and guidance is important for facilitating the application process and avoiding unnecessary delays.

8. Pre-application Advice 
8.1. Pre-application discussion is helpful for identifying planning issues relevant to a specific site and it is more likely that 

existing trees can be successfully incorporated into the design if considered early in the planning process. 

8.2. The Council considers it beneficial to all parties to enter formal pre-application discussions. An indication of the 
nature of the development is useful to assess the possible impact on trees at this stage, but the proposals for the site 
do not have to be fully developed and some flexibility of the layout design is expected. 

8.3. At the pre-application stage it will be beneficial to applicants to have completed a Topographical Survey, a Tree 
Survey, and produced a Tree Constraints Plan. It will also be useful to have ecological and landscape information 
available. This will enable the Council to provide more accurate advice and guidance regarding development 
constraints and landscape opportunities.

9. Specialist Advice 
9.1. Good planning and design are essential in order to achieve high quality, sustainable development. The involvement 

of suitably qualified and experienced expert arboricultural, ecological and landscape design specialists will 
facilitate the planning process for applicants.

9.2. The Council consider it prudent to engage with suitable specialists as early as possible in the feasibility and design 
stages. This will help to ensure that a development achieves the highest level visual and environmental quality.

10. Guidance
10.1. The Council promote the guidance outlined in British Standard 5837:2012 “Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition 

and Construction – Recommendations” (BS 5837). For any aspect not covered within this SPD, the Council suggests 
applicants refers to BS 5837 in the first instance. In addition, there are many other sources available that can help 
to inform and guide potential applicants during the planning process, including, but not limited to, guidance from 
Trees & Design Action Group, the Woodland Trust, the Forestry Commission, Natural England, National Joint Utilities 
Group (NJUG), DEFRA and RIBA (Appendix 5).

10.2. Because of the nature of the sources, set out above, it is expected that updates will become available over the 
lifetime of this SPD. Applicants are expected to be aware of, and work to, any updates of relevant guidance and 
scientific evidence.

11. Local Validation Lists and Information Requirements
11.1. Applicants must submit the necessary arboricultural and landscape documents with an application. Failure to do so 

may result in non-validation of an application or delays in determination. For further advice regarding the information 
applicants should submit with a planning application please refer to the Landscape Checklist for New Development 
in Hampshire and the Isle of Wight (Appendix 5) and British Standard 5837:2012, Annex B. Eastleigh Borough 
Council’s Local List for Validation should also be consulted.

79



Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document8

11.2. For applications where there will be a visual impact on the landscape, where landscape is proposed (either in 
replacement or additional tree planting), or where trees could be impacted by the development, applicants must 
supply, as part of the application, a Tree Survey, an Arboricultural Impact Assessment, an Arboricultural Method 
Statement, and landscape design, specification, management and maintenance plans. In addition, there may be 
tree-related ecological documents that are required (please see Biodiversity SPD).

12. KEY POINT 1
The Council expects that applicants have considered all relevant, up-to-date advice and guidance, and 
sought the service of relevant specialists. In order to facilitate the planning process, the Council expects that 
applicants supply all of the necessary information required to determine an application and provide additional 
information in a timely manner when requested to do so.

Incorporating Existing Trees into Development
In order for relevant policies to be met, careful consideration must be given to trees that are present on a development 
site. Existing trees are valuable assets to an applicant: they provide instant landscape benefits and are already 
contributing to ecosystem services provision and biodiversity.

13. Existing Trees 
13.1. The benefits derived from a tree are generally proportionate to its canopy size and leaf area. Thus, the larger 

the tree, the more effective it is in providing the potential aesthetic, biodiversity value and environmental benefits. 
Retaining and incorporating existing trees within a development will result in greater benefits.

13.2. In addition, retaining and incorporating existing trees within a development means that they are already established. 
This results in a lower mortality rate than is typical for designs relying exclusively on new trees and does not require 
intense and costly post-development management.

13.3. Existing trees have spent their lifetime storing carbon within their biomass, removing it from the atmosphere. If retained 
and incorporated within a development, they will continue to keep this carbon “locked-up” for the duration of their 
lifetime and sequester further carbon dioxide as they grow. Removing trees and providing tree replacements has 
a negative effect on carbon stored and the ability to sequester carbon dioxide, even where significant new tree 
replacements are proposed. The greater the level of tree removal, the greater the impact on the environment. 

13.4. The Council expects that existing trees are retained. Applicants must consider tree retention as a high priority and at 
the earliest point in the design stages. It will be necessary to demonstrate that tree retention has been fully considered 
as part of the planning process.

14. Pre-emptive Felling
14.1. Tree removal and site clearance prior to the planning process can have significant consequences to the ability to 

deliver sustainable development.

14.2. Pre-emptive site clearance works are strongly discouraged and early dialogue with the Council through the pre-
application advice process is recommended. This dialogue can help to ensure that important trees of mixed age 
class are retained within a well-designed layout thereby resolving potential conflicts between trees and development 
at the earliest design stage.

14.3. If the Council considers it is clear that pre-emptive tree removal has occurred, the Council will seek suitable 
replacement trees as part of any planning process, thereafter, as per Appendix 1 – Tree Replacement Policy.

80



November 2021 9

15. Space for Existing Trees
15.1. Retaining and incorporating existing trees into a development requires attention to detail at the design stages to 

ensure that future problems with the spatial and structural relationships between trees and development are avoided, 
and that the full benefits of all trees are accrued over their lifetime.

15.2. Where development occurs too close to trees, problems can occur as the tree grows, increasing the likelihood that 
heavy pruning will be required, or that the tree will need to be removed; both of which outcomes can result in a 
detrimental impact on amenity and the environment.

15.3. Development layouts must be designed to ensure that retained trees are able to grow and mature in the space 
provided, both above and below ground, taking into account utilities, sightlines, lighting, structures and all other 
elements of the scheme. The Council will consider space and post-development pressure when considering 
applications (see also sections 18 and 42).

16. Seasonal Nuisance and Light
16.1. When planted strategically, trees can reduce the demand for heating and cooling buildings and thus can reduce 

their impact on the climate emergency. However, shading and seasonal changes, such as leaf and fruit fall, may 
affect the use of the spaces immediately around the tree and result in post-development pressure to prune or remove 
trees. 

16.2. Tree position in relation to buildings, private gardens and other development must be carefully considered by 
applicants as part of the design stages. A balance must be struck between usable, liveable environment and the 
benefits that trees provide.

81



Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document10

17. Buildings and Hard Surfacing within Root Protection Areas
17.1. Buildings and hard surfacing within the Root Protection Areas (RPA) of trees – the minimum area around a tree 

deemed to contain sufficient roots and rooting volume to maintain the tree’s viability – can damage roots, by 
severance and physical damage or by inhibiting water infiltration and gaseous exchange.

17.2. The Council recommend that all buildings and hard surfacing are located outside of RPAs. Where hard surfacing is 
to be installed within an RPA, applicants will need to demonstrate that this is unavoidable and show how adverse 
effects will be minimised. All areas of hard surfacing within the RPA should be permeable to air and water and utilise 
“no-dig” construction methods.

18. Underground Services 
18.1. Installation and maintenance of underground services, such as power cables, pipelines, drains, soakaways and 

certain types of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), can result in root severance if located near trees. This can 
cause a deterioration in tree health or even structural instability.

18.2. Applicants should locate all services outside of RPAs to prevent root damage. Dedicated service runs should be 
incorporated within the design and detailed within submitted arboricultural documents. Early engagement with 
service providers is, therefore, essential. Where it has been demonstrated that there is no alternative to services within 
RPAs, any work must be undertaken in accordance with the National Joint Utilities Group recommendations and be 
supervised by a suitably qualified person.

19. Highways and Sightlines
19.1. Trees in, or adjacent to, the highway are highly visible and contribute a proportionally greater level of visual amenity 

to the local area, as well as being better located to provide maximum ecosystem service provision.  

19.2. The provision of site access, roads and driveways should be placed to minimise the need to remove trees 
and hedges for sightlines. Applicants should not seek the removal of trees as a first step to achieve sightlines. 
Collaborative working with suitable highway specialists, the Local Highways Authority and the Council is 
recommended to avoid unnecessary tree loss.

20. KEY POINT 2 
The Council will assess planning applications that impact trees from the context of the existing site. Within 
applications, there must be a presumption in favour of retaining existing trees. Any impact on existing trees will 
be considered not just from an amenity point-of-view, but also with regards to the environmental and climate 
emergency.

21. KEY POINT 3
The Council expects applicants to demonstrate that tree retention has been fully considered as part of the 
planning process. Only where there is exceptional justification, as clearly evidenced by applicants, will tree 
removals be considered. In cases where tree removals are unavoidable and considered justified, the Council 
will expect applicants to submit proposals for the addition of new trees, as per the Tree Replacement Policy 
contained in Appendix 1, and a ten-year maintenance plan for their establishment period.

82



November 2021 11

Ancient and Veteran Trees, and Other Ecological Designations
Ancient and veteran trees are irreplaceable. In addition, there may be other ecological designations that affect either 
individual trees or woodlands. In these instances, it is especially important for the applicant’s arboricultural and 
ecological specialists to work closely to provide the best possible outcome for these unique habitats.

22. Ancient and Veteran Trees 
22.1. Ancient and veteran trees are highly valued ecologically and socially. They are, because of their features and/or 

age, rare. Establishing whether a tree is ancient or veteran may involve the assessment of the following characteristics: 
age, size, biodiversity value and historical context. Ancient and veteran trees are considered irreplaceable and are 
especially important from an ecologically perspective due to the range of rare and niche habitats a single tree may 
provide.

22.2. Ancient and Veteran trees are afforded high levels of protection within planning policy and standing advice. NPPF 
paragraph 180c states that: “development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such as 
ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) should be refused…”. 

22.3. Whilst Governmental standing advice states: “a buffer zone around an ancient or veteran tree should be at least 15 
times larger than the diameter of the tree. The buffer zone should be 5m from the edge of the tree’s canopy if that 
area is larger than 15 times the tree’s diameter.”

22.4. Applicants should recognize that ancient and veteran trees require special consideration at the design stages and 
post-development. They must be provided with greater levels of protection during construction. Specialist design 
features to protect the trees and the public may be required and management plans should be specific to the trees 
on that site.

23. Other Ecological Designations
23.1. Along with individual ancient and veteran trees, trees may occur as a part of larger habitats, such as woodland or 

wood pasture, that may carry other ecological designations or protections. Designations such as Sites of Importance 
for Nature Conservation (SINCs), Priority Habitats and ancient and semi-natural woodland (ASNW) will require 
additional protection. 

24. KEY POINT 4
Proposals which would have adverse impacts or result in the loss of ancient or veteran trees, or trees within 
other ecological designated areas, will not be permitted. The Council consider that tree replacement planting 
to mitigate for proposed tree loss in this instance is not acceptable.

25. KEY POINT 5
The Council expects that buffer zones and extended RPAs for ancient and veteran trees, as set out above, 
and for other ecological designations, are a minimum requirement. Applicants will be expected to justify the 
reasons for applying minimum buffers only.

83



Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document12

Pre-commencement, Construction and Tree Protection
During the construction phase of any development, retained trees are susceptible to being damaged. It is, therefore, 
important to ensure they are efficiently managed and protected during the construction of a development to preserve the 
valuable green assets of the site.

26. Discharging Pre-commencement Conditions
26.1. Planning conditions may be used when additional information must be provided after determination. Commonly this 

would be in connection with an Arboricultural Method Statement and final landscape details, where heads of terms 
may have been submitted and agreed, but further detail is then required pre-commencement. 

26.2. It is imperative that applicants discharge all pre-commencement planning conditions including tree related conditions 
prior to construction commencing. Failure to do so may result in enforcement action.

27. Other Arboricultural Conditions
27.1. Conditions may be attached to planning permission where it would otherwise have been necessary to refuse 

planning permission. Commonly applied conditions can include adherence to specific documents and the necessity 
to supervise dictated, arboriculturally sensitive elements of the construction.

27.2. Applicants should consider retaining the services of suitably qualified and experienced specialists in order to oversee 
sensitive arboricultural elements of construction.

28. Tree Protection Measures
28.1. The early provision of robust physical protection of trees during construction is critical to ensuring their successful 

retention. This protection will be conditioned as part of planning consent. Where considered expedient to do so, the 
Council will serve Tree Preservation Orders to give retained trees a level of statutory protection during construction, 
and beyond. 

84



November 2021 13

28.2. Applicants should be aware that the Council will rigorously enforce such Tree Preservation Orders and compliance 
to conditioned documents.

29. Supervision, Monitoring and Reporting
29.1. In circumstances where the approved Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan specifies a need, or 

where specific planning conditions have been imposed, an auditable system of site monitoring and/or supervision of 
works within RPAs must be undertaken by a retained arboricultural specialist. 

29.2. Such monitoring and supervision will usually involve evidencing that compliance is ongoing or prescribed 
procedures have been followed. Because some conditions of planning cannot be discharged without this evidence, 
it is important for applicants to discuss such conditions, and what is expected of them with the Council prior to 
construction commencing. 

30. Changes to Approved Plans
30.1. Trees are living organisms, and it may become necessary to assess the risk of retained trees on site because of a 

change in their condition. 

30.2. No deviation from the approved plans can be made without the written agreement of the Council. Engagement with 
the Council is essential so as to determine the most suitable process. This may be through formal amendment of the 
permission by variation of condition or a non-material minor amendment. Where the tree is additionally protected by 
a Tree Preservation Order (TPO), a TPO application may be required.

31. KEY POINT 6
The Council expects applicants to be conscious and proactive regarding their responsibility in discharging 
pre-commencement conditions and compliance with all other conditions and statutory protection. Where non-
compliance is reported, the Council will not hesitate to robustly investigate and take the necessary action in 
order to protect Eastleigh’s urban forest.

Incorporating New Trees into Development
Soft landscape provision is integral to planning. Where early consideration is given to landscape matters, developments 
tend to have a stronger sense of place and character as well as a feeling of higher quality.

32. Replacement Tree Planting 
32.1. There is a strong presumption in favour of retaining existing trees. Existing trees are already established on site, 

providing ecosystem services, carbon storage and amenity.  However, in exceptional circumstances where tree 
removal has been suitably justified and agreed, appropriate replacement tree planting must be provided in order to 
maintain and expand the urban forest. 

32.2. Applicants must provide suitable replacement tree planting for all trees removed in line with the Tree Replacement 
Policy (Appendix 1), regardless of categorisation. Where replacement trees have been agreed, these will be in 
direct compensation for trees removed and will not be double counted for other purposes. 

85



Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document14

33. KEY POINT 7
There is a strong presumption in favour of retaining existing trees. In cases where tree removals are 
unavoidable and considered justified, the Council will expect applicants to submit proposals for the addition of 
new trees, as per the Tree Replacement Policy contained in Appendix 1, and a ten-year maintenance plan for 
their establishment period.

34. Landscape Design
34.1. High quality landscape design must not be solely focused on tree replacement planting, it must include additional 

trees, other plantings, recreational spaces and public art. In order to give developments a sense of place and 
character, and to provide high quality environments, landscape design must be integral to the planning process.

34.2. Applicants must submit a high-quality landscape scheme, including both trees in replacement for ones lost (where 
applicable) and additional trees, along with other aspects of high-quality landscape design. Refer to Section 11, 
above, for submission details.

35. KEY POINT 8
Applicants must demonstrate they have developed a high-quality landscape scheme as an integral part of the 
development proposal. 

36. Roads and Streets
36.1. Trees have an important, multi-faceted role to play in the design of streetscapes. They help to reduce and slow 

surface water run-off, thus helping to mitigate against localised flooding; they provide shade, which is important 
in large areas of hard surfaces such as streets; and they create habitats and corridors for biodiversity. Trees also 
have an important role to play in slowing vehicle speed by visually narrowing the width of the carriageway. Where 
developments involve new roads, streets, pedestrian or cycle links, tree provision should reflect the street and space 
hierarchy and deliver streets that are tree-lined. In Eastleigh Borough there are five levels of streets and spaces as set 
out below.

 NOTE: The accompanying diagrams set out acceptable street layouts in terms of street trees: all other design 
aspects shown are illustrative. Current design advice from HCC should always be sought on land to be adopted 
as highway. Whilst tree cover should be maximised, tree and soft landscape planting should be designed with due 
consideration to visibility splays and general highway safety.

36.2. Level 1: Strategic Routes. These are strategic links with a high movement function carrying high volumes of vehicles 
including through traffic. However, they also provide important connections for motor traffic between local centres 
and other important nodes and focal points giving them an important place function. Strategic Routes often pass 
through residential and other sensitive areas and also need to cater for cyclists, pedestrians and equestrians. 
Strategic Routes should:

36.2.1. Be designed as boulevards able to accommodate large species of trees on both sides of the highway at a 
maximum of 10 metre spacing, preferably utilising semi-mature stock; and

36.2.2. Where the route passes through existing or proposed development or significant areas of hard standing 
be flanked on both sides of the highway by a minimum of 3 metre soft landscape zone incorporating trees 
and SuDS features – techniques for holistically managing water runoff onsite to reduce the quantity, and 
increase the quality, of surface water that drains into sewers from a development (e.g. rain gardens).

86



November 2021 15

Figure 1: Illustration of an acceptable street tree layout on a Strategic Route.

36.3. Level 2: Access Streets. Access Streets provide the transitional space between Strategic Routes and slower 
Neighbourhood Streets offering access to homes and shops, through family-orientated design, sometimes with bus 
routes. Access Streets should:

36.3.1. Incorporate large trees species (medium sized may be acceptable, depending on the species and 
the context) on either one side of the street, or, on alternate sides at maximum 10 metre spacing, using 
preferably semi-mature stock, Bus routes and access roads with several side streets are, for example, 
significant enough to require large trees; and

36.3.2. Be flanked on both sides of the highway by a minimum of 3 metre soft landscape zone incorporating trees 
and SuDS features, (e.g. rain gardens).

87



Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document16

Figure 2: Illustration of an acceptable street tree layout on an Access Street.

36.4. Level 3: Neighbourhood Streets. These can include Low Traffic Neighbourhoods (LTNs), School Streets 
and Home Zones but must be pedestrian and cycle friendly and family-orientated in design. These streets extend 
the Access Street into the heart of the development parcel and enable direct access to homes and, in some cases, 
schools and other community facilities. Neighbourhood Streets should:

36.4.1. Include one medium sized tree species, every 20 metres within build outs, verges or other communal 
planting areas using preferably 18-20 cm girth or greater stock. In addition, there should also be at least 
one small tree every 10 metres;

36.4.2. Should aspire to delivering a 3 metre plus soft landscape zone incorporating trees and SuDS features, 
(e.g. rain gardens); and

36.4.3. Incorporate medium and large trees and other soft landscape within play areas (LAPs), sitting areas, modal 
filters and other features and points of interest throughout the neighbourhood.

88



November 2021 17

      

Figure 3: Illustration of an acceptable street tree layout on a Neighbourhood Street. 

36.5. Level 4: Active Travel Corridors. These are fully segregated pedestrian and cycle links or, where space is 
heavily constrained, shared use routes incorporating significant Green and Blue Infrastructure. They provide attractive 
and direct motor-vehicle-free pedestrian and cycle links between and through, neighbourhoods. They should also 
be extended to link neighbourhoods to local centres, schools, community facilities, open spaces and other key 
destinations. Active Travel Corridors should:

36.5.1. Include trees and soft landscape to form an integral part of the corridor, with planting designed to 
emphasise the route, supporting legibility and providing shade;

36.5.2. Incorporate SuDS features within the soft landscape design (e.g. rain gardens) as part of the landscape 
and water management strategy; and 

36.5.3. Incorporate trees within play areas, sitting areas and other features along the route that encourage 
sociability and exploration.

   

89



Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document18

 

Figure 4: Illustration of an acceptable street tree layout on an Active Travel Corridor.   

36.6. Level 5: Focal Spaces, Nodes and Public open space. These are features of interest within 
Neighbourhoods, Active Travel Corridors, nodes or more formal squares within local centres and the wider public 
greenspace network. These are places where people can gather, rest, enjoy the view. Trees and soft landscape are 
critical in helping to create a sense of place or drama within these areas, as well as provide shade, places to sit and 
opportunities for socialising. All structural trees are recommended to be planted at semi-mature size.

36.7. The Highways Authority in Eastleigh Borough is Hampshire County Council. Further information on the Highway 
Authority’s position in connection with new and existing street tree provision can be found their Technical Guidance 
Note 15 ‘Trees, Landscape and Ecology’(TG15) and should be considered by applicants. 

37. Trees and Car Parking
37.1. Large areas of car parking severely undermine the quality of residential developments. High quality landscape 

design, utilising new tree planting to enhance areas of hardstanding along with lower level landscaping, can 
improve the visual aesthetics of a residential development, moderate the microclimate (e.g. reduce summer 
temperatures through shading) and provide many other environmental benefits.

37.2. One medium or large sized tree must be planted for every four parking spaces. In car parks with multiple rows of 
cars, or where there is sufficient distance from the nearest buildings, large trees should be used, at a minimum of one 
tree for every six spaces. Runs of perpendicular or angled parking spaces within housing should be broken up by the 
inclusion of one medium tree every four spaces.  

90



November 2021 19

38. Garden Trees 
38.1. Residential gardens provide a key space for trees to deliver local ecosystem services to Borough residents, 

especially habitat, visual, and well-being benefits. Garden trees should be in addition to and not instead of street 
and other public realm trees.

38.2. All residential developments are encouraged to have suitable garden trees, especially within larger gardens. All rear 
garden trees are advised be two metres high, containerised, feathered whips planted within the planting season.

39. KEY POINT 9
Landscape plans must illustrate how trees and soft landscape will enhance all public open space, streetscapes 
and public realm, parking areas and gardens. All streets should include tree planting. The scale of street tree 
planting should be in accord with the relative importance of each street in the movement network. 

40. New Tree Species Selection 
40.1. A changing climate and increases in novel pest and disease occurrences present a severe threat to Eastleigh’s urban 

forest. In order to reduce the negative impact of these threats, it is important that tree species diversity is expanded in 
order to provide greater resilience. In addition, trees deliver ecosystem services in proportion to their size. It follows 
that large tree species are of great importance in new developments (e.g. oak and lime). 

40.2. Applicants should consider a diverse range of native and appropriate non-native tree species, within their schemes. 
All major development must also include a least one large tree species.  Major development applications must 
demonstrate how provenance and biosecurity have influenced the sourcing of proposed tree stock.

40.3. Given that there is considerable energy investment in growing, transporting and planting trees it is more sustainable in 
the long term to plant long-lived trees. When assessing landscape schemes, the Council will give weight to the use of 
longer-lived tree species. Pioneer species, which tend to be short lived, should not form a major part of the planting 
palette. Nevertheless, it is recognised that many small and medium sized species are intrinsically relatively short lived, 
so the Council will adopt a pragmatic approach.

41. New Tree Size Selection
41.1. Reference is made in this document to three general sizes of tree, small, medium and large. This is to give developers 

more guidance and certainty, for example in relation to which sizes of trees will be required in different types of 
street. To identify which category the developer’s preferred tree species fall into, refer to the Trees and Design Action 
Group (TDAG) species guide database (Appendix 5). For the purpose of this SPD, the category of “large” equates 
to both the TDAG categories of “large” and “massive”.

41.2. Where specified trees are not included in the TDAG list, their size category will be defined by the expected canopy 
volume of a mature specimen. Allowance must be made for trees not reaching their theoretical maximum dimensions 
in ideal conditions which will be the case in most circumstances.

41.3. Large trees must have a predicted canopy at maturity equal to, or in excess of 1100 m3; medium 250-1099 m3 and 
small below 250 m3.  The table in Appendix 3 gives an indication of which category some commonly used trees 
fall into. For trees not on this table or in the TDAG species database it is intended that the Council and developer’s 
landscape architects make approximate judgements as to size category. However, when requested, developers of 
major sites will be required to demonstrate proof of canopy volume using the calculation method set out in Appendix 
2 In these circumstances all working must be provided. This will especially apply to trees that are specified in 
significant numbers in streets.

91



Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document20

42. Future Conflicts with Utilities, Sightlines and Lighting
42.1. Conflicts with above and below ground utilities, sightlines and street lighting can result in pressure to prune or remove 

trees in the future, once they have become established and grow larger.

42.2. Landscapes should be designed to ensure that new tree planting has priority, with careful consideration given to 
predicted tree sizes and potential future conflicts. New tree planting will take priority and requests to amend the 
landscape scheme in order to accommodate services are unlikely to be granted.

43. Above Ground Space for New Trees 
43.1. Planting new trees close to buildings, infrastructure and private gardens, may limit their future potential canopy size 

and leaf area either through physical barriers or through pruning requirements.

43.2. There should be adequate space allowed for newly planted trees to reach their full mature height and spread 
without causing nuisance to adjacent buildings and occupants.

43.3. Small trees should be at least five metres, medium sized trees at least seven metres and large trees at least ten metres 
away from main buildings. This excludes small structures such as garages and bin stores.

43.4. Trees with a fastigiate habit will be considered in their own context and with potential variation from these distance 
requirements. A list of fastigiate trees can be found in Appendix 4 – List of Fastigiate Trees. 

44. Tree Pit Design and Soil Volumes 
44.1. Planting trees into hard landscapes, such as pavements or plazas will be required in some circumstances to 

break up large areas of hard surface. However, such planting can present unique challenges with regards to tree 
establishment and thus to maximizing future benefits. Factors relevant to hard landscapes can include soil volume, 
water infiltration, drainage, aeration and soil compaction, along with simultaneously providing structural support for 
hard surfaces.

92



November 2021 21

44.2. Where additional new trees are to be planted within areas of hard landscape, applicants should use proven, up-to-
date technical solutions to tree pit design in these areas. These solutions may also serve multiple purposes, such as 
storm water management. For additional new trees the amount of soil volume required for the trees to successfully 
establish and mature should be calculated and justified. 

45. Inappropriate Planting Locations 
45.1. Inappropriate planting locations can lead to lower growth rates, a higher risk of tree mortality, and potential 

uncontrolled removal or vandalism. In order to increase the chances of a landscape scheme reaching maturity and 
providing the promised benefits, new tree planting locations need to be appropriate.

45.2. Applicants should not plant new trees in locations where they may not reach maturity. Applicants must demonstrate 
that they have mitigated for any identified issues that may curtail the longevity of the trees.

45.3. The Council considers above ground containers generally inappropriate places to plant trees and will not consider 
these trees as replacements for removal of existing trees.

46. Planting Practice and Maintenance 
46.1. Establishment – the period immediately post-planting – is a critical period for new trees. Low growth rates and high 

mortality rates are common within new developments. In order to increase establishment rates and the chances of 
the proposed landscape scheme reaching maturity – providing the promised benefits – post-planting maintenance, 
including watering, is essential.

46.2. Details of instructions for householders regarding their planning liability and maintenance of trees planted in private 
gardens for major developments must also be provided.

47. Tree Mortality
47.1. New tree mortality can result in the development failing to meet its envisioned sense of place and character. In 

addition, significant mortality can hinder the long-term benefits provided by trees because the canopy cover on a 
development site is not maintained. 

47.2. Applicants are advised that planning conditions generally require replacement planting where trees have failed 
to become established within the first ten years. In addition, new tree planting may be subject to legal protection 
through the use of Tree Preservation Orders, where these are deemed appropriate. This places a statutory duty on the 
landowner to replace trees that die. 

47.3. To show new tree planting has been undertaken in accordance with the approved details and plans the applicant 
must submit to the Council a verification document from the landscape consultant confirming the works are 
completed as approved. This shall include confirmation of tree pits, ground preparation and photographs of the trees 
after planting. Without such proof of planting, the developer will have a continued obligation to plant or replace any 
trees in the approved plans. 

48. KEY POINT 10
Applicants must evidence that they have considered all relevant parameters for successful new tree 
establishment. All current and future conflicts should be taken into account in order for all new trees to reach 
maturity. Early consultation with the Council’s Tree, Landscape, Ecology and Urban Design Officers will be 
essential in this regard.

93



Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document22

Appendix 1 – Tree Replacement Policy

1. Background
1.1. There is a strong presumption in favour of retaining existing trees on development sites. Eastleigh Borough Council 

(the Council) expect applicants to demonstrate that tree retention has been fully considered as part of the planning 
process. Any impact on existing trees will be considered not just from an amenity point-of-view, but also with 
regards to the environmental and climate emergency. Only where there is exceptional justification, as evidenced by 
applicants, will tree removals be considered. In these cases, the Council expect applicants to submit proposals for 
the addition of new trees in replacement for those lost. 

2. Tree Replacement Policy
2.1. The Council will use a fixed number system, as developed by Bristol City Council, to secure new trees in replacement 

for proposed tree removals. This will only be acceptable where the Council is satisfied that the applicant has 
demonstrated exception justification for their proposed removal(s).  The number of replacement trees required will 
depend on the stem diameter of the tree proposed for removal. The requirement will apply to A and B category 
trees, category C trees will be replaced on a 1:1 basis. Please refer to Table 1 for requirements. 

Stem Diameter of Tree Proposed for Removal* Number of Replacement Trees Required

150 – 199 mm 1

200 – 299 mm 2

300 – 399 mm 3

400 – 499 mm 4

500 – 599 mm 5

600 – 699 mm 6

700 – 799 mm 7

800 mm + 8

Table 1 – A and B Category Tree Replacement Requirements.

*Measured at 1.5 metres above ground level, as per British Standard 5837:2012 “Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and 
Construction – Recommendations” Annex C.

3. Size of Replacement Trees
3.1. The requirement set out in Table 1 will be delivered using 14-16 cm girth trees. 

4. Notes
4.1. This policy does not apply to ancient or veteran trees (as defined in paragraph 22.1). 

4.2. Where trees are proposed in unsuitable locations, and it is felt that their full potential is unlikely to be met, these trees 
will not be considered as replacements for trees lost. For example, trees proposed in unsuitable positions, rooting 
medium, in containers, or within inaccessible locations (such as enclosed rear gardens) will not be considered under 
this policy.

4.3. This policy will be reviewed annually.

94



November 2021 23

Appendix 2 – Calculating Tree Canopy Volume
1. For trees not in the TDAG species database or listed in Appendix 3 of this SPD the Council may require developers of major 

sites to demonstrate the accuracy of their tree categorisation using the following the following method:

Step 1: Identifying typical canopy dimensions.

Research the predicted canopy dimensions in metres (height and spread) from a minimum of three authoritative sources, 
such as the Royal Horticultural Society, Barcham, Lappen and Lorenz von Ehren. Take a mean from these dimensions. 
Then subtract 3 from the height (to represent a typical clear trunk height); this figure with then be the height of the actual 
canopy, as opposed to the height of the top of the canopy from the ground. Refer to this as ‘h’. Divide the spread of the 
tree by two to give the canopy radius. Refer to this as ‘r’. 

Step 2: Calculate predicted canopy volume. 

Use the following equation: 

Volume = πr²h

‘r’ and ‘h’ refer to radius and height as described in Step 1.

Π = ‘pi’ = 3.142

Worked example for Acer campestre (field maple):

Mean tree height at maturity= 12.5m. Canopy heigh after subtracting 3m to represent notional clear trunk height= 
9.5m. Mean canopy spread at maturity = 8m. Canopy radius therefore = 4m.

Acer campestre canopy volume therefore = 3.142 x 4² x 9.5 = 478 m³

Step 3: Sense check and submit.

Sense check the result using Appendix 3 and then submit to the council as part of the tree planting schedule. 

95



Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document24

Appendix 3 – New Tree Size Exemplar
Tree species Height 

(m)
Spread 

(m)
Approx. canopy 

volume (m³)
Size category;
 large >1100m, 

medium 250-1099m³,
small-below 250m³

Quercus robur 30 20 10,054 Large 

Tilia cordata 27 15 4242 Large

Tilia europaea 30 14 4157 Large

Ginko biloba 26 13 3053 Large

Tillia x euchlora 20 11 1616 Large

Carpinus betulus 18 12 1178 Large

Tilia cordata ‘Greenspire’ 17 10 1100 Large

Corylus colurna 18 8 754 Medium

Alnus cordata 17 8 703 Medium

Quercus robur ‘fastigiata’ 21 7 693 Medium

Acer campestre 12.5 8 478 Medium

Liquidambar styraciflua 15 7 462 Medium

Pyrus chanticleer 14 5.5 261 Medium

Acer campestre ‘Elsrijk’ 11 5.5 190 Small

Magnolia kobus 9.5 5.5 154 Small

Acer griseum 8 6 141 Small

Crataegus Lavallei ‘Carrierei’ 6 8 113 Small

Acer freemanii rubrum ‘Armstrong’ 8 3 57 Small

96



November 2021 25

Appendix 4 – List of Fastigiate Trees
List of trees with small and medium sized volumes, with upright habit. Some large shrubs also included.

Genus Species and cultivar Notes

Acer campestre ‘Elsrijk’

capillopes

freemanii rubrum ‘Armstrong’

griseum

japonicum ‘Aconitifolium’

negundo ‘Flamingo’

negundo ‘Variegatum’

platanoides ‘Cleveland’

platanoides ‘Columnare’

platanoides ‘Columnare Dila’

platanoides ‘Crimson Sentry’

pseudoplatanus ‘Erectum’ Wind resistant

rubrum ‘Columnare’

rubrum ‘Scanlon’ Avoid alkaline soils for good autumn colour

rubrum ‘Schesingeri’ Avoid alkaline soils for a/c

rubrum ‘Sun Valley’ Avoid alkaline soils for a/c

truncatum ‘Pacific sunset’ Tol or heat and drought

Aesculus pavia

pavia ‘Atrosanguinea’

Alnus cordata Tolerant of dry, poor and limy soil exposed sites

glutinosa ‘Laciniata’

incana ‘Laciniata’

Betula pendula ‘Fastigiata’

papyrifera

Pendula ‘Darecarlica’

utilis

utilis ‘Jacquemontii’

Carpinus betulus ‘Fastigiata’ Not in very dry soil

Carpinus betulus ‘Fastigiata Monument’ Not in very dry soil

97



Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document26

Genus Species and cultivar Notes

Carpinus japonica

Cornus alternifolia

controversa Drought sensitive

kousa

kousa ’China Girl’ Larger flowers

kousa ‘Chinensis’ Late a/c until end October

kousa ‘satomi’ Pink

kousa ‘Schmetterling’

nuttallii ‘Eddie’s White Wonder’ Sensitive to heat

Cotoneaster wateri ‘Cornubia’ Semi-evergreen, heat tolerant

Corylus colurna

Crataegus lavallei ‘Carrierei’ Tol of extreme heat and drought. V persistent lvs until Dec

Eucryphia lucida Evergreen

Fagus sylvatica ‘Dawyck’ green

sylvatica ‘Dawyck Gold’

sylvatica ‘Dawyck Purple’

sylvatica ‘Purple fountain’

Garrya ellyptica Evergreen

Ginko biloba ‘Fastigata Blagon’

biloba ‘Princeton Sentry’

Hippophae rhamnoides Tol poor and dry soil Heat tolerant

Hoheria angustifolia Evergreen

Ilex aquifolium ‘Pyramidalis’ Evergreen

‘J.C.Van Tol’ Evergreen

Juniperus communis ‘Hibernica’, ‘Meyer’ of ‘Suecica’ Variable habit, -can be spreading evergreen

Keolreuteria paniculata Heat tolerant

paniculata ‘Fastigiata’

Laburnum wateri ‘Vossi’

Liquidamber styraciflua

styraciflua ‘Lane Roberts’

styraciflua ‘Paarl’ Lappen cultivar

Liriodendron tulipifera ‘Fastigiatum’ Calcifuge

98



November 2021 27

Genus Species and cultivar Notes

Magnolia ‘Galaxy’

kobus

loebneri ‘Merrill’

Malus ‘Mokum’

‘Profusion’ Red flowers

‘Professor Sprenger’

‘Red Jewel’

‘Red Sentinal’

‘Rudolph’ Red flowers

trilobata White flowers

tschonoskii

‘White Star’

‘van Eseltine’ Pink fl 

Picea omorika Widely dist in Europe before ice age. Needs uncompacted 
light soil ph5.5 or less

Pinus nigra pyramidata Evergreen

nigra pyramidalis Evergreen

Pinus parviflora Evergreen

Photinia davidiana

Platanus acerifolia ‘Tremonia’

Prunus avium

avium ‘Pena’

maackii ‘Amber Beauty’

padus ‘Tiefurt’ V few fruit

sargentii ‘Rancho’

serrulata ‘Amanogawa’

serrulata ‘Pink Perfection’

serrulata ‘Royal Burgundy’

hilleri ‘Spire’(Hillier’s cultivar)

subhirtella ‘Fukubane’

‘umineko’

Pyrus calleryana ‘Chanticleer’

99



Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document28

Genus Species and cultivar Notes

Pyrus communis ‘beech hill’ Calcicole, wind resistant

Quercus palustris

robur ‘Fastigiata’

robur ‘Fastigiata Dila’

robur ‘Fastigiata koster’

Sophora japonica ‘Columnaris’ Heat tolerant

Sorbus arnoldiana ‘Red tip’

josikaea

aucuparia ‘Sheerwater Seedling’

commixta

thuringiaca ‘Fastigiata’

Tamerix parviflora Tolerant of dry soil

Taxus baccata ‘Fastigiata’ Evergreen

Taxus baccata ‘Fastigiata Aureomarginata’ Evergreen

Taxus baccata ‘Fastigiata Robusta’ Evergreen

Taxus media ‘Hicksii’ Evergreen Profuse berries

Tillia cordata ‘Rancho’ Few aphids and drought tolerant

cordata ‘Greenspire’

Ulmus ‘Columella’

‘Lobel’                           

‘Regal’

Viburnum bodnantense ‘Dawn’

lanata Drought tol, but prefers calcareous soil

opulus ‘roseum’

rhytidophyllum Evergreen, tolerates heat

Zelkova serrata

100



November 2021 29

Appendix 5 – Further Guidance and References
Landscape Checklist for New Development in Hampshire and the Isle of Wight (2006)  
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2441/landscape-checklist.pdf 

Trees & Design Action Group (TDAG)  
https://www.tdag.org.uk/resources.html  

Woodland Trust  
https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/   

Forestry Commission  
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/forestry-commission  

Natural England 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/natural-england  

Streetworks (Formerly the National Joint Utilities Group, NJUG)  
http://streetworks.org.uk/resources/publications/  

DEFRA 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-environment-food-rural-affairs  

RIBA 
https://www.architecture.com  

Government Standard Advice on ancient woodland, ancient trees and veteran trees 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf  

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance  

BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction: Recommendations – ISBN 978 0 580 69917 7  
Published by BSI Standards Limited 2012

101

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2441/landscape-checklist.pdf
https://www.tdag.org.uk/resources.html
https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/forestry-commission
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/natural-england
http://streetworks.org.uk/resources/publications/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-environment-food-rural-affairs
https://www.architecture.com
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET  

Thursday, 9 December 2021  

BIODIVERSITY STRATEGY 2022-2032 

Report of the Head of Environment  

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that  Cabinet approve the draft Biodiversity Strategy 2022-2032 
to go out to public consultation, with the amended final document to be brought 
back to Cabinet for adoption after the consultation period. 
 

Summary 
 
The draft Biodiversity Strategy for Eastleigh Borough Council is presented for public 
consultation following comments received from the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel 
on 17 June 2021. 

The strategy highlights the key issues facing biodiversity, why biodiversity is important, 
and presents a framework for delivery. 

Documents pertaining to the framework of delivery will be reported to Cabinet separately 
at a future meeting, as will the outcomes of this consultation, in due course. 
 

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 2 Local Government Act 2000 (Power of Wellbeing) 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The draft Biodiversity Strategy will contribute to creating a Green Borough by 
contributing to an Excellent Environment for All, developing our Green 
Infrastructure and by improving Wellbeing through enhancement and access 
to nature. 

Introduction 

2. This report accompanies the draft Biodiversity Strategy for Eastleigh Borough 
Council – “Securing our Natural Environment” – which is presented in 
Appendix One. The draft Biodiversity Strategy sets out a ten-year approach to 
biodiversity by including:  

103

Agenda Item 8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 A broad description of the current state of knowledge on local biodiversity 
and identifying national, regional and local trends e.g. on habitat loss and 
deterioration, species population declines and Natural Capital/Ecosystem 
Services; 

 A review of National Government and local Eastleigh Borough Council 
strategies, policies and priorities e.g. climate change, Environment Act, A 
Green Future: Our 25 Year Environment Plan etc; 

 A review of the critical factors that need to be addressed based on above 
analysis; and 

 A list of key aims and objectives for biodiversity conservation with 
measurable targets for delivery. 

A previous version of the draft Biodiversity Strategy was taken to Policy 
and Performance Scrutiny Panel on 17 June 2021. The Panel noted the 
report and provided feedback and comments on the general scope, 
directions and implications so it can be developed prior to future adoption. 
The updated draft Biodiversity Strategy is considered within this report.   

Strategy Structure 

3. “Securing our Natural Environment” is intended to be the most accessible 
element for residents of the overall biodiversity strategy. It provides 
background and context, explains why nature is important and highlights the 
known pressures affecting our biodiversity.  

4. The second half of the strategy introduces the main policy drivers and core 
principles and targets that we will need to adopt and how we will deliver them 
through the production of a new, revised Biodiversity Action Plan and Local 
Nature Recovery Strategy and new or revised Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPDs) for Biodiversity and Sustainable Drainage Systems. 

5. The policy documents required to support the draft Biodiversity Strategy as 
identified in paragraph 5 above have been taken as outline documents to 
Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel on 18 November 2021. Following 
input and comment from the Panel these documents will be developed and 
brought to Cabinet prior to consultation in early 2022. 

Financial Implications 

6.  There are no financial implications for this document at this stage, although 
taking this forward to adoption in a timely fashion assumes that the current 
ecology staffing resource remains the same. The wider strategy (i.e. further 
detailed documents) will identify financial implications as they are developed, 
and these will be presented as required for comment.  

Risk Assessment 

7. The overall Biodiversity Strategy (including this document) assumes that the 
obligations for biodiversity, as set out in the Environment Act, remain 
unamended before enacted. 

104



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

8. The strategy also assumes that nature recovery within the Borough will 
continue to be a corporate priority and part of the response to the Climate 
Change and Environmental Emergency declaration.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

9. We anticipate that the Equality Act is relevant to the Strategy and a full EqIA 
will be developed and presented to Cabinet following consultation and prior to 
adoption.  

 

10. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

The draft Biodiversity Strategy is part of the Council’s response to the Climate 
Change and Environmental Emergency declaration. The core principles and 
delivery mechanisms detailed within the draft Biodiversity Strategy will build 
climate resilience for biodiversity by creating more, better, joined up habitat 
which will have multiple associated benefits for climate amelioration (e.g. 
increased carbon storage through planting and habitat creation as well as 
through the safeguard of existing priority habitats). 

 

 

Conclusion 

11. “Securing our Natural Environment” is intended to set the framework for 
biodiversity recovery in Eastleigh primarily through the development of a 
revised Biodiversity Action Plan and Supplementary Planning Documents for 
biodiversity and drainage. It is also intended to put the biodiversity crisis into 
context and highlight why recovery is necessary.  

 

 
 

PAUL HOWE 
ECOLOGIST 

 
Date: 18 November 2021 
Contact Officer: Paul Howe 
Tel No: 07824354397 
e-mail: paul.howe@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: Appendix One – Biodiversity Strategy 2022-2032 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 

105



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

 None. 
 

106



 

1 
 

 

 

 

Eastleigh Borough Council Biodiversity Strategy 2022-2032 

 

 

 

 

.. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

107



 

2 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This strategy sets out our approach for the protection, maintenance and 

enhancement of biodiversity and the natural environment in the borough from 2022-

2032. It reflects the aims and obligations in legislation and in national, regional and 

Eastleigh BC or Local policy and provides the framework for delivery of a diverse 

natural environment and greener future for the borough. This Strategy forms part of 

the Council’s response to the Climate Change and Environmental Emergency.    

 

108



 

3 
 

 

Contents 
  

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................ 4 

1. Introduction – The current Eastleigh biodiversity resource ......................................................... 6 

1.1 A brief overview of the borough............................................................................................ 6 

1.2 Designated sites ..................................................................................................................... 7 

1.3 Biodiversity in Urban areas .................................................................................................... 8 

1.4 Recent Trends ......................................................................................................................... 8 

1.5 Eastleigh Countryside sites .................................................................................................... 9 

2. Understanding the value of nature – why is biodiversity important? ....................................... 12 

2.1 Nature is the foundation of our mental and physical health ............................................. 12 

2.2 Natural Capital – further benefits of our natural resource ................................................. 12 

3 The Climate Change and Environmental Emergency ....................................................................... 13 

3.1 National recognition of the situation ........................................................................................ 13 

3.2 The national biodiversity picture ............................................................................................... 13 

3.3 The picture locally ...................................................................................................................... 14 

4 What are the factors affecting biodiversity? ............................................................................... 15 

4.1 Urbanisation and associated impacts .................................................................................. 15 

4.2 Increased agricultural intensity and inappropriate management...................................... 15 

4.3 Pollution ..................................................................................................................................... 15 

4.4 Impacts of climate change ......................................................................................................... 16 

4.4 Invasive non-native species (INNS) ............................................................................................ 18 

5 Policy, Strategies and Plans ......................................................................................................... 21 

5.1 The bigger picture – Lawton and Beyond ............................................................................ 21 

5.2 The local view ....................................................................................................................... 21 

5.3 Regional approach – the Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH) .................................... 22 

6 Key biodiversity principles and mechanisms for strategy delivery for Eastleigh ....................... 22 

6.1 Biodiversity strategy core principles ................................................................................... 22 

7 Associated Strategy Delivery Documents .................................................................................... 25 

7.1 Delivery document detail ..................................................................................................... 26 

7.2 Resourcing .................................................................................................................................. 27 

 

 

 

109



 

4 
 

Executive Summary 
 

This over-arching strategy addresses the issues facing biodiversity in the borough and provides a 

framework for the delivery of a new Biodiversity Action Plan and Local Nature Recovery Strategy 

and new Supplementary Planning Document to achieve a greener, more ecologically diverse 

borough for the future.  Delivery of the strategy will help protect, maintain, and increase our 

diverse habitats and arrest the decline of species loss locally. We will also seek to extend and 

enhance habitats and create new ones where possible. This will not only benefit biodiversity - It 

will also have huge benefits for our residents by contributing to improved health and wellbeing 

through enhanced access to nature and natural green spaces. 

As part of this strategy, we will: 

• Create a minimum of 50 hectares of new habitat and restore a minimum 50 hectares of 

existing habitat in priority areas. 

• Plant 160,000 trees across the borough by 2030, planting the right species and maturity 

of tree in the right place to ensure maximum ecological benefit. 

• Seek to protect and improve existing designated nature conservation sites and increase 

the number of Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation by 10%. 

• Take specific, measurable action aiming to halt or reverse the decline of key species so 

that fewer species are in decline or vulnerable.  

• Ensure all relevant development meets the required biodiversity obligations of a 

minimum of 10% biodiversity net gain enshrined in the Environment Act.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

110



 

5 
 

 

 

   River Itchen at Bishopstoke  

111



 

6 
 

1. Introduction – The current Eastleigh biodiversity resource 

1.1 A brief overview of the borough 

Eastleigh borough supports a broad range of important habitats and associated species across its 8000 

hectares. The Itchen and Hamble rivers and their tributary streams and associated wet grassland are 

defining of much of the borough. Additionally, there are many areas of woodland, lowland grassland, 

pockets of heathland, arable farmland and hedgerows and lakes and ponds. The borough also has a 

short section of coastline from Hamble point to Netley and an estuary in the River Hamble.   

A more detailed picture of the ecological characteristics of the borough can be gained by looking at 

the relative amounts of “Priority Habitats” present (Table 1). These habitats were identified as part of 

the original UK Biodiversity Action Plan (UKBAP) and are regarded as those being the most threatened 

and requiring targeted conservation effort.  

Table 1. Priority Habitat extent in Eastleigh 

Priority Habitat Type Area in Eastleigh (ha) % of Eastleigh Area  
Grassland 

Lowland Dry Acid Grassland 1 0.01 

Lowland Meadows 33 0.39 

Purple Moor Grass and Rush 
Pasture 

32 0.38 

Heathlands 

Lowland Heathland 16 0.19 

Woodland, Wood Pasture and Parkland 

Lowland beech and yew 
woodland 

1 0.01 

Lowland mixed deciduous 
woodland 

519 6.09 

Wet woodland 156 1.83 

Wood pasture and parkland 2 0.02 

Arable, orchards and hedgerows 

Hedgerows (mapped in length 
km) 

301 n/a 

Traditional orchard 0.3 0.00 

Open water 

Standing water 
(comprehensive data not 

available) 
0.1 0.00 

Rivers (incomplete data, 
measured in km) 

24 n/a 

Wetlands 

Coastal and floodplain grazing 
marsh 

322 3.78 

Reedbeds 9.3 0.11 

Coastal 

Saltmarsh 29 0.34 

Coastal sand dune 0.1 0.00 

Vegetated shingle 3.4 0.04 

112



 

7 
 

Mudflats 136         1.59 

                       Total =                                                 1260                                                   15.75  

 

The mosaic of woodland and floodplain grassland associated predominantly with the River Itchen in 

the more rural parts of the borough is reflected in these figures. The extensive mudflats associated 

with the Hamble estuary also stand out from these figures.  

1.2 Designated sites 

Approximately 73% of the Priority Habitats in Eastleigh are within sites which have some level of legal 

or policy protection through a formal nature conservation designation. The protection of habitats and 

their associated species is based on a tiered geographic system consisting of Internationally important 

sites, nationally important sites and locally (generally at a county scale) important sites. Table 2 

provides an overview of these sites in the borough.  

Table 2. Designated nature conservation sites in Eastleigh 

Designated site Type 
Number in 

Eastleigh 

Area in Eastleigh 

(ha) 
% of borough 

Internationally Important 

Ramsar 1 184 2.16 

Special Areas of 
Conservation (SAC) 

2 296 3.47 

Special Protection Area 
(SPA) 

1 184 2.16 

Nationally Important 

Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI) 

5 427 5.01 

Locally Important 

Local Nature Reserve 
(LNR) 

7 242 2.84 

Sites of Importance for 
Nature Conservation 

(SINC) 

150 821 9.63 

*note that some designations overlap in geographical area 

 

More detail about the protected sites in the borough and how they are treated within the planning 

system can be found in the Eastleigh Biodiversity Supplementary Planning Document.  The 

internationally designated sites are associated with the coastal/estuarine environment and the River 

Itchen corridor. Nationally important sites underpin these internationally important sites but also 

include an area of grassland at Moorgreen in West End. These sites (including Local Nature Reserves) 

113

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2392/biodiversity.pdf


 

8 
 

are mapped on Defra’s Magic website1. An overview of the locations of nationally import sites is 

provided in appendix one. 

Details (e.g. the reasons for the site being designated) of individual Sites of Importance for Nature 

Conservation (SINCs) can be obtained from HBIC2. The locations of SINCs can also be viewed online 

through Eastleigh’s interactive mapping.  An overview of the locations of locally import sites is 

provided in appendix two. 

1.3 Biodiversity in Urban areas 

A large proportion of Eastleigh Borough could be regarded as being suburban in nature and there are 

the three major urban areas of Eastleigh, Chandler’s Ford and Hedge End. In addition, there are a 

number of other sizeable settlements including Bishopstoke, Fair Oak, Horton Heath, West End, 

Burseldon, Botley, Hamble and Netley. It is important that the biodiversity value and opportunities 

in these built-up areas is included within this strategy.  

We know that in some cases urban areas can have a higher species richness of bees than the more 

rural areas surrounding them3, partly due to the increased nectar sources provided by gardens, parks 

and allotments. Pollinators are by no means the only species that thrive in the urban environment and 

benefit from positive biodiversity action. Eastleigh’s gardens, allotments and parks are also home to a 

thriving population of slow-worms, colonies of swifts breed in the towns, bats roost in the Borough’s 

dwellings and in more recent years otters move up and down our urban water courses.  

1.4 Recent Trends 

Using the most relevant information available from annual monitoring reports produced by HBIC, we 

can compare a broad overview of the status of designated sites and important habitats at the 

beginning of the previous BAP (2012) to the most recent available (2019/20) (Table 3). 

Habitats tend to change relatively slowly, and this is reflected in the modest changes that have 

occurred over the period of the previous BAP. A small amount of priority habitat has been lost, but of 

the remaining habitat more is protected within the boundaries of designated sites. The increase in the 

number of SINCs over the period of the last BAP is reflective of the continued partnership work 

between the council and HBIC who monitor and designate these sites.  

Of concern is the apparent decline in condition of some areas of SSSI within the borough, with an 

increase in habitat now being categorised as being in “unfavourable” condition. A priority of this 

 
1 https://magic.defra.gov.uk/MagicMap.aspx 
2 https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/biodiversity/informationcentre/sincs 
3 https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-020-14496-6 

114

https://emaps.eastleigh.gov.uk/webmaps/Map.aspx?MapName=WebMaps
https://magic.defra.gov.uk/MagicMap.aspx
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/biodiversity/informationcentre/sincs
https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-020-14496-6


 

9 
 

strategy must be to facilitate and influence where possible a recovery of SSSI in the borough towards 

more favourable condition. 

Table 3. Baseline habitat comparison for Eastleigh 2013 to 2020 

Indicator 
Monitoring 

Point 
Value 

Implication for 
biodiversity 
(Loss, gain or no 

change) 
Total Amount of 
Priority Habitat 

(ha) 

March 2013 1264 
Loss 

March 2020 1260 

Percentage of 
Priority Habitat 

within 
designated sites 

March 2013 71 

Gain 
March 2020 73 

Number of 
Statutorily 

designated sites 

March 2013 15 
Gain 

March 2020 16 

Percentage of 
SSSI habitat in 

favourable 
condition 

March 2013 46.9 

Loss 
March 2020 46.2 

Percentage of 
SSSI habitat in 
unfavourable 

recovering 
condition 

March 2013 45.5 

Loss 

March 2020 33.9 

Percentage of 
SSSI habitat in 
unfavourable 

condition 

March 2013 6.9 
Loss 

March 2020 19.7 

Number of Sites 
of Importance for 

Nature 
Conservation 

(SINCs) 

March 2013 142 

Gain 

March 2020 150 

 
 

 

1.5 Eastleigh Countryside sites 

Eastleigh owns and manages a wealth of open spaces across the borough Two of the largest sites – 

Itchen Valley and Lakeside Country Parks – contain a diverse variety of different habitats including 

part of the Itchen Valley Special Area of Conservation, ancient woodland, flower-rich meadows and 

open water. Hamble Common in the far south of the borough has large areas of lowland heath and 

coastal fringe habitats. Combined with the many other areas of open green space managed by the 

115



 

10 
 

council, these already provide a wealth of biodiversity and additional environmental benefits to the 

borough.  

116



 

11 
 

More details on individual countryside sites can be found here.  

Countryside Sites Case Study 

Ashtrim Nursery SINC is located south of the Bishopstoke Road and is 

sandwiched between the Itchen Navigation on the eastern side and the 

Barton River on the west, both of which are channels of the River Itchen SAC. 

During the autumn of 2009 a habitat creation project took place on the site 

which involved creating a slow-moving ditch meandering through Ashtrim. 

Water is transferred from the Itchen Navigation via a sluice into Ashtrim and 

then back into the Navigation. The ditch was created in order to form new 

habitat for southern damselflies which are a component species of the SAC.  

Since the commencement of the last BAP in 2012 the site has developed in 

terms of its ecological function and diversity. Positive management by 

Eastleigh’s Countryside Service including grazing, scrub management and 

ditch clearance has ensured that the site has become an important ecological 

feature in the Itchen water meadows complex.  

The site now supports a medium strength population of southern 

damselflies, and - combined with another population located to the west of 

the recreation ground north of Bishopstoke Road – is now strategically 

important in linking together the important populations at Highbridge in the 

north and Allington Manor Farm/Itchen Valley Country Park in the south.  

The wider site supports grassland with a diverse structure and blocks of scrub 

that provide a range of micro-habitats for invertebrates and reptiles. The site 

is designated as a SINC due to the presence of relic areas of unimproved 

grassland which are developing across the site.  

 

117

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/parks-leisure-and-culture/country-parks-and-open-spaces


 

12 
 

2. Understanding the value of nature – why is biodiversity important? 

2.1 Nature is the foundation of our mental and physical health 

There is growing evidence of the positive impact on health and wellbeing that contact with the natural 

world has4. This research has shown that spending at least 120 minutes per week in contact with 

nature is associated with good overall health. Seeing and interacting with nature as part of our exercise 

regimes or recreation not only improves our physical health but it also benefits our mental health.  

This was recognised in the 2011 Government White Paper “The natural choice: Securing the Value of 

Nature”5 which states: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.2 Natural Capital – further benefits of our natural resource 

“Natural Capital” is a way of putting an economic value on the “goods and services” that 

nature provides:   

• Pollination (mostly animal assisted i.e. done by bees rather than by wind) 

• Biomass (The organic material from plants and animals, such as crops and waste from food 

crops, animal farming and waste from sewage plants) 

• Water purification (the removal of pollutants and suspended solids)  

• Flood prevention (by wetlands, coastal habitats and other natural systems) 

• Carbon sequestration (storing carbon in “reservoirs” rather than in the atmosphere) 

• Temperature regulation in urban environments (particularly through tree canopy cover) 

• Visual and sound amelioration (such as vegetative screening of roads) 

 
4 https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-019-44097-3 
5 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/228842/8082.pdf 

“Our ambition is to strengthen the 

connections between people and nature. We 

want more people to enjoy the benefits of 

nature by giving them freedom to connect 

with it. Everyone should have fair access to a 

good-quality natural environment”.  

118

https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-019-44097-3
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/228842/8082.pdf


 

13 
 

 

The 2020 National Capital assessment for the UK6 reports that: 

• In 2018, the asset value of the aspects of UK natural capital we can currently value was 

estimated to be £921 billion. 

• Living near publicly accessible green and blue spaces added £3,146 to the average property 

price. 

• Over 5 billion nature-related visits within the UK were made in 2018, amounting to 10 billion 

hours. 

 

3 The Climate Change and Environmental Emergency 
 

3.1 National recognition of the situation 

In June 2019, Eastleigh Borough Council declared a climate change and environmental emergency. In 

addition to setting out the council’s priorities for carbon neutrality, the motion also recognised the 

crisis facing the borough’s natural environment and the wildlife which depends upon it.  

3.2 The national biodiversity picture 

In 2019 the “State of Nature”7 report for the UK documented the sweeping changes in our natural 

environment  

over the last 50 years: 

• 41% of species have decreased in abundance versus 26% which have increased 

• More species have decreased in distribution (27%) than have increased (21%) 

• 53% of species are now showing a strong change in abundance (either up or down) indicating 

an increasing rate of rapid change 

• 15% of the 8,431 species assessed in the report are in danger of extinction nationally and 2% 

are already lost 

 

 
6 https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/bulletins/uknaturalcapitalaccounts/2020 
7 https://nbn.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/State-of-Nature-2019-UK-full-report.pdf 

119

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/bulletins/uknaturalcapitalaccounts/2020
https://nbn.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/State-of-Nature-2019-UK-full-report.pdf


 

14 
 

3.3 The picture locally 

The Hampshire Biodiversity Information Centre (HBIC) monitors the population and distribution of 50 

notable species in Hampshire over a rolling ten-year period8 (currently 2007-17).  

The monitoring shows that the last decade has seen declines in population of several of the county’s 

notable species. Of those thought to be “stable” in terms of distribution, many are maintaining a level 

that was already considered to be making them vulnerable. The number of species showing a decline 

has increased from 35% to 48%.  

Twenty Six of those 50 species are found in Eastleigh and 12 (46%) are in decline. Of the remaining 

species, eight (30%) are regarded as being stable but six of those are likely to be at a vulnerable status 

and two are “fluctuating”. Only four species (Dartford warbler [does not breed in the Borough at 

present], Silver-washed fritillary butterfly and the button snout and festoon moths) are increasing. 

We also know that across Hampshire many farmland birds are in serious decline9, with species such 

as tree sparrow and yellow wagtail being effectively extinct as breeding species in the county. Even 

widespread and perceived “abundant” are in decline, with breeding starlings down 19% since the late 

80’s. This monitoring provides a snapshot sample of what may be happening across many species in 

Eastleigh – a large proportion are likely to be in decline and need positive action to arrest these losses.  

While many species have suffered, there are key success stories in the Borough over the last BAP 

period. For Example, we know from transect monitoring by Butterfly Conservation10 in the Borough 

that grassland species such as brown argus, marbled white and common blue have all increased since 

2010. White-letter hairstreak, which is a Hampshire priority species, has also increased. This species 

can often be found in urban areas and the larvae will feed on cultivars of elm planted in urban 

landscaping schemes. Colonies are now known from Eastleigh, Stoneham, Lakeside, West End, Hedge 

End and Netley.  

Southern damselflies are a primary designating species for the River Itchen SAC and their numbers 

have been monitored by the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust (HIWWT) on the water 

meadows at Itchen Valley since 200611.  Following a decline from 2006 to 2016, numbers have been 

increasing steadily in the period 2017 to 2020 which is excellent news for this charismatic and rare 

 
8 https://documents.hants.gov.uk/biodiversity/HBICAnnualBiodiversityMonitoringReport2018-19.pdf 
9 https://documents.hants.gov.uk/hampshire2050/StateofNaturalEnvironmentReport.pdf 
10 https://butterfly-conservation.org/in-your-area/surrey-and-sw-london-branch/transects-wcbs 
11 Rushbrook B and Selby T. (2021) Southern damselfly monitoring study: Itchen Valley Country Park – 2020 
report. Arcadian Ecology & Consulting Ltd, Curdridge. 

120

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/biodiversity/HBICAnnualBiodiversityMonitoringReport2018-19.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/hampshire2050/StateofNaturalEnvironmentReport.pdf
https://butterfly-conservation.org/in-your-area/surrey-and-sw-london-branch/transects-wcbs


 

15 
 

species. It also highlights the impacts of good management on the water meadows and need for this 

to continue. 

4 What are the factors affecting biodiversity? 
 

4.1 Urbanisation and associated impacts 

Housing, industrial development and associated infrastructure (i.e. roads, services) can impact on 

biodiversity in a number of ways. There can be direct loss of habitat through inappropriately located 

development, increased fragmentation of important habitats making ecological connectivity more 

difficult and increased population can lead to increased recreational disturbance of important habitats 

and species if not appropriately mitigated. The Council has a strong record of insisting on mitigation 

of harm from development and as part of this Strategy will update the Biodiversity Supplementary 

Planning Document to take account of the Climate Change and Environment Emergency, and national 

legislation which will require development to provide a net gain in biodiversity of 10%. 

 

4.2 Increased agricultural intensity and inappropriate management 

. We now know that farming practices over recent decades have had the single largest impact on the 

UK's wildlife. The great majority of that impact has been negative, which is a by-product of changes in 

farming to make it more efficient.  

More recently agri-environment schemes have aimed to try and reverse or slow some of the 

biodiversity loss by paying farmers to employ wildlife friendly measures such as creating flower rich 

field margins, beetle banks, replanting hedgerows and protecting important habitat features. 

However, there is still much work to be done.   

Inappropriate management of habitats that is detrimental to biodiversity may not necessarily be 

directly through agriculture. In many cases under-management of sites can also reduce the quality of 

habitats, such as a lack of woodland management or under-grazing of species rich grassland leading 

to a loss of structural and species diversity. Over extraction of water to serve the population can also 

lead to negative impacts on both the riverine environment and associated habitats such as floodplains 

which rely on periodic inundations of floodwater.   

4.3 Pollution 

Although negative impacts from pollutants are reducing, it is still a factor in wildlife decline. There are 

a wide range of pollutants from a variety of sources which can impact upon wildlife, but perhaps the 

121



 

16 
 

most significant now (and locally) is the presence of excess nutrients (phosphate and compounds of 

nitrogen) in both water and air.  

Across the south Hampshire region – including Eastleigh – the issue of high levels of nutrients entering 

the water environment is having a detrimental effect on the internationally important wildlife sites 

that comprise the Solent coastal environment. The primary of sources for these nutrients are from 

agriculture and wastewater from housing or other development. The increase of nutrients into the 

estuarine and coastal environment encourages a process called “eutrophication”, which leads to 

excess growth of algae that can smother mudflats, starving it of oxygen and reducing the food 

available for other species, particularly wading birds.  

The Council is fully engaged with various agencies such as Natural England and the Environment 

Agency on a programme of mitigating harmful effects from nitrates and phosphates, enabling 

sustainable development and provision of much needed new homes to continue. Land used to offset 

nutrient inputs could also be used to deliver additional environmental enhancement projects, 

delivering multiple benefits.  

 

4.4 Impacts of climate change 

Average UK temperature has increased by 1oC since 1980 causing huge and observable impacts on 

nature in both land and sea. Recent work by Natural England12 has looked at priority habitats in the 

context of their potential vulnerability to climate change and how they may respond to future 

warming. The priority habitat types described in section 3.1 have been categorised has being of 

high(H) medium (M) or low (L) sensitivity. Those habitats in the high and medium categories are more 

likely to be affected in future climate scenarios.  Figure 1 shows the proportion of Eastleigh borough’s 

Priority Habitats in the High (2%), Medium (56%) and Low (42%) categories 

 

 

 
12 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5679197848862720 

122

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5679197848862720


 

17 
 

 

 

Over half of the priority habitat in the borough has a raised level of climate sensitivity, indicating that 

there is some resilience, but we are likely to see changes in the future as the climate warms. One of 

the most vulnerable habitats is saltmarsh which occupies a very narrow space between the marine 

and terrestrial environments. They are susceptible to sea level rise and increased storm events and 

also the human response to these factors (i.e. building sea defences) – a process called “coastal 

squeeze”.  

Important saltmarsh can be found in the Borough in pockets along the River Hamble, including 

Hamble Common, Hackett’s Marsh and along much of the tideline in the Upper Hamble above the 

A27 road. There is currently research being undertaken on the Hamble to test the feasibility of 

creating more saltmarsh habitat and detailed work has being carried out looking at the wider potential 

in the Hamble Estuary13. Saltmarsh is extremely important and supports many unique species of plant, 

acts as a nursery area for juvenile fish and feeding areas for birds and is also extremely beneficial for 

sequestering and storing carbon. 

Coastal and floodplain grazing marsh – of which Eastleigh supports a substantial amount – is 

characterised by periodic inundation of water.  This means that is likely to be impacted by predicted 

changes to rainfall patterns and fluctuating periods of flooding and drought. The majority of this 

 
13 https://documents.hants.gov.uk/Hamble/RiverHambleSaltmarshandSoftSedimentHabitatRetentionFeasibilityStudy2016.pdf 

2%

56%

42%

Figure 1. Priority habitat sensitivity to climate 

change in Eastleigh 

High Medium Low

123

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/Hamble/RiverHambleSaltmarshandSoftSedimentHabitatRetentionFeasibilityStudy2016.pdf


 

18 
 

habitat is found along the Itchen Valley from the M27 north through Bishopstoke, although other 

pockets can be found elsewhere. 

Likewise, wet woodland spends much of the year in waterlogged conditions and although the tree 

species themselves may be reasonably resilient, the habitat will respond depending on future rainfall 

patterns. Wet woodland is found in patches throughout the Borough and is characterised by willow, 

alder, birch and rushy grasses. A significant proportion of Itchen Valley Country Park is classified as 

wet woodland.  

The vast majority of the “low sensitivity” habitat is made up of the borough’s lowland woodland. 

However, while the habitat itself is considered to be resilient a predicted increase in the frequency 

and severity of summer drought may impact some woodlands more than others depending on the 

underlying soil type. There may also be shifts in the distribution of certain tree species, changing the 

characteristics of lowland woodland blocks.   

4.4 Invasive non-native species (INNS) 

Non-native species can enter the local environment in a number of ways: through trade (e.g. on goods 

or plants); through accidental introductions/escapes; and deliberate release into the wild.  

INNS can impact on existing biodiversity in a number of ways: they may compete with native species 

for resources (e.g. space, breeding places); they may actively feed on native species; they can bring 

disease which native species are unable to tolerate; and they could breed or hybridise with native 

species damaging the unique identity and even leading to local or regional extinction.  

There are a number of known INNS within Eastleigh, some of the better known include Himalayan 

balsam, Japanese knotweed, mink, grey squirrels, terrapins and signal crayfish. Ring-necked parakeets 

– which are now abundant in parts of Surrey and South London – also appear to be a recent coloniser 

in the Eastleigh area.  

Control of INNS is feasible for some, but less so for others (e.g. grey squirrels and signal crayfish). For 

some species control is difficult or unrealistic due to their numbers and widespread distributions.  

124



 

19 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Himalyan balsam control 

Himalayan balsam is one the UK’s most invasive plants – and 

its spread has been rapid, colonising riverbanks, damp 

woodlands, road and railway corridors and scrub land since 

it first appeared in 1839. It has an annual life cycle and grows 

rapidly to head height, out-competing native plants for 

space, pollinators and nutrients. The overall effect is a 

reduction in biodiversity of the habitats it colonises. 

Eastleigh Borough Council has been involved in an extensive 

balsam eradication and control program over the last decade 

in the Itchen Catchment, with a particular focus on the 

Monks Brook and its tributaries.  External funding has now 

allowed this program to extend out to the Itchen in 

partnership with other organisations. 

 

125



 

20 
 

The Eastleigh response 

 

               Protect  

          Reverse declines & restore 

   Extend & expand 

                            Manage, maintain & monitor 

                                 Educate & engage 

 

 

  Diverse Grassland at Lakeside County Park 

126



 

21 
 

5 Policy, Strategies and Plans 

5.1 The bigger picture – Lawton and Beyond 

In the Lawton Report in 201014 stated that we need more sites that benefit wildlife, existing sites need 

to be bigger, they need to be better managed and we need to join sites together via habitat creation 

initiatives. This simple formula is summarised as more, bigger, better and joined up.  

The government’s more recent 25-year environment plan15 is informed by the underlying principles 

identified by Lawton. The Environment Act (2021) will effectively bring into law the commitments to 

environmental recovery made in the 25 Year Environment Plan and the documents that preceded it. 

The government has now committed to a new legal requirement that new development must result 

in a minimum of a measurable 10% net gain in biodiversity. This is a major shift in national policy, and 

it will be incumbent on local authorities to ensure that this is delivered in a way that maximises the 

opportunities for biodiversity.   

While the Environment Act now enshrines biodiversity net gain in law, the principle is already 

embedded in the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and the associated Natural Environment 

Guidance Note.  

5.2 The local view 

In line with the pressures identified in section 4 of this report, Eastleigh’s new Local Plan for 2016-

203616 recognises that development in the borough could impact the borough’s biodiversity through 

direct impact, additional recreational pressure, pollution, and habitat fragmentation. The plan 

provides revised nature conservation policy linked to the following Local Plan objectives: 

• Developing Green Infrastructure: providing green links between open spaces and providing 

and protecting a linked habitat network. 

• Maintaining the identity of towns and villages: protecting gaps between settlements. 

• Protecting and enhancing biodiversity: Ensure protection and enhancement of designated 

and priority habitats within the Borough and endeavour to create a cross boundary landscape 

scale habitat network. 

 
14 Lawton, J.H., Brotherton, P.N.M., Brown, V.K., Elphick, C., Fitter, A.H., Forshaw, J., Haddow, R.W., Hilborne, S., Leafe, R.N., Mace, G.M., 

Southgate, M.P., Sutherland, W.J., Tew, T.E., Varley, J., & Wynne, G.R. (2010) Making Space for Nature: a review of England’s wildlife sites 
and ecological network. Report to Defra 
15 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/25-year-
environment-plan.pdf 
16 https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/3484/final-local-plan-document-june-2018-print.pdf 

127

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/25-year-environment-plan.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/25-year-environment-plan.pdf
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/3484/final-local-plan-document-june-2018-print.pdf


 

22 
 

5.3 Regional approach – the Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH) 

Through the work of PfSH a number of environmental strategies and aims have been developed 

including a Green Infrastructure strategy and is also aiming to develop a strategic mitigation strategy 

for achieving nutrient neutrality. 

A summary of relevant policies, strategies and plans that that our own biodiversity strategy will 

align with can be found in Appendix 3.   

 

6 Key biodiversity principles and mechanisms for strategy delivery 

for Eastleigh 
 

6.1 Biodiversity strategy core principles 

Five key principles have been identified that will underpin this overarching strategy and the delivery 

documents associated with it. Within each principle there are actions which can be undertaken to 

ensure that the principles result in measurable gains for biodiversity in the Borough.   

These five principles are: 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

            

           

To protect biodiversity we will:   

• Undertake an audit of Eastleigh owned sites to establish present baseline conditions 

and existing habitat value.  

• Set out clear ecology guidance and expectations for applicants and planners to 

protect habitats and species. 

• Continue to work with HBIC to protect the existing resource and increase the 

number of SINCs in the Borough by 10% by the end of this strategy period. 

• Undertake a Carbon Storage baseline assessment of the existing habitats in the 

Borough to understand their contribution. 

 

 

 

1. Protect 

128



 

23 
 

            

            

                 

To reverse species declines and restore biodiversity we will:   

• Begin restoration of a minimum of 50 hectares of habitat in the Borough’s priority 

areas and links by the end of this strategy. 

• Ensure that relevant planning applications deliver a minimum of 10% biodiversity 

net gain and contribute to restoring habitats within the mitigation hierarchy. 

• Work with Local Area teams, other council services and Parish Councils to support 

biodiversity restoration projects. 

• Improve the condition of our SSSIs  

• Provide the resource to apply for Government Environmental Land Management 

Grant Schemes on EBC land. 

• Identify and undertake specific projects to restore populations of key species in the 

Borough. 

• Use the planning system to maximise species restoration opportunities (e.g swift 

bricks, bat bricks)  

            

            

            

                  

Taking Lawton’s “More, bigger, & better joined up”, we will:   

• Create a minimum of 50 hectares of new habitat in the Borough’s priority areas and 

links by the end of this strategy. 

• Ensure that relevant planning applications deliver a minimum of 10% biodiversity 

net gain and contribute to creating the right habitats in the right place where 

necessary. 

• Plant 160,000 trees in the Borough by 2030 in line with principles developed in the 

Eastleigh Tree Strategy 

            

            

            

            

2. Reverse and Restore 

3. Extend and Expand 

129



 

24 
 

            

            

                

To ensure our sites are managed and maintained effectively and progress is monitored we will: 

• Secure appropriate management plans for sites (EBC assets and third-party sites 

where relevant) to ensure maximum biodiversity benefit. 

• Work closely with other EBC services to maximise the biodiversity of benefits from 

our maintenance programs. 

• Continue to support and lead work in the Borough (and wider river catchments) 

controlling INNS. 

• Report annually on progress against ALL TARGETS set in this document and the 

associated delivery documents. 

             

 

 

To ensure that all our residents benefit from the Borough’s natural resource we will: 

• Involve our residents in shaping our priorities and projects through consultation and 

the opportunity to suggest specific schemes. 

• Encourage our residents to partake in recording and reporting biodiversity in the 

Borough. 

• Continue to involve residents in conservation volunteering tasks in the borough. 

• Ensure fair access to nature for all our residents. 

• Educate residents and visitors about accessing nature in a sensitive way that does 

not compromise the wildlife value. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Manage, maintain and monitor 

 

5. Educate and engage 

 

130



 

25 
 

7 Associated Strategy Delivery Documents 
 

The detailed key principles and obligations identified in section six of this overarching strategy are 

proposed to be delivered by new and revised plans and documents as shown below (Figure 3). 

 

 

                                      Figure 3. Biodiversity Strategy policy schematic 

 

 

131



 

26 
 

7.1 Delivery document detail 

To deliver the Eastleigh biodiversity strategy, three individual delivery documents (but not be limited 

to17) will be produced in early 2022. They are:  

1). Revised Biodiversity Action Plan and Local Nature Recovery Strategy 

• A ten-year action plan 2022-32 

• Sets priorities and targets for delivery - it is the backbone of biodiversity conservation in the 

borough and will be the benchmark to measure the success of this strategy. 

• Nature recovery element will build on the priority areas and links already identified in the 

previous BAP. 

• Sets the priorities for restoration, habitat creation and species -specific intervention within 

each of these areas. 

• “Action plan” will focus on engagement, education, management and monitoring.  

• Actions also linked to EBC’s CCEE Action Plan.  

 

 

 

 

2). Revised Biodiversity Supplementary Planning document 

The revised and updated SPD will encompass the following: 

• Expands on Draft Local Plan Policy DM11 (Nature Conservation) and DM1 (General Criteria 

for New Development) 

• Replaces existing 2009 biodiversity SPD 

• Sets out detailed expectations with regards to biodiversity for planning applications 

• Provides technical details about EBC biodiversity net gain, use of metric and compensation 

framework for offsite habitat provision 

• Is complimentary to other documents/strategies e.g. BAP 

 

Depending on the need for other documents and after further consultation, the SPD may also 

contain more detail in other areas (i.e. SANGs provision, recreational disturbance mitigation 

frameworks, Nutrient Neutrality). 

 

 

 
17 As work on the BAP and SPD develops it may be necessary to produce additional documents or other pieces 
of work to support this 

Addresses Core Principles 1 to 5 

Addresses Core Principles 1 to 4 

132



 

27 
 

3). Sustainable Drainage Systems Supplementary Planning Document 

• Expands on draft Local Plan Policy DM6, Sustainable surface water management and 

watercourse management and Strategic policy S1, Delivering sustainable development 

• Will provide detailed technical guidance on the design and construction of SUDS 

• Will set standards for the submission of planning applications and supporting information on 

SUDS to ensure that flood risk and water quality is fully considered 

 

 

 

 

 

7.2 Resourcing  

 

The Council has grown the Ecology team in recent years to reflect the need for strong controls on 

development and management of our ecological assets.  A number of other teams help to deliver 

biodiversity outcomes. These include (but are not limited to): 

• Countryside 

• Country Parks 

• Urban And Landscape Design 

• Tree officer 

• Development Management 

• Streetscene 

 

A large proportion of the Council’s ecology work is carried out as projects funded by developer 

contributions or external grant funds.  Therefore much of the action to deliver this strategy is 

dependent on external funds. The Council has been successful in accessing external grant funding and 

will continue to invest time in securing funds to deliver more biodiversity benefits. 

 

 

 

Addresses Core Principles 1 to 4 

133



 

28 
 

Appendix One.  

Nationally important designated nature conservation sites in Eastleigh 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

134



 

29 
 

Appendix Two.  

Locally important designated nature conservation sites in Eastleigh 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

135



 

30 
 

Appendix Three.  

Relevant plans, policies and strategies  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

136



 

31 
 

Policy/strategy/Plan Source 
Implications and/or desired 
outcomes 

National 

National Planning Policy 
Framework 2021 

Government 
(MHCLG) 

1). Planning policies and decisions should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and 
local environment   
2). Safeguard existing and enhance ecological 
networks  
3). Protect hierarchy of designated sites  
4). pursue opportunities for measurable net 
gain  
5). Refuse planning permission if significant 
harm cannot be avoided esp. SSSIs  
6). damage to irreplaceable habitats only in 
exceptional circumstances  
7). development to protect or enhance 
biodiversity should be facilitated  
8). potential and proposed SPAs etc given 
same level of protection as existing 
 

Environment Act (2021) 
HM 
Government 

1). England only - Amends the Town and 
Countryside Planning Act  
2). Mandates the creation of Local Nature 
Recovery Strategies  
3). Mandates a minimum 10% biodiversity net 
gain requirement on new development based 
on use of the DEFRA Biodiversity Metric 3.0; 
net gain delivered on-site, locally off-site or 
via biodiversity credits following mitigation 
hierarchy; creation of BNG register for off-site 
land; Nationally Significant Infrastructure 
Projects (NSIP) or Marine are out of scope of 
the mandatory requirements in the Bill.  
4). The introduction of a new Species 
Conservation Strategy to safeguard the future 
of particular species at greatest risk.  This 
builds on the process developed for the 
District Level Licences (DLL) an approach 
taken for great crested newts. 
 5). Section 40 of the Natural Environment 
and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC) 
places a duty on public bodies to have regard 
to the purpose of conserving biodiversity. The 
Environment Act will strengthen the duty for 
public authorities ‘to further’ the 
conservation and enhancement of 
biodiversity.’ This policy also has an 
expectation on public authorities to look 
strategically at their policies and operations 
from time to time (at least every 5 years). 

137



 

32 
 

6). The introduction of Conservation 
covenants as recommended by the Law 
Commission to help leave the environment in 
a better condition for future generations. 
 

A Green Future: Our 25 Year 
Plan to improve the 
Environment (2018) 

HM 
Government 

Sets targets for:  
•reversing the loss of marine biodiversity and, 
where practicable, restoring it 
•increasing the proportion of protected and 
well-managed seas, and better managing 
existing protected sites 
•making sure populations of key species are 
sustainable with appropriate age structures 
•ensuring seafloor habitats are productive 
and sufficiently extensive to support healthy, 
sustainable ecosystems 
On land and in freshwaters, this will be done 
by: 
•restoring 75% of our one million hectares of 
terrestrial and freshwater protected sites to 
favourable condition, securing their wildlife 
value for the long term 
•creating or restoring 500,000 hectares of 
wildlife-rich habitat outside the protected site 
network, focusing on priority habitats as part 
of a wider set of land management changes 
providing extensive benefits 
•taking action to recover threatened, iconic 
or economically important species of animals, 
plants and fungi, and where possible to 
prevent human induced extinction or loss of 
known threatened species in England and the 
Overseas Territories 
•increasing woodland in England in line with 
our aspiration of 12% cover by 2060: this 
would involve planting 180,000 hectares by 
end of 2042 
Much of the scope will be implemented 
through the Environment Act 
 

Biodiversity 2020: A strategy 
for England's Wildlife and 
ecosystem services 2011 

Defra 

1). Introduces a more integrated, large-scale 
approach to conservation: establish coherent 
ecological network; targeted action for 
recovery of priority species; maintain genetic 
diversity in agriculture.  
2).  Putting people at the heart of biodiversity 
policy: working with nature partnerships to 
engage; better publicity and public 
awareness; new and innovative funding 
mechanisms.   

138



 

33 
 

3). Reducing environmental pressure: 
improve deliverability of environmental 
outcomes from agriculture; reform CAP; more 
sustainable forestry. 
4) more strategic approach through planning. 
test biodiversity offsetting; protect water 
environment by actions through biodiversity 
i.e. WFD; promote water and flood 
management that also protects biodiversity; 
improve air quality; monitor and tackle INNS. 
 

The National Pollinator 
Strategy: for bees and other 
pollinators in England (2014) 

DEFRA  

A ten-year plan that includes supporting 
pollinators across towns, cities, countryside 
by encouraging landowners (including 
managers of public amenity space), 
gardeners, allotment owners to engage in 
good practice to make places more pollinator 
friendly 

River Basin Management 
Plans - South East (2016) 

DEFRA & 
Environment 
Agency 

The purpose of a river basin management 
plan is to provide a framework for protecting 
and enhancing the benefits provided by the 
water environment - it delivers the 
obligations of the WFD. Four main themes to 
consider:  
1). Determine baseline status of quality 
factors of all water bodies and prevent 
deterioration 
 2). protecting bodies of water and land that 
have specific uses e.g. commercial, water 
extraction or biodiversity  
3). Statutory objectives for water bodies - This 
plan sets out legally binding objectives for 
each quality element in every water body, 
including an objective for the water body as a 
whole, default deadline 2021, more technical 
objectives 2027 
 4). Summary programme of measures to 
achieve statutory objectives - This plan 
provides a framework for action and future 
regulation. To do this it summarises the 
existing mechanisms, both statutory and 
voluntary, that are used to manage the 
quality of the water environment. 
 
In relation to the plan, EBC is seen as a 
regulator, operator, influencer and deliverer 
of projects. 
 

Catchment based approach: 
Chalk Stream restoration 
strategy (2021) 

Catchment 
Based 

• Provides guidance on the restoration 
of chalk streams (i.e. River Itchen) 

139



 

34 
 

Approach 
(CaBA) 

• Addresses the “trinity” of ecological 
health for chalk streams: water 
quantity; water quality; physical 
habitat quality. 

• Also addresses all three factors 
together 

District Level Licensing for 
Great crested newts 

Natural 
England/other 
accredited 
schemes 

A focus on "net gain" for GCNs through the 
mitigation hierarchy and landscape scale 
enhancement vs traditional licensing and 
protection for individual newts. The process is 
intended to be more streamlined for 
developers and cost-effective while 
safeguarding and enhancing GCN 
populations. 
 
Precedes Species Conservation Strategies 
that will be introduced by the Environment 
Act 

 

Policy/strategy/Plan Source 
Implications and/or desired 
outcomes 

Regional 

Green Infrastructure Strategy 
(2018) 

Partnership for 
South 
Hampshire 

• Contribute to reducing flood risk on 

local communities. 

• Improve the health and wellbeing of 

communities by providing green 

areas for recreation and by 

addressing the impacts of noise, air 

and water pollution.  

• Help communities and the natural 

environment adapt to a changing 

climate.  

• Protect and enhance biodiversity, 

providing mitigation for the impact of 

development taking place within the 

sub-region and in-combination with 

that taking place adjacent to it. 

• Promote access to GI through greater 

connectivity of spaces, in so far as this 

does not compromise environmental 

sensitivities.  

• Create new areas of GI to serve new 

and existing developments. 

140



 

35 
 

• Enhance the quality of the landscape 

and maintain the distinctiveness of 

settlement pattern and promote 

sense of place.  

• Provide a strategic framework for 

locally prepared GI strategies within 

the subregion. 

 

Solent Recreation Mitigation 
Strategy (2017) 

Bird Aware for 
the Partnership 
for South 
Hampshire 

• The Strategy provides a strategic 

solution to ensure the requirements 

the Habitats Regulations are met with 

regard to the in-combination effects 

of increased recreational pressure on 

the Solent SPAs arising from new 

residential development. 

• This document sets out a strategic, 

regional approach to the mitigation, 

the actual mitigation measures to be 

implemented, and the arrangements 

for governance, reporting, and 

monitoring. 

 

Solent Waders and Brent 
Goose Strategy (2020) 

Solent Waders 
and Brent 
Goose Steering 
Group for the 
Partnership for 
South 
Hampshire 

• identifies the network of core areas 

that are regularly used and are of 

fundamental importance to over-

wintering waterfowl across the 

Solent; 

• aims to maintain a network of sites 

through better management and 

protection from development and 

recreational pressure, and to ensure 

that they will be resilient to the 

pressures of climate change and 

predicted sea level rise in the future;  

 

• provides a strategy that will ensure 

that the network of important sites is 

protected, whilst reducing the 

current uncertainty over site use, in 

order to better inform key coastal 

stakeholders 

Advice on achieving nutrient 
neutrality for new 

Natural 
England  

• There are high levels of nitrogen and 

phosphorus input to the solent with 

sound evidence that these nutrients 

141



 

36 
 

development in the Solent 
region (2020) 

are causing eutrophication at these 

designated sites 

• These nutrient inputs currently 

mostly come either from agricultural 

sources or from wastewater from 

existing housing and other 

development. 

• The resulting dense mats of green 

algae and other effects on the marine 

ecology from an excessive presence 

of nutrients are impacting on the 

Solent’s protected habitats and bird 

species. 

• This report sets out a practical 

methodology to calculating how 

nutrient neutrality can be achieved 

and a detailed methodology and 

advice on mitigation. 

 

Mapping the Hampshire 
Ecological Network  

HBIC on behalf 
of the Local 
Nature 
Partnership 

• The map represents the hierarchy of 

international, national and locally 

designated sites of importance for 

biodiversity in Hampshire, plus other 

priority habitats and areas identified 

for habitat restoration or creation. 

• Is intended to highlight opportunities 

for restoration and habitat creation 

rather than be viewed as a constraint 

to development. 

Test and Itchen Catchment 
Partnership 

Partnership of 
organisations 
including EBC 
hosted by the 
Wessex Rivers 
trust 

Aims to: 

• Identify, monitor and reduce nutrient 

input from point sources of pollution 

and mitigate soil, nutrient and 

pesticide losses from diffuse sources 

to benefit surface, groundwater and 

coastal waters. 

• increase water attenuation, slow run-

off, improve resilience to low-flows 

and climate change, increase aquifer 

re-charge, and improve management 

of water. 

•  Increase connectivity within the 

floodplain, reduce impoundment and 

142



 

37 
 

barriers to fish, improve resilience to 

increasing temperatures, enhance 

habitats for wildlife and control 

invasive species to benefit surface, 

groundwaters and marine waters. 

• To promote opportunities for local 

communities to learn about, enjoy 

and help enhance and protect the 

water environment.  

 

East Hampshire Catchment 
Management plan (2014 – 
2020) – River Hamble in EBC 

East Hampshire 
Catchment 
Partnership 

Catchment Partnership objectives: 

• Understanding current baseline 

conditions in catchment. 

• Protect water quality and quantity. 

• New infrastructure and development 

are planned and implemented to 

maximise their contribution to 

sustainable water management. 

• Reducing the risk of flooding to 

people, households and businesses 

• Protect and improve the biodiversity 

of our river catchments and coast 

that support a diverse range of 

interconnected wetland habitats and 

range of species 

Solent Forum 

Independent 
Coastal 
Partnership 
including EBC 

The Forum's aims and objectives relevant to 
biodiversity are to: 

• promote, facilitate and support 

integrated planning and sustainable 

management of the Solent 

• raise awareness and understanding of 

the impacts of Climate Change on the 

Solent and appropriate mitigation, 

resilience, and adaptation measures 

 

River Itchen SAC site 
conservation objectives 
 
Solent and Southampton 
Water SPA Conservation 
objectives 
 

Natural 
England 

Sets the conservation objectives for these 
internationally important sites for 
maintaining and restoring: 

• the distribution and extent of 

qualifying habitats 

• the function of qualifying habitats 

143



 

38 
 

Solent Maritime SAC 
conservation Objectives 

• the processes qualifying habitats rely 

on 

• the population level and distribution 

of qualifying species 

Local (Eastleigh) 

Emerging Eastleigh Local Plan 
2016-2036 and associated 
documents: 

• Habitats regulations 

assessment 

• Strategic Conservation 

Plan for Southern 

Damselflies 

• Great-Crested Newt 

Strategic survey 

 

EBC with 
reports in 
partnership 
with ecological 
consultancies 

• sets the framework for EBC 

biodiversity planning policy 

• Protects existing designated sites 

hierarchy and associated protected 

species 

• seeks to protect ecological networks 

and green links 

• requires at least no net loss of 

biodiversity with net gain where 

possible 

• requires production of a Biodiversity 

mitigation and enhancement plan 

(BMEP) for applications on greenfield 

sites 

Eastleigh Biodiversity Action 
Plan 2012-2022 

EBC 

• review first BAP in the light of Lawton 

and the National Ecosystem 

Assessment 

BAP aims to: 

• establish coherent and resilient 

ecological networks that safeguard 

ecosystem services for the benefit of 

wildlife and people against the 

challenges of climate change and 

other pressures. 

• identify, protect, maintain, restore, 

create and enhance priority habitats 

• identify, protect, maintain, restore 

and enhance viable populations of 

priority species. 

• To focus conservation action in 

Priority Biodiversity Areas and Links 

to achieve maximum biodiversity 

benefit. 

144



 

39 
 

• Highlights the need for partnership 

working with other organisation to 

realise delivery of actions 

Climate and Environment 
Emergency Strategy 

EBC 

• Sets the framework for the council’s 

response to the declaration of the 

Climate and environmental 

emergency 

Emerging Tree Strategy EBC 
• Set priorities for delivering 160,000 

trees in the borough 

• What species and where? 

Emerging Trees & 
Development Supplementary 
Planning Document 

EBC 

• Sets the policy framework for 

protecting the borough’s trees 

• Provides guidance for new tree 

planting 

EBC Corporate Plan 2015-2022 EBC 

• Creating a green borough through the 

provision of green infrastructure 

• Creating an excellent environment for 

all 

• Enabling healthier lifestyles by 

creating spaces conducive to health 

and wellbeing 

 

145



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   

 

AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE  

23 November 2021 

CABINET 

9 December 2021 

Corporate Fees and Charges 

Report of the Strategic Planning Manager  

 

Recommendation(s) 

For Audit and Resources Committee: 

It is recommended that the Audit and Resources Committee note the proposed fees 
and charges and make any necessary recommendations to Cabinet. 

For Cabinet: 

It is recommended that Cabinet approve all proposed fees and charges in 
Appendices A to I to come into effect on the dates outlined in the report.  
 

Summary 
 
Fees and Charges for Council services are reviewed on a regular basis.  In accordance 
with the Budget Plan, fees and charges levied by the Council are reviewed annually with 
the intention of any changes being introduced, where possible, with effect from January 
2022.  This report contains the fees and charges for services directly overseen by Cabinet.  
The increases in this report will be budgeted to achieve an additional yield of £168,000 in 
2022/2023 which is in line with the Medium Term Financial Plan.   
 

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 

Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003 

Environmental Protection Act 1990 

 

147

Agenda Item 9



   

 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Strategic Implications  

1. This report relates to a range of Corporate Plan objectives and the Council’s 
principle of operating in a business-like, commercially focussed way.  The 
report reflects the Council’s approach to minimise the levels of Council Tax 
while seeking to cover Council costs from fees and charges from discretionary 
services.   

2. The proposals in many areas promote health and wellbeing by setting 
discounted rates for community or non-commercial groups; they also help 
tackle deprivation by providing discounted rates for individuals experiencing 
socio-economic deprivation.  The report reflects the Council’s Climate and 
Environmental Emergency and Excellent Environment objectives in applying 
the highest possible penalties for environmental offences such as littering, 
flyposting and graffiti. 

Introduction 

3. The purpose of this report is to outline proposed changes to corporate fees 
and charges levied for services by the Council and approved by Cabinet.  A 
minimum increase in yield of 3.0% (in-line with the previously approved policy) 
for all fees and charges should be implemented where possible, from January 
2022. 

4. Service Managers consider their fees and charges in the context of service 
development, in addition to recognising the Council’s policy to generate 
additional funds by way of maximising the yield from all income sources.   

5. There are other fees and charges within the Council’s Budget, to which an 
inflationary increase cannot apply.  These income streams are mainly grants, 
nationally set fees or related to contracts and therefore cannot be increased to 
raise further income. 

6. COVID-19 has had a significant impact on some services that generate fee 
income, leading to lower than usual yields in 2020/21 and 2021/22. Details are 
shown for each area where this is expected to continue in 2022/23. In many 
areas there is a raised level of uncertainty. The Council’s usual financial 
monitoring processes will track actual performance and any budget 
adjustments will be reported to Cabinet and incorporated into the Medium-
Term Financial Plan in February 2022. 

Budget Devolution 

6. Councillors should note that following Cabinet approval in September 2012, 
the following services are devolved to Local Area Committees and therefore 
the fees and charges for these areas are now set by those Committees: 
 

 Car Parking; 

 Cemeteries; 

 Itchen Valley and Lakeside Country Parks; 

148



   

 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 Outdoor sports facilities; 

 Allotments. 
 

7. Local Area Committees have the discretion to set fees for services devolved 
to their Areas, subject to compliance with the corporate target to generate an 
additional minimum yield from fees and charges of 3.0%. 

8. Car parking income has significantly reduced, initially due to COVID-19 
restrictions and the fall in office-working in town centres; however there is 
concern that consumer habits have changed long term. This is under review 
by the Parking Working Group  

Services Managed Directly by Cabinet 

9. There are a number of services that are managed by Cabinet and these 
services are listed below with their respective appendix references. 

 

Appendix Description 

A Arts and Culture  

B Neighbourhood Services 

C Health and Wellbeing 

D Housing and Development 

E Environment 

F Economic Development 

G Asset Management  

H Strategic Planning, and Governance 

I Local Operations 

 

Arts and Culture (Appendix A) 

8. Arts and Culture staff have reviewed the fees and charges and the proposed 
increases are in line with other market providers.  All other fees and charges 
have been amended based on what is considered an acceptable level for the 
client base.  The community meeting room charge has not increased as the 
area has been significantly impacted by the Covid pandemic and a 0% 
increase will be implemented to entice users back into the building. It is also 
noted that discounts and incentives are available to encourage new 
customers or incentivise repeat bookings across the service.  

149



   

 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

Neighbourhood Services (Appendix B) 

 
9. Bulky Waste: The model for Bulky Waste Services has been updated for 

2022. There will now be a charge for each item collected rather than a one-off 
cost for the first 8 items. For customers on meanstested benefits, the cost is 
£20 for first item and £10 for each additional item.  

10. Bins not put for collection or contaminated:  To encourage residents not to 
contaminate bins and improve recycling rates, the charges for collection of 
missed bins not put out for collection by residents and collection of 
contaminated bins have been increased by £2.00.  

11. Garden Waste Service: The Executive Head of Neighbourhood Services has 
reviewed the fees and charges for this service and recommends that the 
various Garden Waste Service charges are slightly increased. For example a 
standard 50 week service for a new user will increase by 3.8% (£1.50) to 
£41.00. The increase would generate an additional income of £24,680. 

12. Trade waste: Increases of individual contract charges do vary across the 
existing customer base dependent on the value of the contract and the 
existing yield which the contract delivers. In total, trade waste charges are 
expected to provide an additional increased yield of £39,000 which equates to 
5%. 

13. Tree Nursery: It is recommended not to change the fees being introduced in 
relation to the tree sponsorship programme. 

14. Car parking income has significantly reduced due to COVID-19 restrictions 
and changes to commuting; the corporate yield target has not been applied to 
this area, and Local Area Committees are therefore not expected to meet any 
shortfall. To support the recovery of local district centres no increases are 
proposed for off-street and on-street pay and display parking tariff levels. 
Residential Parking permits will continue to increase as per the agreed 
transition towards the Hampshire County Council minimum fee levels.  
 

15. Tables and Chairs on the highway licences were considerably higher (£235) in 
previous years and reduced for 2021 to encourage activity in town and local 
centres. The charge is proposed to be increased to £100 to reflect the costs of 
administration. This is now in line with Pavement licences (capped at £100). 
 

16. Community groups seeking a road closure for a street party are currently 
charged a small fee (£25 for a one-off event) unless they are approved and 
supported by the relevant Local Area Committee.  A small uplift in these fees 
is proposed. 
 

17. All other proposed fees and charges in Neighbourhood Services are in line 
with the recommended level of 3.0%.  
 

150



   

 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Health and Wellbeing (Appendix C) 

18. Places Leisure Eastleigh: The operator (Places for People) and Council staff 
have reviewed the charges for January 2022 onwards taking into account 
usage trends, operational costs, recent investments, competitors’ pricing 
policies and the customer’s ability to pay.   
 

19. Proposals were presented to the Places Leisure Eastleigh Consultative Group 
on the 5 October 2021 and proposed charges were approved by this Group 
for consideration by Cabinet. 

 
20. The fees and charges at The Hub leisure centre at Bishopstoke Road playing 

fields will increase by the corporate yield target of 3% from 1 April 2022.   
 

21. Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Licensing fees are not increased during 
the initial 5-year cycle, which will end in 2023. The current fee is relatively 
high in comparison to other local authorities in the area. The remainder of the 
housing fees have been increased to reflect the 3% yield target.  
 

22. Caravan site licensing charges are recommended to increase by the 3% yield 
target. It is to be noted that there is a new charge that commenced in July 
2021 for ‘Cost of Inclusion on fit & proper person register’. 

 
Housing and Development (Appendix D) 

23. The overall fees increase for Development Management will generate an 
additional 3% income. It is difficult to predict with great accuracy the resultant 
income in the light of a recovering economy following the impact of the 
lockdown and Covid 19. In recognition of the complexity and value of the pre-
application process the greatest increase in fee, and resultant income, is 
focused within this area. 
 

24. A modest increase in Land Charges is proposed to cover increased costs, 
primarily associated with services provided by Hampshire County Council. 
Overall income for this service has reduced as “non-fee earning” personal 
searches are becoming increasingly common; this will be addressed in the 
budget setting process for 2022/23.  

 
Environment (Appendix E) 

25. Many of the Environmental charges are set nationally through legislation. 
Other fees and charges have generally been increased by 3% and it is 
anticipated that in total the service will generate an income yield increase in 
line with the corporate target. 
 

26. Animal Welfare and Collection of Stray Dogs: Charges have been amended in 
line with yield target. 
 

151



   

 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

27. Due to the impact of Covid 19 and the complexity of the Licenses fees and 
charges, the Administration Committee will be approving the 2022/23 charges 
at the next committee on 22 November 2021. Due to this, Licenses (for 
Pleasure Boats, Hackney Carriages, and miscellaneous licences) are not 
included in this report.  

28. Councillors will be aware that the administration of the Taxi and Hackney 
Carriage Licensing Service transferred to Southampton City Council in 2016.  
The service is a ring-fenced service and is required to break-even.   

 
 

Economic Development (Appendix F) 

29. The Sorting Office has moved to a new location therefore creating some new 
charges related to the rent of the space. For other charges relating to the 
economy i.e., Environmental Health training courses and various vendor 
licences, it has been agreed by the Head of Economy and Business to 
increase the price by 3.0% and it is anticipated that in total the service will 
generate an income yield in line with the corporate target. 
 

 

Asset Management (Appendix G) 

30. The Asset Management Service fees have been increased by 3% to match 
the required yield. These prices are still deemed to be reasonable in the 
market. The fee for administration on garage lettings has been increased by 
50% to reflect the actual cost of this work. 
 

31. Fees for chargeable Legal work are capped to only cover costs, it is being 
increased by the corporate yield target of 3%. 
 

32. Eastleigh House has increased its fees and charges in line with the corporate        
yield target of 3%. 
 
 

Governance and Strategic Planning (Appendix H)  

33. Fees for these areas include charges for paper copies of the Local Plan, 
roundabout sponsorship, and Elections. Roundabout sponsorship fees will not 
be increased, with the increase in yield being achieved through efforts to 
obtain new sponsorship. 
 

Local Operations (Appendix I) 

34. The Local Response Team currently undertake the deployment of the Speed 
Limit Reminders (SLR)\Speed Indicator Device (SID) for the Local Area 
Committees.  No change is proposed to the £75 fee, with increased yield 
expected from greater demand.  
 

152



   

 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Risk Assessment 

35. There is always a risk that proposed charges will not yield the overall 
anticipated 3.0% additional income target for the Budget.  The impact of 
changing the fees and charges needs to be balanced against the impact on 
demand, giving rise to changes in overall yield; this will be monitored closely 
during the quarterly Corporate Performance processes throughout the year. 

 

Financial Implications  
 

36. The table below shows the estimated income yield increases across services 
for 2022/23 as a result of the proposed fees and charges. Further work on 
future income levels for services will be completed as part of the upcoming 
budget process which will review all income levels. 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

37. Any service equality and diversity implications will have been considered by 
functional leads as part of their Service Planning processes.  There are no 
specific equality and diversity issues associated with this report which simply 
presents a summary of Cabinet-controlled fees and charges for the Council. 
 

Climate and Environmental Emergency implications 

38. Climate and Environmental Emergency implications are predominantly 
managed through the service planning process. Changes to Fees and 
Charges take into account the corporate policy as well as the Council’s 

Arts and Culture £5,611 

Neighbourhood Services £56,390 

Health and Wellbeing £769 

Housing and Development £36,705 

Environment £1,534 

Economy £3,445 

Asset Management  £1,655 

Local Response (Parking) £62,523 

Total £168,632 

153



   

 

 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

objective to tackle the Climate Change and Environment Emergency e.g. fees 
or charges for contaminated bins, graffiti, and trees grown at the Council’s 
tree nursery. 

 

Conclusion 

30. The Council undertakes an annual review of all fees and charges.  Where 
possible, the review reflects the Council’s Budget requirement to achieve an 
increase of 3.0% in yield.  The above increases will be budgeted to achieve 
an additional yield of £168,000 in 2022/2023.  Where possible, fees and 
charges will be increased with effect from January 2022.   

 

DICCON BRIGHT 

Strategic Planning Manager  

 
Date: 15 October 2020 
Contact Officer: Diccon Bright  
Tel No: 023 8068 8436 
e-mail: Diccon.bright@eastleigh.gov.uk  
Appendices Attached: 9 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None 
 

154



ARTS AND CULTURE Appendix A

Theatres: The Point & The Berry Theatre From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Commercial

Monday – Sunday 11 hours per day 1160.00 3.11% 35.00

Weekly hire rate – midday on 1st day to midnight on 7th day Max 60 

hours access
7000.00 2.94% 200.00

Additional hourly rate 155.00 3.33% 5.00

Additional hourly rate pre 9am post-midnight 225.00 2.27% 5.00

Auditorium: Conference hire up to 4 hours 500.00 3.09% 15.00

Auditorium Conference hire up to 8 hours 850.00 3.66% 30.00

Theatre From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

COMMUNITY

Monday – Sunday 11 hours per day 835.00 2.45% 20.00

Weekly hire rate – midday on 1st day to midnight on 7th day Max 60 

hours access
4550.00 2.25% 100.00

Additional hourly rate 150.00 3.45% 5.00

Additional hourly rate pre 9am post-midnight 215.00 2.38% 5.00

Auditorium: Conference hire up to 4 hours 375.00 2.74% 10.00

Auditorium Conference hire up to 8 hours 585.00 2.63% 15.00

Dance Studio – all charges are per hour or part hour From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

COMMERCIAL

Per hour 42.00 2.44% 1.00

Per hour (Series Booking) 40.00 2.56% 1.00

Per 3 hour session 105.00 2.94% 3.00

All day session 10am – 5pm 190.00 3.83% 7.00

Dance Studio – all charges are per hour or part hour From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

COMMUNITY

Per hour 31.00 3.33% 1.00

Per hour (Series Booking) 29.00 3.57% 1.00

Per 3 hour session 73.00 2.82% 2.00

All day session 10am – 5pm 125.00 2.46% 3.00

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Irving Room/Wilde Room 16.00 0.00% 0.00

Studio Theatre 30.00 0.00% 0.00

Studio Theatre for Performance 40.00 0.00% 0.00

Conference Room 23.00 0.00% 0.00

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Irving Room/Wilde Room 24.00 4.35% 1.00

Studio Theatre 41.00 2.50% 1.00

Studio Theatre for Performance 51.00 2.00% 1.00

Conference Room 29.00 3.57% 1.00

Creation Centre – Rate From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Community

Creation Space – ½ Day 175.00 2.94% 5.00

Creation Space – Day 325.00 3.17% 10.00

Creation Space – Day including evening 485.00 3.19% 15.00

Creation Space – Weekly 2750.00 3.77% 100.00

Atrium – Hourly 24.00 2.13% 0.50

Creation Centre – Rate From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Commercial

Creation Space – ½ Day 290.00 3.57% 10.00

Creation Space – Day 465.00 3.33% 15.00

Creation Space – Day including evening 695.00 2.96% 20.00

Creation Space – Weekly 4120.00 3.00% 120.00

Atrium – Hourly 27.00

Foyer From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Community – Evening 210.00 2.44% 5.00

Standard - Evening 270.00 3.85% 10.00

The Point Theatre and The Berry and Meeting Rooms Charges 

Meeting Rooms - Hourly Rate - Community 

Meeting Rooms – Hourly Rate – Commercial

155



Commercial Events From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Starting from

Large Wedding: Peak 3200.00 4.92% 150.00

Large Wedding: Off Peak 1900.00 5.56% 100.00

Small Wedding: Peak 1600.00 3.23% 50.00

Small Wedding: Off Peak 1100.00 4.76% 50.00

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Technician 16.50 3.13% 0.50

4 hour Pre-rig with 2 technicians 155.00 3.33% 5.00

5 hour basic plotting with 2 technicians 155.00 3.33% 5.00

Show day rehearsal and 1 show 410.00 2.50% 10.00

Radio Mic 1 day 10.50 5.00% 0.50

Radio mic 2 days 15.50 3.33% 0.50

Radio Mic weekly 56.50 2.73% 1.50

Mics (wired) 5.00 11.11% 0.50

Mics 2 day 7.00 7.69% 0.50

Mics week 20.00 11.11% 2.00

Drum kit 18.00 5.88% 1.00

Drum kit 2 day 31.00 3.33% 1.00

Drum kit week 80.00 6.67% 5.00

Metro deck blocks 7.50 7.14% 0.50

Blocks 2 day 10.50 5.00% 0.50

Blocks week 31.00 3.33% 1.00

Hazer 21.00 5.00% 1.00

Hazer 2 days 36.00 2.86% 1.00

Hazer week 85.00 6.25% 5.00

Followspot 31.00 3.33% 1.00

Followspot 2 days 46.50 3.33% 1.50

Followspot week 150.00 3.45% 5.00

Projector 62.00 3.33% 2.00

Projector 2 day 98.00 3.16% 3.00

Projector weekly 258.00 3.20% 8.00

Projection screen  Small 15.50 3.33% 0.50

Projection screen  Large 26.00 4.00% 1.00

Projection screen 2 day  Small 26.00 4.00% 1.00

Projection screen 2 day  Large 41.00 2.50% 1.00

Projection screen week 82.00 2.50% 2.00

Small PA 1 Day Hire 62.00 3.33% 2.00

Small PA Weekend Hire 77.00 2.67% 2.00

Med PA 1 Day Hire 87.00 2.35% 2.00

Med PA Weekend Hire 113.00 2.73% 3.00

Large PA 1 Day Hire 155.00 3.33% 5.00

Large PA Weekend Hire 160.00 3.23% 5.00

MAC Book Pro 1 Day 20.00 0.00% 0.00

MAC Book Pro 2 Day 40.00 0.00% 0.00

MAC Book Pro Week 120.00 0.00% 0.00

Techpro Radio and Comms pack 6 radios and Belt pack 1 Day 21.00 5.00% 1.00

Infrared Conference mics x 20 1 Day 88.00 3.53% 3.00

Infrared Conference mics x 40 1 Day 155.00 3.33% 5.00

Incentives & Discounts

Discounts/incentives are available to encourage new customers or incentivise repeat bookings 

Performance Tickets

Creation Centre 

Studio Series Classes

Deposit

Cancellations

8 months notice

6 months notice

Less than 6 months notice

 Technical Charges

Hire of the Creation Space includes the use of the ground floor 

Minimum booking of 10 sessions.  Studio booking charges include 

A non-returnable deposit of 10% of the total hire charge is payable at the time of booking.

156



Neighbourhood Services Apendix B

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

First Item 30.00 N/A N/A

Each additional item 15.00 N/A N/A

First Item - concession 20.00 N/A N/A

Each additional item - concession 10.00 N/A N/A

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Trade Waste Charges Various N/A N/A

From 1/04/22 £ Change % Change £

Garden waste service (first  bin) April – March (50 wks) 41.00 3.80% 1.50

Garden waste service (first bin) April – March (50 wks) Concession 32.00 1.59% 0.50

Garden waste service (after first bin price per bin) April – March (50 

wks)
38.00 4.11% 1.50

Garden waste service (after first bin price per bin) April – March (50 

wks) Concession
26.50 1.92% 0.50

Garden waste service (first  bin) Oct – March (25 wks) 32.00 4.92% 1.50

Garden waste service (first bin) Oct – March (25 wks) Concession 27.00 1.89% 0.50

Garden waste service (after first bin price per bin) Oct – March (25 

wks)
31.00 5.08% 1.50

Garden waste service (after first bin price per bin) Oct – March (25 

wks) Concession
25.50 2.00% 0.50

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

140/240 litre 20.00 11.11% 2.00

1100 litre 40.00 5.26% 2.00

Additional black waste sacks not contained within the  1100 litre bin – 

communal properties
4.00 8.11% 0.30

Replacement of residual (black) wheeled bins should the bin go 

missing or be damaged
26.00 4.00% 1.00

Delivery Bins (Companies and New Developments) 29.00 16.00% 4.00

Up to 1-8 set then £21.50 thereafter for each 8 set 25.00 13.64% 3.00

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Certificate of Compliance 49.00 0.00% 0.00

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire – Retest 21.00 0.00% 0.00

Car Loan Inspections 84.00 0.00% 0.00

Streetscene

Abandoned Shopping Trolleys From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

(per trolley) 

Collect & Return (By Prior Agreement) 23.50 0.00% 0.00

Pest Control Service (all Inc. VAT) From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Domestic Premises

General Advice Visit – domestic property 30.00 3.45% 1.00

Rats – domestic property (up to 4 visits) 85.00 3.03% 2.50

Mice – domestic property (up to 4 visits) 85.00 3.03% 2.50

Rats – domestic property (additional visits/visit) 23.00 4.55% 1.00

Mice – domestic property (additional visits/visit) 23.00 4.55% 1.00

Rat/mice treatment for people on defined benefits. Consession 13.50 3.85% 0.50

Wasp Treatment – domestic property (1
st
 nest) 53.00 3.92% 2.00

Wasp nest (additional nests) 22.00 2.33% 0.50

Flea Treatment – per hour, up to 5 bedrooms. 124.00 2.48% 3.00

Flea Treatment – per hour, after 1
st
 hour. 71.00 2.90% 2.00

Insects – for 1
st
 hour. 125.00 2.46% 3.00

Insects – per hour, after 1
st
 hour 71.00 2.90% 2.00

Any pest visit where the PCO is unable to gain access as agreed 

(additional cost to treatment)
14.00 3.70% 0.50

Pest Control Service (all inc. VAT) From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Business Premises 

Rodent control - business premises under contract To be quoted on site by site basis by PCO N/A N/A

Rodent control - business premises under contract – additional visit To be quoted on site by site basis by PCO N/A N/A

Rats & Mice - business premises not under contract – general advice 

visit
To be quoted on site by site basis by PCO N/A N/A

Rats & Mice - business premises not under contract – hourly rate 

after initial visit
92.00 5.75% 5.00

Wasps (1
st
 nest) 59.00 3.51% 2.00

Wasps (each additional nest) 25.00 2.04% 0.50

Fleas for 1
st
 hour 135.00 2.66% 3.50

Fleas – per hour after 1
st
 hour 76.00 2.70% 2.00

Insects for 1
st
 hour 135.00 2.66% 3.50

Insects – per hour after 1
st
 hour 76.00 2.70% 2.00

Bulky items

Trade Waste

Special Collections

Collection of missed bins not put out for collection by residents  

and collection of contaminated bins

Vehicle Workshop

157



STREETSCENE DESCRIPTION OF OFFENCE
WHO CAN ISSUE 

FPNs
Amount £

Section & Legislation

s.6(1) Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 Nuisance parking
Local authority 

authorised officers

Amount fixed at 

£100

s.2A(1) Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 Abandoning a vehicle
Local authority 

authorised officers

Amount fixed at 

£200

s.88(1) Environmental Protection Act 1990 Litter

Litter authority 

authorised officers, 

including persons not 

directly employed by the 

authority (see paragraph 

13 below); Policy 

Community Support 

Officers and other 

persons accredited 

under Community 

Accreditation Schemes 

under the Police Reform 

Act 2002

Can be set at 

local level 

(between £50 -

£80). Default 

£80

s.94A(2) Environmental Protection Act 1990
Street litter control notices and litter clearing 

notices

Principal litter authority 

authorised officers

Can be set at 

local level 

(between £75 -

£100). Default 

£100

Schedule 3A, para. 7(2) Environmental Protection Act 1990
Unauthorised distribution of literature on 

designated land

Principal litter authority 

authorised officers, 

including persons not 

directly employed by the 

authority (see paragraph 

13 below)

Can be set at 

local level 

(between £50 - 

£80). Default 

£80

s.43 Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 Graffiti and fly-posting

Local authority 

authorised officers, 

including persons not 

directly employed by the 

authority (see paragraph 

13 below); PCSO and 

other persons 

accredited under 

Community 

Accreditation Schemes 

under the Police Reform 

Act 2002.

Can be set at 

local level 

(between £50 - 

£80). Default 

£80

S 5B(2) Control of Pollution (Amendment) Act 1989
Failure to produce authority (waste carrier’s 

licence)

Waste collection 

authorities and 

Environment Agency 

(acting through their 

Officers

Amount fixed at 

£300

s.34A(2) Environmental Protection Act 1990
Failure to furnish documentation (waste 

transfer notes)

Waste collection 

authorities and 

Environment Agency 

(acting through their 

officers)

Amount fixed at 

£300

s.47ZA(2) Environmental Protection Act 1990 Offences in relation to waste receptacles

Waste collection 

authority authorised 

officers

Can be set at 

local level 

(between £57-

£110). Default 

£110

s.59(2) Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 Offences under Dog Control Orders

Authorised officers of 

primary and secondary 

authorities, including 

persons not directly 

employed by the 

authority, PCSO and 

other persons 

accredited under 

Community 

Accreditation Schemes 

under the Police Reform 

Act 2002

Can be set at 

local level 

(between £50 - 

£80). Default 

£80

s.73(2) Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005

Failure to nominate key-holder (within an 

alarm notification area) or to notify local 

authority in writing of nominated key-holder’s 

details

Local authority 

authorised officers, 

including persons not 

directly employed by the 

authority

Can be set at 

local level 

(between £50 - 

£80). Default 

£80

S.6(5) Health Act 2006 Failure to display no smoking signs
Local authority 

authorised officers

Amount set at 

£200 reduced 

to £150 if paid 

within 15 days

S.7(2) Health Act 2006
A person who smokes in a smoke-free place 

commits an offence.

Local authority 

authorised officers

Amount set at 

£50 reduced to 

£30 if paid 

within 15 days

Gardening Scheme From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

16 Visits from March - October 295.00 3.51% 10.00

Trees From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Tree Sponsorship Various N/A N/A

158



Highways From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Road Closures – Temporary Orders

Standard notice i.e. longer than 6 weeks notice (inclusive of adverts) 2000.00 45.45% 625.00

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

All Other 650 91.18% 310.00

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Individual Application 500.00 1.01% 5.00

Charitable bodies & community organisations - Application for one 

event during year
25.75 3.00% 0.75

Charitable bodies & Community organisations - Individual 

Applications in following first event
247.00 2.92% 7.00

Charitable bodies - Programme of more than 2 events if booked in-

bloc in advance (Up to 8 events)
510.00 3.03% 15.00

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Tables and chairs on the highway - renewal 100.00 100.00% 50.00

Pavement Licences 100.00 N/A N/A

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Administration Charges including Site Visit 100.00 3.09% 3.00

White Lining paint & labour Costs 75.00 11.94% 8.00

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Administration Charges including Site Visit 26.00 4.00% 1.00

Reinstate removed bay after e 3 review letter/request 255.00 2.00% 5.00

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Road closure signs & barriers (Deposit should be charged for signs 

and cones)
Price based on Application N/A N/A

Cones Price based on Application N/A N/A

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Change of property name 69.00 3.76% 2.50

New Development of 1 - 2 plots 74.20 -3.01% -2.30

New Development of 3 - 5 plots 148.30 11.92% 15.80

New Development of 6-10 plots 265.20 10.50% 25.20

New Development of 11 -20 plots 424.40 -0.84% -3.60

New Development of 21 or more 21.20 per plot N/A N/A

New postal address for an individual property 74.20 6.00% 4.20

Change to new addresses due to the development changing after the 

schedule has been issued (Per Plot)
25.75 0.98% 0.25

Change to new address due to the development changing after the 

schedule has been issued (Per plot)
25.75 0.98% 0.25

Hire Charges Traffic Management Signs and Cones

Street Naming and Numbering

Road Closures – Temporary Notice

Road Closure for Public Events - first application

Additional Highway Enquiries

Access Marking Charges

Disabled Bay Application

159



HEALTH AND WELLBEING Appendix C

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

House Inspection Fee re immigration compatibility 288.00 2.86% 8.00

Additional charge for revisit due to missed appointment by client 57.00 3.64% 2.00

HMO Licensing (Houses in Multiple Occupation) – up to 5 occupants 900.00 0.00% 0.00

HMO Licensing (Houses in Multiple Occupation) – over 5 occupants
31.00 per additional occupant up to a 

maximum of 1,150.00
N/A N/A

HMO Licensing (Houses in Multiple Occupation) – supplying existing 

plans
90.00 2.27% 2.00

Housing Health Check Visit 108.00 2.86% 3.00

Fee for service of Improvement Notice 515.00 3.00% 15.00

Fee for service of Prohibition Order 515.00 3.00% 15.00

Fee for service of Emergency Prohibition Order 515.00 3.00% 15.00

Fee for service of Emergency Remedial Notice 515.00 3.00% 15.00

Fee for reviewing Suspended Prohibition Order and Improvement 

Notice
170.00 3.03% 5.00

Caravan Sites From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

                                                                                                        

Caravan Site Licence Application base fee* 500.00 3.09% 15.00

Caravan Site Variation of Licence/Conditions Request 170.00 3.03% 5.00

Caravan Site Transfer of Licence Request 170.00 3.03% 5.00

Annual Administration of Site Licence base fee* 288.00 2.86% 8.00

Service of Compliance Notice 515.00 3.00% 15.00

Service of Works in default Notice 515.00 3.00% 15.00

Service of Emergency Works Notice 515.00 3.00% 15.00

*Cost of Inclusion on fit & proper person register 240.00 N/A 240.00

*Cost of depositing site rules with Local Authority 0.00 0.00% 0.00

No. of Homes

0 – 10

11 – 20

21 – 30

31 – 40

41 – 50

51 – 100

100 +

Housing (all Inc. VAT)

*   % increase/reduction in fee based on size of site

160



Places Leisure Eastleigh From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Hire of Equipment

Hire charge 2.95 3.51% 0.10

Centre - Wide Membership

Joining 31.55 3.10% 0.95

Family 945.55 3.00% 27.55

Single 473.00 3.05% 14.00

Gym

Casual Gym 8.50 3.03% 0.25

Group Ex & Les Mills

Step Reebok - off peak 6.70 3.08% 0.20

Step Reebok - peak 7.35 2.80% 0.20

Aerobics-off peak 6.70 3.08% 0.20

Aerobics- peak 7.35 2.80% 0.20

Aquatherapy 4.50 2.27% 0.10

Aquacise-peak 7.35 2.80% 0.20

Badminton - per hour

Peak 8.60 -33.07% -4.25

Off Peak Adult 6.50 -22.16% -1.85

Off Peak Junior 3.90 2.63% 0.10

Squash per 40 minutes

Peak 8.60 2.99% 0.25

Off Peak Adult 6.50 3.17% 0.20

Off Peak Junior 2.85 3.64% 0.10

Squash Club 8.00 3.23% 0.25

Table Tennis - per hour

Adult 4.85 3.19% 0.15

Junior 2.35 4.44% 0.10

 Main Hall 5 courts

Adult - peak 72.50 2.98% 2.10

Adult - off peak 55.00 3.77% 2.00

Off peak Junior 28.40 3.09% 0.85

Special Activities

Studio per hour 54.65 3.11% 1.65

Forever Active 5.15 3.00% 0.15

Forever Active Additional Gym 1.80 2.86% 0.05

Creche - per 1/2 hour N/A N/A N/A

Fit n Mix ( Tues & Thurs ) N/A N/A N/A

Active Play and Bounce Parent + 1 4.00 5.26% 0.20

Active Play and Bounce Additional Child 1.45 3.57% 0.05

Artificial Turf Full Pitch - per hour

Peak Adult 86.15 2.99% 2.50

Peak Junior 51.50 3.00% 1.50

Off Peak Adult 44.15 3.03% 1.30

Off Peak Junior 28.40 3.09% 0.85

All Weather Pitch - per hour

Peak Adult 47.40 3.04% 1.40

Peak Junior 24.20 3.20% 0.75

Peak Junior (FA Charter) 20.50 2.50% 0.50

Off Peak Adult 32.60 3.00% 0.95

Off Peak Junior 14.70 2.80% 0.40

Friday Night Soccer 0.00 0.00% 0.00

Tennis (Outdoor per court- per hour)

Peak Adult N/A N/A N/A

Peak Junior N/A N/A N/A

Off Peak Adult N/A N/A N/A

Off Peak Junior N/A N/A N/A

Netball (Outdoor per court per hour)

Peak Adult 22.80 3.17% 0.70

Peak Junior 8.00 2.56% 0.20

Off Peak Adult 9.00 4.05% 0.35

Off Peak Junior 3.70 2.78% 0.10

Cricket

Pitch with dressing room - half day 80.00 4.58% 3.50

Pitch with dressing room - evening 34.70 -54.64% -41.80

Pitch for Juniors (no dressing room) 13.00 -52.81% -14.55

Football

Pitch - Adults (90 min game) 80.00 3.16% 2.45

Pitch - Juniors (Under 18- 90 min game) 34.70 3.12% 1.05

Mini soccer pitch (40 min game) 13.00 2.77% 0.35

Bowls

Singles, pairs, triples or rinks per hour 5.90 1.72% 0.10

Woods - per hour or part hour 1.65 3.12% 0.05

Season ticket (May-Sept) 143.00 3.06% 4.25

Season ticket (Oct-Apr) Scapagreen 74.60 3.04% 2.20

Season ticket (May - Sept) OAP 72.50 2.98% 2.10

Season ticket (Oct-Apr) Scapagreen 37.80 3.00% 1.10

Junior rink per hour per person 3.15 1.61% 0.05

Season ticket junior 34.70 3.12% 1.05

Swimming

Adult 5.50 3.77% 0.20

Junior 2.75 3.77% 0.10

Family Swim 2 Ad + 3 Jun 13.15 3.14% 0.40

Pool Hire

Both Pools 148.00 3.64% 5.20

Main Pool 102.00 3.03% 3.00

Teaching Pool 56.00 3.70% 2.00

1 lane 20.00 0.03 0.60

161



The Hub with the effect from 1 April 2022

Activity or Equipment Hire From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Tennis per Hour 8.00 2.56% 0.20

Tennis per Hour 4.00 2.56% 0.10

Tennis per Hour 6.00 3.45% 0.20

Tennis per Hour 2.50 4.17% 0.10

Basketball Flood Lights 8.75 2.94% 0.25

AWP Full 59.00 3.51% 2.00

AWP Full 46.00 3.37% 1.50

AWP Full 33.50 3.08% 1.00

AWP Full 24.20 2.98% 0.70

AWP Half 37.00 2.78% 1.00

AWP Half 26.30 3.14% 0.80

AWP Half 18.00 2.86% 0.50

AWP Half 12.40 3.33% 0.40

Sports Hall Per Hour 36.00 2.86% 1.00

Sports Hall Per Hour 30.00 3.45% 1.00

Studio per Hour 26.80 3.08% 0.80

Table Tennis per 55 mins 7.00 2.94% 0.20

Table Tennis per 55 Mins 5.15 3.00% 0.15

Table Tennis per 55 mins 6.00 N/A 6.00

Table Tennis per 55 mins 3.40 N/A 3.40

Badminton per Court per hr 11.50 3.60% 0.40

Badminton per Court per hr 6.90 2.99% 0.20

Badminton per Court per hr 8.00 3.90% 0.30

Badminton per Court per hr 3.60 2.86% 0.10

Racquet Hire 1.65 N/A 1.65

Shuttles/Balls per tube hire 1.65 N/A 1.65

Adult Rates = Age 16+

162



HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT Appendix D

PLANNING From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Planning application fee Variable N/A N/A

Planning performance agreement Variable N/A N/A

Permitted development enquiry 90.00 5.88% 5.00

Article 4 Direction 55.00 2.80% 1.50

Copy of plans - A4 0.20 0.00% 0.00

A3 0.30 0.00% 0.00

Larger than A3 4.00 6.67% 0.25

Additional copies 50% of original charge N/A N/A

Planning Decision Notices Free of charge on website or 33.00 N/A N/A

Copies of Tree Preservation Orders 55.50 2.78% 1.50

Copy of Section 52/106 Agreements Free of charge on website or 55.50 N/A N/A

Design Access Statement per Page 1.50 3.45% 0.05

Personal searches Statutory N/A N/A

Section 52/106 compliance check 205.00 2.50% 5.00

Planning Condition Compliance Check 205.00 2.50% 5.00

Comprehensive Planning Site 152.50 3.04% 4.50

Hedge Conciliation 735.00 0.68% 5.00

Hedge Conciliation - Concession 195.00 2.63% 5.00

Weekly list of applications: From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

One week 16.50 3.13% 0.50

Yearly subscription 650.00 1.56% 10.00

Planning Obligations From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

S106 - variation 550.00 0.92% 5.00

Pre-application Advice Fees From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

House Holder Pre-Application Enquiry 90.00 2.86% 2.50

Pre Application for a change of use 420.00 1.20% 5.00

Pre-application advice – small minor 1 290.00 5.45% 15.00

Pre-application advice – large minor 2 470.00 2.17% 10.00

Pre-application advice – major 3 1150.00 6.98% 75.00

Pre-application advice – large major 4 2290.00 4.57% 100.00

Additional Meetings – Householder pre-app and small minor (1) 112.00 1.82% 2.00

Additional Meetings – large minor (2), change of use 158.00 1.94% 3.00

Additional Meetings – major (3 and 4) 220.00 1.15% 2.50

Condition pre-application advice (Non Householder) 95.00 2.15% 2.00

Land Searches From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Full Official Search (Hard Copy) 194.00 6.01% 11.00

Full Official Search (Electronic) 194.00 6.01% 11.00

LLC1 (Hard Copy) 49.70 0.00% 0.00

Part II enquiries (Hard copy or electronic) 21.50 7.50% 1.50

Part II Question 2 Commons Registration 32.00 6.67% 2.00

Part I enquiries – additional parcels of land 26.00 5.52% 1.36

Further copies of searches 16.50 10.00% 1.50

Personal Searches (statutory) Free N/A N/A

Personal Searches – Photocopying See charges under planning N/A N/A

Refresher search within 6 months only 95.00 1.99% 1.85

Solicitors own enquiry 25.50 10.87% 2.50

Building Control From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Building regulation fees Various N/A N/A

163



ENVIRONMENT Appendix E

ANIMAL WELFARE

Collection of Stray Dogs From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

(Kennelling Fees)

Collection only (no kennelling) 88.00 3.53% 3.00

One days kennelling 108.00 2.86% 3.00

Two days kennelling 129.00 3.20% 4.00

Three days kennelling 149.00 2.76% 4.00

Four days kennelling 170.00 3.03% 5.00

Five days kennelling 191.00 3.24% 6.00

Six days kennelling 211.00 2.93% 6.00

Seven days kennelling 232.00 3.11% 7.00

Administrative fee for kennelling 10.30 3.00% 0.30

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Application - Renewal (Also requires Compliance/Enforcement for 

required term)
263.00 3.14% 8.00

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement just 1 Year 137.00 3.01% 4.00

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 2 Years 273.00 3.02% 8.00

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 3 Years 410.00 3.02% 12.00

Application - New Licence (Also requires Compliance/Enforcement for 

required term)
283.00 2.91% 8.00

New Compliance/Enforcement only 1 Year 137.00 3.01% 4.00

New Compliance/Enforcement for 2 Years 273.00 3.02% 8.00

Variation 105.00 2.94% 3.00

Replacement 21.20 3.41% 0.70

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Application - Renewal (Also requires Compliance/Enforcement for 

required term)
138.00 2.99% 4.00

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement just 1 Year 116.00 3.11% 3.50

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 2 Years 242.00 2.98% 7.00

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 3 Years 347.00 2.97% 10.00

Application - New Licence (Also requires Compliance/Enforcement for 

required term)
160.00 3.23% 5.00

New Compliance/Enforcement only 1 Year 116.00 3.11% 3.50

New Compliance/Enforcement for 2 Years 232.00 3.11% 7.00

Variation 108.00 2.86% 3.00

Replacement 21.10 2.93% 0.60

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Application Fee (Will also require at least one Host Family fee) 126.00 2.86% 3.50

Each host Family 64.00 3.23% 2.00

Replacement Lost Licence 21.10 2.93% 0.60

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Application for License Exempt Franchise Host Family 108.50 3.33% 3.50

Replacement Lost Licence 21.10 2.93% 0.60

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Application - Renewal (Also requires Compliance/Enforcement for 

required term)
262.50 2.94% 7.50

Compliance/Enforcement just 1 Year 139.00 2.96% 4.00

Compliance/Enforcement for 2 Years 273.00 3.02% 8.00

Compliance/Enforcement for 3 Years 407.00 3.04% 12.00

Variation 108.00 2.86% 3.00

Replacement 21.20 3.41% 0.70

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Application - Renewal (Also requires Compliance/Enforcement for 

required term)
293.50 2.98% 8.50

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement 3 Years 211.50 3.17% 6.50

Application - New Licence (Also requires Compliance/Enforcement for 

required term)
314.00 2.95% 9.00

New Compliance/Enforcement only 3 Years 211.00 2.93% 6.00

Variation 108.00 2.86% 3.00

Replacement 21.20 3.41% 0.70

Breeding

Home boarding

Home Boarding Franchise Holding Co

Home Boarding Licence Exampt Host Family

Boarding Day Care

Performing Animals

164



From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Application - Renewal (Also requires Compliance/Enforcement for 

required term)
396.50 2.99% 11.50

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement just 1 Year 211.00 2.93% 6.00

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 2 Years 422.50 3.05% 12.50

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 3 Years 628.50 3.03% 18.50

Application - New Licence (Also requires Compliance/Enforcement for 

required term)
422.50 3.05% 12.50

New Compliance/Enforcement only 1 Year 211.00 2.93% 6.00

New Compliance/Enforcement for 2 Years 422.50 3.05% 12.50

Variation 108.00 2.86% 3.00

Replacement 21.20 3.41% 0.70

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Application - Renewal (Also requires Compliance/Enforcement for 

required term)
293.50 2.98% 8.50

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement just 1 Year 108.50 3.33% 3.50

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 2 Years 211.00 2.93% 6.00

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 3 Years 314.00 2.95% 9.00

Application - New Licence (Also requires Compliance/Enforcement for 

required term)
314.50 3.11% 9.50

New Compliance/Enforcement only 1 Year 108.00 2.86% 3.00

New Compliance/Enforcement for 2 Years 211.00 2.93% 6.00

Variation 108.00 2.86% 3.00

Replacement 21.20 3.41% 0.70

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement just 1 Year (Plus per Horse) 396.50 2.99% 11.50

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 2 Years 505.00 3.06% 15.00

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 3 Years 608.00 3.05% 18.00

Plus £10 per horse (max £100) 10.30 3.00% 0.30

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement just 1 Year (Plus per Horse) 396.50 2.99% 11.50

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 2 Years 505.00 3.06% 15.00

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 3 Years 608.00 3.05% 18.00

Plus £10 per horse (max £200) 10.30 3.00% 0.30

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement just 1 Year (Plus per Horse) 396.50 2.99% 11.50

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 2 Years 505.00 3.06% 15.00

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 3 Years 608.00 3.05% 18.00

Plus £10 per horse (max £300) 10.30 3.00% 0.30

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement just 1 Year (Plus per Horse) 396.50 2.99% 11.50

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 2 Years 505.00 3.06% 15.00

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 3 Years 608.00 3.05% 18.00

Plus £10 per horse 10.30 3.00% 0.30

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement just 1 Year (Plus per Horse) 396.50 2.99% 11.50

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 2 Years 505.00 3.06% 15.00

Renewal Compliance/Enforcement for 3 Years 608.00 3.05% 18.00

Plus £10 per horse 10.30 3.00% 0.30

Pet Shops

Horse Riding

Horse Riding (Up to 10)

Horse Riding (11-20)

Horse Riding (21-30)

Horse Riding (30+)

Horse Riding (30+)

165



ECONOMY Appendix F

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Level 2 Food hygiene/health and safety refresher course (public 

courses per person)
39.00 2.63% 1.00

Level 2 Food hygiene/health and safety course (public courses per 

person)
84.50 3.05% 2.50

Level 3 Food hygiene/health and safety course (public courses per 

person)
392.00 3.16% 12.00

Commercial Training courses To be negotiated based on hourly rate/costs N/A N/A

Surrender certificates (disposal of food) 242.00 2.98% 7.00

Certificates in respect of foodstuffs for export 96.00 3.23% 3.00

Imported food stuffs Cost of sampling/disposal & officer time N/A N/A

Primary authority work. 70.00 2.94% 2.00

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Food premises rescores 155.00 3.33% 5.00

Skin Piercing - premises and 1 practitioner 150.00 3.45% 5.00

Skin piercing – registration fee for additional practitioners 37.00 2.78% 1.00

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Single event (Two days or less per event.  Max two days or 20 hours 

in any year per applicant/business)
13.50 3.85% 0.50

Single Event (Three to seven days in a block) 50.00 2.04% 1.00

Annual Consent / Licence (One day/night per week) 721.00 3.00% 21.00

Annual Consent / Licence 2 days / nights per week) 819.00 3.02% 24.00

Annual Consent / Licence 3 days / nights per week) 915.00 3.04% 27.00

Annual Consent / Licence 4 days / nights per week) 1015.00 3.05% 30.00

Annual Consent / Licence 5 days / nights per week) 1112.00 2.96% 32.00

Annual Consent / Licence 6 days / nights per week) 1210.00 3.15% 37.00

Annual Consent / Licence 7 days / nights per week) 1310.00 3.15% 40.00

Revenues

Court Costs 98.00 3.16% 3.00

Charging orders 0.00 0.00% 0.00

Economic Development

Sorting Office residents – open unit per month N/A N/A N/A

Sorting Office residents – lockable units p/m N/A N/A N/A

Basement 5.2 78.00 N/A N/A

Basement- 16.3 175.00 N/A N/A

Ground 10.5 157.00 N/A N/A

Ground 37.5 150 per person N/A N/A

First 10.5 157.00 N/A N/A

First 20.3 152 per person N/A N/A

Second 8.7 130.00 N/A N/A

Second 17.6 132 per perosn N/A N/A

Sorting Office Open Studios – stall hire with table 75.00 7.14% 5.00

Sorting Office Open Studios – stall hire with own table 70.00 7.69% 5.00

Sorting Office Open Studios – 4 foot space 50.00 0.00% 0.00

Production House hire per day N/A N/A N/A

Production House hire per half day N/A N/A N/A

Business conference stall hire 125.00 0.00% 0.00

Market stall pitch hire 10.00 0.00% 0.00

Market stall gazeebo hire 20.00 0.00% 0.00

Sponsorship Negotiable, depending on item N/A N/A

Food Safety/Health and Safety

Food Premises Register

Street Trading Licences/Consents

166



ASSET MANAGEMENT Appendix G

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Surveyor’s fees (excluding any Legal fees) for agreeing terms for a 

deed of easement, right of way
Minimum charge of £515 3.00% 15.00

Surveyor’s fees (excluding any legal fees) for the valuation and terms 

for the removal/variation of a restrictive covenant

  Escalating subject to scale of 

development.£260 minimum fee where a 

simple letter of consent is issued for 

alterations to former council house.  A charge 

of £50 where the alteration is to a disabled 

person's dwelling house to improve access, 

safety, comfort etc

4.00% 10.00

Administration fee to review initial enquiries/requests from residents 

to purchase Council land/reversionary freehold interests

Minimum £155.  Then capital receipt subject 

to negotiation.
3.33% 5.00

Surveyors fees to (excluding any legal fees) for the valuation and 

agreement of terms for the sale of Council land
Minimum charge of £515 3.00% 15.00

Surveyor’s fees (excluding Legal fees) involved in obtaining Landlord 

consent to tenant requests

Minimum charge between £360-515, up to 

max fee tbc.
2.86% 10.00

Administration Fee non refundable for garage lettings 75.00 50.00% 25.00

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Chargeable Legal Work to include inter alia prosecutions; property 

work and planning obligations
Between £125 and £205 per hour 3.00% N/A

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Eastleigh House – Meeting Room Hire Rates

Room Hire Rate 1 – Up to 10 persons

Per Hour 16.70 3.09% 0.50

Per Half Day (no more than 4 Hours) 50.40 3.07% 1.50

Per Day 88.80 3.02% 2.60

Evenings 55.60 2.96% 1.60

Double Room Hire Rate 2 – Up to 20 persons Boardroom or 50 

persons Theatre

Per Hour 28.10 2.93% 0.80

Per Half Day (no more than 4 Hours) 83.30 2.97% 2.40

Per Day 143.90 3.01% 4.20

Evenings 88.80 3.02% 2.60

Triple Room Hire Rate 3 – Up to 26 persons Boardroom or 60 

persons Theatre

Per Hour 33.60 3.07% 1.00

Per Half Day (no more than 4 Hours) 100.10 2.98% 2.90

Per Day 189.60 2.99% 5.50

Evenings 105.00 2.94% 3.00

Catering Services for External Meetings

Provided by HC3S – Tel. 01962 573609

Asset Management Services

Legal Services

167



GOVERNANCE AND STRATEGIC PLANNING Appendix H

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Roundabout Sponsorship

Cost per sign per year 

(Subject to concession for multiple purchases)
1325.00 0.00 0.00

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Planning Policy

Local Plan 129.00 3.20% 4.00

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

Elections 

Copies of election expenses (parliamentary) 20p per slide N/A N/A

Electoral Register (full and open) - Paper copy
£10 admin fee + £5 per 1000 electors (or 

part)
N/A N/A

Electoral Register (full and open) - Data copy
£20 admin fee + £1.50 per 1000 electors (or 

part)
N/A N/A

Marked Registers (polling stations & absent voters) - Paper copies
£10 admin fee + £2 per 1000 electors (or 

part)
N/A N/A

Marked Registers (polling stations & absent voters) - Data copies
£10 admin fee + £1 per 1000 electors (or 

part)
N/A N/A

168



LOCAL OPERATIONS Appendix I 

From 1/1/22 £ Change % Change £

SLR\SID

Deploying the SLR\SID for external 75.00 0.00 0.00

Organisations Per Deployment

169



This page is intentionally left blank



NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of Paragraph ? of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act 1972  DELETE  SENTENCE IF NOT CONFIDENTIAL 

 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Thursday, 18 November 2021  

CABINET 

Thursday, 9 December 2021 

CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT 

Report of the Chief Financial Officer  

 

Recommendation(s) 

For Policy and Performance:  
 
(1) It is recommended that the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel note the 

performance and financial position of the Council for the first two quarters of 
the year making any recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate.  
 

For Cabinet:  
 
It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(2) note the performance of the Council for the first two quarters of 2021/2022 
and the Council’s forecast financial position for the year and consider any 
recommendations from Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel; 

(3) note the performance of the Community Investment Programme (Appendix 
C); 

(4) note the updated Medium Term Financial Plan (Appendix B); 

(5) note the performance of Treasury Management, and the financial outlook 
(Appendix O); and 

(6) recommend to Council to approve the change to the Prudential Indicators 
(Appendix P). 

 

Summary 
 
This report presents the Council’s financial and performance position for the second 
quarter (Q2) of 2021/22 including a forecast of the financial position for the full year 
against that budgeted.  The report also highlights significant and emerging financial and 
performance issues. Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for service areas are outlined in 

171

Agenda Item 10



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Appendix A of the report. KPIs and financial variances are commented on in Appendices 
F-N.  

The financial monitoring for the second quarter of 2021/22 is forecasting total net 
favourable variances against the budget of £99,000 based on best estimates in a changing 
landscape. 

Capital expenditure for the first half of the financial year of 2021/22 was £39.3M compared 
to the rolling budget for the year of £81.8M. 

Statutory Powers 
 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989, Sections 41 and 42 Local Government Act 
1972, Section 151 Local Government Act 1972 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. Regular monitoring and management of the Council’s performance, including 
financial performance, is key to ensuring delivery against strategic objectives 
set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan 2015-2025, and contributes to the 
management of corporate risk. The report details budget variances compared 
to the rolling budget. The report also details key performance indicators which 
allows monitoring of performance trends. Individual variances and 
performance measures are being actively managed by service managers with 
the support of the Finance team. 

 

Introduction 

2. This report brings together the context of the Council’s strategic ambitions, its 
performance working towards them, and the financial implications and 
challenges of both. This ensures greater transparency and presents a full 
picture of the overall position. 

3. To facilitate the implementation of the new executive structure, embedded in 
the Council in January 2021, a new way of managing and reporting financial 
information has been introduced. This enables services to directly input 
financial and performance information into their Executive Summary Reports 
shown in Appendices F-N. Services can see real time impacts of decisions 
which creates enhanced transparency and accessibility. 

4. Performance overall is good considering the challenging environment, 
changes in the labour market, and customer demand. The £99,000 net 
underspend position across the whole Council is positive overall although 
there have been challenges with performance in a few areas, such as Waste 
collection.  Where challenge areas have been identified action has been taken 
to mitigate impacts and improve performance in both the short and long term.  

172



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

5. Further detail on operational delivery is included within the Executive 
Summary Reports [Appendices F-N]. 

6. The report contains, in the Appendices, details of the following: 

Appendix  Description 

A Council Strategy Scorecard Summary  

B Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 

C Community Investment Programme (CIP) Monitoring 

D Financial Risk Assessment  

E Portfolio Variance Report 

F Finance and Housing Executive Summary Report 

G Assets and Project Delivery Executive Summary Report 

H Governance Executive Summary Report 

I Customer Care Executive Summary Report 

J Organisational Development Executive Summary Report 

K Planning and Economy Executive Summary Report 

L Environment Executive Summary Report 

M Health and Wellbeing Executive Summary Report 

N Neighbourhood Services Executive Summary Report 

O Treasury Management Half Yearly Report 

P Prudential Indicators 
 

Strategic Overview 

7. The gradual easing of lockdown restrictions, alongside the longer-term 
solution of the national vaccine rollout, has allowed for a degree of return to 
pre-Covid delivery although uncertainty and some restrictions still exist. This 
report has been produced with the current expectation that service levels will 
stabilise and return to pre-pandemic levels over the period of the MTFP, with 
the safety of staff and residents the key priority. The Council is starting to look 
forward beyond recovery and is working to understand what the future 
demand for services will be in the context of changed customer behaviour and 
other changes in the economy. 

8. Performance overall is good considering the fluctuating patterns of customer 
behaviour and demand.  These high levels of uncertainty are likely to continue 
into 2022/23 and services are already planning on the basis of the best 
possible predictions of demand.   

9. A considerable amount of management effort is now involved in service 
improvement (Case Management, Waste Services, recruitment), maintaining 
performance, and addressing critical external threats (e.g. changes in demand 
and in the labour market). At the same time the Council is embedding a new 
leadership structure, performance and planning processes, developing 
proposals for longer term home/office working, and pressing forward with its 
ambitions on Housing delivery, with the HRA, management and lettings 
progressing well. Focusing on strategic and service planning and prioritising 

173



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

for 2022/23 and beyond, will assist in managing this demanding mix of 
challenges going forward. 

10. Delivery of the Council’s Community Investment Programme is similarly 
challenging, with the pressure of increased construction and labour costs and 
the ongoing need to embed Climate and Environment Emergency (declared 
2019) considerations into projects.  

11. The Corporate Action Plan (CAP) 2021/22 sets out the key outward-facing 
actions the Council is embarked upon; progress at Quarter 2 in delivering this 
Plan is good overall. Many actions are on track to be completed during the 
year and are referenced in the Executive Summary Reports appended to this 
report.  A separate report for Policy and Performance Committee in December 
2021 will detail progress against each CAP action. (Actions in Local Area 
Action Plans for 2021/22 are reported to Local Area Committees). 

 

Service Performance 

12. Performance monitoring covers the first two quarters of 2021/22, running from 
April 2021 to September 2021. Appendix A shows a scorecard summary for 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs are organised into five strategic 
themes: Environment; Economy; Health and Wellbeing; Housing and 
Development; and Organisation.    

13. Service managers have reviewed their financial performance for the year and 
used this information as a basis for forecasting financial performance for the 
full year. The aggregate of these forecasts estimates an underspend against 
the approved budget for 2021/22 of £99,000. 

14. The financial performance of all services has been discussed with spending 
officers and significant variances, including transfers to and from reserves, are 
explained in the Executive Summary Reports in Appendices F-N. During the 
year the financial performance will continue to be monitored and where 
estimates become more certain, these will be reported to Cabinet if budgetary 
changes are necessary. 

  

174

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/6510/corporate-action-plan.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

15. The table below shows the summarised General Fund Monitoring statement 
by Portfolio:  

 

16. The continued impact of COVID-19 and other additional priorities is placing 
extra pressure on service areas through increased demand, amendments to 
procedures or additional services. This includes the resource diverted towards 
the Afghan resettlement scheme and COVID-19 related activities, such as the 
administration of support payments and the Council’s Future Ways of Working 
project. Below outlines the most notable matters, with the portfolio identified in 
bold. 

17. Like many other employers, the current position of the job market is affecting 
the Council’s ability to recruit and, as such, increasing the demand upon 
existing resources. A review of recruitment has started, and recommendations 
are due to be finalised by the end of the calendar year, any action that can be 
taken earlier, is being acted upon. The review will focus upon the following 
themes: Attract, Recruit and Retain. Targeted recruitment campaigns have 
commenced, such as the one for HGV drivers because of the current national 
shortage.  

18. There has been a nationwide shortage of HGV drivers, which has led to a 
need to increase associated costs in the Waste and Streetscene services 
(Environment) and has contributed to a downturn in performance with an 
increased number of missed bins. To improve staff retention and maintain 
performance levels an ongoing increase in budget of up to £314,000 was 

 

Original Rolling Forecast Outturn 

 
Budget Budget 

 
Variance 

Portfolio Name £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

     Area Committees (Net of Gross Cost 
Adjustment) 1,464 1,304 1,304 0 
 
Skills & Business (238) (240) (59) (181) 
 
Environment 6,165 6,497 6,868 (371) 
 
Health 2,524 2,744 2,498 247 
 
Planning and Property  (6,921) (6,943) (9,987) 3,044 
 
Social Policy 3,106 3,254 2,493 761 
 
Transport (114) (84) 199 (283) 
          

Position on Services 5,988 6,533 3,316 3,217 

     Non Service Related Items (para 27) (5,987) (6,218) (3,100) (3,118) 
          

Net Position 1 315 216 99 

175



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

approved by Cabinet in July 2021, of which £40,000 has so far been 
committed, leaving a total forecast additional expenditure of (£645,000) for the 
year. There remains a forecast adverse variance on the Environment portfolio 
of (£371,000), primarily relating to staff costs in Waste Management and the 
hire of food waste vehicles, as there has been a delay in the delivery of new 
vehicles due to longer lead times given by the manufacturer. 

19. Some services are managing with vacancies, creating an underspend 
position, including Strategic Planning £107,000 and Corporation Estates 
£60,000 (Planning and Property). Other services, such as Development 
Management (Planning and Property), have needed to bring in agency staff 
to maintain service provision while supporting additional workloads from the 
airport judicial review.  At the time the ESR was drafted the cost of the judicial 
reviews was estimated with funding to be drawn from an earmarked reserve.  
On 19t October the Council received notice from the court that the permission 
to apply for Judicial Reviews by the Claimants have both been refused. 
Subsequently, one claimant has appealed this judgement and been granted 
the opportunity to present their case in person. 

20. The removal of government restrictions related to the pandemic has acted as 
a catalyst for the progression of work previously paused including events on 
Council owned land and facilitating face to face or hybrid meetings. Work is 
ongoing to support the services most affected and improved utilisation of 
resources is a critical focus.   

21. Income generation has not returned to pre pandemic levels for a number of 
services. Within Arts and Culture (Health), the service is managing 
expenditure in line with this reduced expectation of income and is showing a 
favourable position of £137,000 with further grants being sought to cover lost 
income as in 2020/21. The Places Leisure Eastleigh (Health) budget is 
forecasting a £107,000 underspend which will be allocated to the 
maintenance reserve.  The Afghan Resettlement Project (Health and Social 
Policy) has significantly increased in scope from the initial two planned 
families, up to the current 135 individuals in a Bridging Hotel in the borough, 
which is drawing on existing resource, the direct impact upon the performance 
of Health and Wellbeing and Organisational Development is being closely 
monitored.  The occupancy rate of Eastleigh Business Centre (Skills & 
Business) is currently 71% and the challenge of bringing in new tenants 
means the expected income is forecast (£168,000) lower than the already 
reduced budget.  A potential refurbishment project at the building is being 
scoped as an invest-to-save project to determine whether this will increase 
tenancy and income levels. 

22. Parking Services (Transport) is forecasting an under recovery in income 
beyond the estimated impact totalling (£381,000). While this has been initially 
due to the direct impact of COVID restrictions reducing travel, there is concern 
that consumer habits will have changed long-term. A Parking Working Group, 
which includes relevant Portfolio Holders, has been set up to review 
performance and identify any actions to mitigate future income losses. 

176



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

23. With the Government restrictions being lifted in July, the associated Sales, 
Fees and Charges income support scheme (SFC) which reimbursed the 
Council for lost income across all services is due to be withdrawn. This has 
contributed approximately £2.1M to the Council in 2020/21 and is due to 
contribute a further £800,000 in 2021/22 to cover the period Apr – Jul 2021 
however there is uncertainty as to whether this level of grant will be received 
which is being closely monitored. 

24. Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support (Social Policy) has seen continued 
migration across to Universal Credit, resulting in a saving against the budget 
of £419,000 which is anticipated to continue in future years and will be 
reflected in the budget process.  

25. Some significant grants have been received and are being set aside within 
earmarked reserves, including £2.6m New Homes Bonus (Planning and 
Property) and £302,000 Homelessness grant (Social Policy). A general 
COVID grant of £532,000 has also been received from the Government to 
cover increased expenditure specifically related to the pandemic and is 
accounted for centrally within the Corporate Financial Services budget 
(Planning and Property). 

26. The Climate and Environmental Emergency resourcing position is a priority. In 
order to facilitate progress, reserve funding has been drawn down and 
additional support is being coordinated by the Green Energy Manager. Wider 
progress has continued across the action plan, including starting to install 
electric vehicle charging points in four car parks, as well as progress being 
made on aspects such as the purchase of electric refuse vehicles and the use 
of Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil (HVO) rather than diesel.  

27. Non-Service related items are those budgets recognising movement in 
funding from earmarked reserves or corporate costs such as Interest and 
Minimum Revenue Provision.  These areas are showing a net unfavourable 
variance of (£3.1M), consisting of: 

 Interest Payable is reporting a favourable variance of £166,000 due to 
the reprofiling of forecast borrowing throughout the financial year, as 
well as active treasury management operations allowing the Council to 
borrow at slightly lower levels than forecast when the budget was set. 

 Interest Receivable is reporting an unfavourable variance of 
(£638,000), due to the timing of the Pembers Hill Development Loan.  
As previously reported, the interest on this loan has accrued at a faster 
rate than in the original plan and has therefore been accounted for in 
previous financial years.  This does not affect the total return on this 
investment and will be reflected in the budget process. 

 Minimum Revenue Provision is reporting a favourable variance of 
£28,000 due to the slippage of the capital programme 2020/21 delaying 
the forecast repayment of this borrowing in 2021/22. 

177



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 Movements in Earmarked Reserves is reporting a net adverse variance 
of (£2.8M). This predominantly relates to New Homes Bonus income 
being transferred to reserves. Please see Appendix F for more detail. 

 
 

 

Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 

28. The MTFP outlines the Council’s budget projections for the period 2021/22 to 
2025/26.  These figures contain the current financial monitoring forecasts and 
show how short-term financial monitoring also impacts medium-term decision 
making and the medium-term financial resilience of the Council.  

29. The latest MTFP is shown at Appendix B for noting and includes the 
implications forecast in the financial monitoring, particularly those surrounding 
business cases that have approved borrowing, as these contain medium-term 
and long- term financial commitments.  It should be acknowledged that 
forecasting is particularly difficult at the moment with the changing economic 
landscape. 

30. The MTFP recognises the ongoing financial pressures arising from demand 
led services, particularly within the Waste Services. In addition to this, whilst it 
is recognised in the MTFP that a gradual return of most income streams is 
anticipated, it is considered unlikely that usage levels will return to those 
previously met in all areas, particularly for Car Parking Services and the 
impact of this will be reflected in the upcoming budget. 

31. Interest rates continue to be a key focus of the MTFP.  The Council has an 
ongoing borrowing requirement in the medium to long term.  Through the use 
of effective interest rate forecasting, external advisers (Arlingclose) and the 
use of an interest rate reserve, the Council is able to demonstrate it can 
continue to service its borrowing requirement through the life of the MTFP, 
although costs are anticipated to increase as the short-term variable element 
of the Council’s borrowing portfolio begins to rise from its current historically 
low rates.  The interest rate reserve will need to be utilised in the later years of 
the MTFP to maintain the General Fund Reserve balance as rates rise. 

32. The MTFP ensures that the Council is financially resilient in managing its 
capital expenditure, showing the medium-term impact of capital decisions, 
including the ongoing cost of funding these decisions.  Covid 19 has led to an 
increase in prices throughout the construction industry of both materials and 
labour.  This is being reviewed to see if it is pervasive, or a short-term 
fluctuation.  Once impacts on the costs of projects are fully known any 
implications will be factored into the forecast and brought back to Cabinet for 
approval as necessary. 

33. Considering current known impacts to the Council, the Council is forecasting a 
balanced MTFP over the period 2021/22 – 2025/26.  Although this can only be 
achieved through the implementation of the Continuous Improvement strategy 
detailed later in the report, and the use of the interest reserve to mitigate the 
impact of potential interest rate rises. 

178



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

34. A full MTFP document will be brought for formal approval to Cabinet and 
Council in February 2022 as part of the budget process.  Ongoing quarterly 
updates will be provided within future versions of this Corporate Performance 
and Finance Monitoring Report. 
 

General Fund and Reserves 

35. Appendix B details the MTFP position and demonstrates that the General 
Fund balance is maintained at the minimum balance of the higher of £1m or 
10% of Net Cost of Services for the life of the plan. In addition, other 
earmarked reserve balances are detailed below, and these are considered to 
be at the appropriate levels: 

 

 
Community Investment Programme 

36. The Community Investment Programme (CIP) has a rolling budget of £81.8m 
for 2021/22. The budget has increased by £16m since originally set which is 
primarily due to the slippage of forecast expenditure from 2020/21 to 2021/22. 
Appendix C provides an overview of the current CIP position. 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

NNDR Reserves 12,363 12,363 12,363 12,363 12,363

General Fund 1,001 1,001 1,001 1,001 1,001

Interest 9,391 7,754 7,354 6,483 4,649

Services 4,696 4,743 4,743 4,743 4,743

Local Area 702 700 700 700 700

Capital 4,249 4,249 4,249 4,249 4,249

Property 5,283 6,007 6,731 7,456 8,181

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

Reserves Estimate 2021/22 (£'000s) 

179



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

37. For the period to the end of September £39.3m has been spent, representing 
48% of the rolling budget.  It is forecast that expenditure will continue to rise in 
line with the rolling budget as the year progresses. 

38. Capital expenditure throughout the year has been predominantly incurred on 
Housing and Infrastructure.  With the Housing expenditure consisting of: 

 £9.5m for the purchase of additional land at the Solar Park within the 
One Horton Heath Development (OHH). 

 £5m expenditure on the infrastructure works at OHH, which includes 
the completion of the £20.8m funding from Homes England for the 
LAAC grant. 

 £3m for the purchase of homes at Stoneham phase 5. 

 £2.5m for the ongoing construction works at Fanfare Place. 

39. Capital expenditure on Infrastructure is predominantly made up of the £16.8m 
purchase of Chalcroft Solar Park Ltd within the OHH development. 

40. The progress of CIP schemes is reported to relevant boards monthly as part 
of the highlight reports completed by Project Managers for each scheme.  As 
with Service Managers, Project Managers are asked to identify forecast spend 
for the year in order that total CIP budgets can be monitored effectively and 
profiled into the most appropriate financial year.  This is an iterative process, 
with adjustments to budgets between financial years being made as and when 
reported to the relevant boards or through the financial monitoring process. 

 
Continuous Improvement Strategy 

41. The Council continues to strive to achieve financial resilience through 
innovation and the identification of efficiencies without cutting or reducing the 
quality of services. The upcoming budget process will include detail as to how 
this is planned to be achieved with budgets set and monitored for 2022/23 and 
the medium term accordingly. 

 
42. The ongoing achievement of the Continuous Improvement Programme will be 

led by the Executive Team and monitored through the Organisational 
Development Review Group. This will ensure targets are met and reported 
quarterly from next financial year. 

 

Treasury Management Half Year Report 

43. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the CIPFA Code) 
requires the Authority to approve treasury management semi-annual and 
annual reports.  
 

44. The first 6 months of the Financial Year have led to day-to-day treasury 
management practices returning to pre pandemic borrowing and investment 

180



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

activity.  Additional investments to cover unexpected shortfalls in liquidity due 
to the pandemic have been disinvested, as the local authority to local authority 
borrowing market has continued to prove to be a liquid and secure 
marketplace for the authority to meet its ongoing borrowing requirement. 
 

45. Appendix O provides the Treasury Management Half Yearly Report, providing 
detail on the performance of Treasury Management for the first 6 months of 
2021/22. 
 
 

Chief Financial Officer’s Statement 

46. As the Council’s Statutory Finance Officer, the Chief Financial Officer is 
required to advise the Council on all pertinent financial matters including the 
level of balances and to alert Councillors to any concerns they may have 
regarding the financial well-being of the Council. 

47. Financial monitoring is required to be timely and accurate so the identification 
of variances from forecast levels of expenditure to budgeted levels of 
expenditure are known.  This identification allows the Council to utilise 
underspent, or reallocate financial resources accordingly, in order to continue 
to meet service level standards. 

48. The performance monitoring process is a very important element of the 
Council’s financial arrangements as it assesses how effective the day-to-day 
management of budgets has been throughout the year. Any unforeseen 
overspends and underspends can distort the Council’s financial position and 
financial planning process. 

49. Linking the financial monitoring with operational context highlights the outputs 
the Council achieves from its resources, allowing assessment of efficiency 
and effectiveness. Understanding this is key to ensuring greater value for 
money through informed service planning and prioritisation of resources. 

50. The COVID-19 pandemic has brought into sharp focus the need for accurate 
and detailed financial planning. The success of the Council’s approach to 
financial management has enabled the identification and reporting of financial 
pressures and the early identification of potential savings. Undoubtedly this is 
a testing time for the economy and that includes local government, although 
Eastleigh Borough Council is well placed to sustainably manage financially 
into the future.   

51. The Council continues to manage finances well and maintains an appropriate 
level of reserves despite the impacts of the pandemic.  However, with the 
uncertainties in the future economic landscape it is important that the Council 
continues to closely monitor financial performance.  Expenditure must be 
contained within budgets and the Continuous Improvement Strategy needs to 
be developed to be achievable and realistic to ensure continued financial 
stability. 

181



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Risk Assessment 

52. The purpose of the performance monitoring process is to give Councillors and 
the public the assurance that the Council’s finances and performance are 
performing broadly in line with the Budget and service targets. This report is 
integral to the risk management process in respect of the Council’s finances. 
A full risk assessment in respect of the Council’s current and future financial 
position is included within the Provisional Outturn, Medium Term Budget 
Strategy and Budget reports that are submitted to Cabinet and Council. 
Appendix D contains the Financial Risk Assessment. Risks pertaining to the 
delivery of Council services are monitored through the use of a risk register at 
a service and corporate level. All risks captured are mitigated against and the 
effectiveness of the mitigation is monitored regularly in conjunction with the 
Council’s Strategic Risk Management Group. 
 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

53. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because the 
decision does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of 
opportunity, or fostering good relations between different people. Therefore, it 
is considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be 
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried 
out. 

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

54. There is no direct impact, positive or negative, to climate change or the 
environment. However, effective financial monitoring enables the delivery of 
the Council’s Strategic Objectives of which include supporting the Climate 
Change Programme. 

 

Conclusion 

55. This report, as well as providing a comprehensive snapshot of the Council’s 
finances, provides the opportunity to advise Councillors of significant 
performance issues that may impact on the Council’s finances. The forecast 
overall revenue position at 30 September 2021 suggests a forecast favourable 
position of £99,000 for the full year. 

56. The significant performance areas outlined within this report, together with the 
overview of service KPIs and financial information contained within the 
appendices, give Councillors an opportunity to understand current 
performance and risks impacting the delivery of services to customers. Whilst 
the Council is continuing to deliver a comprehensive range of services there 
are some performance areas needing attention and rectification of these 
issues is important in ensuring the Council is continuing to meet customer 
needs. 

182



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

SARAH KING 
Corporate Director – Chief Financial Officer 

  
 
Date: 18 October 2021 
Contact Officer: Joe Mills  
e-mail: joe.mills@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 16 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None. 
 

183



This page is intentionally left blank



185



KPI RAG 

status

Data labels 

in charts

Backdrop 

in chart

Comment 

in chart

Numbers 

in table

Red (R)
= significantly 

off target

XX% Red XX%!

Amber (A) 
= slightly off 

target

YY% Amber YY%~

Green (G)
= better than 

or on target

ZZ% Green ZZ%

Key for Charts and Tables
Text colours were selected to meet visual accessibility requirements

e.g. Amber (A) chart labels, comments and table numbers are coloured light blue

186



187



Environment
Quarterly Scorecard

Environment KPIs
2020/21 2021/22

1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4

1.1 Collected domestic waste recycled R R R R G N/A

1.2 Collected domestic residual waste R R R R R N/A

1.3.1 Customer-reported missed bins A A R R R R

1.3.2 Repeat customer-reported missed bins within same month G A A A G G

1.4 Land Audit Management System (LAMS) score G G G G G G

1.5 Clearing of fly-tipping completed on time G G G G G R

1.6 NO2 concentration at monitoring site with highest level in Borough G G N/A N/A N/A N/A

1.7 Noise nuisance requests responded to on time A A G G A G

188



4
5
.4

%

N
o

t 
a
v
a
il
a
b

le
 y

e
t

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest quarter = 

Not yet available

Previous quarter = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = 45% or 

more

Red = less than 

42.4%

1.1 Collected domestic waste recycled
(percentage, %)*

*Confirmed quarterly figures provided by Hampshire County Council. Garden waste is not included in the figures.

Executive Area: Neighbourhood Services

189



1.2 Collected domestic residual waste
(Kg per household per month)*

3
8
.0

N
o

t 
a
v
a
il
a
b

le
 y

e
t

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest quarter =

Not yet available

Previous quarter = 

Red

RAG thresholds:

Green = less than 

35.5Kg

Red = 36.7Kg or 

more

*Confirmed quarterly figures provided by HCC.

Executive Area: Neighbourhood Services190



7
6
9

5
1
8

8
1
3

7
8
7

5
7
5

5
2
9

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month =

Red

Previous month = 

Red

RAG thresholds:

Green = less than 

300

Red = 350 or 

more

1.3.1 Customer-reported missed bins
(number)

Missed bins as 

% of all bins 

collected

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2021/22 0.29% 0.21% 0.33% 0.32% 0.23% 0.22%

Executive Area: Neighbourhood Services

191



1
0
.1

%

1
2
.1

%

7
.3

%

6
.0

%

4
.4

%

7
.6

%
0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month = 

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = less than 

10%

Red = 15% or 

more

1.3.2 Repeat customer-reported missed bins
within month (percentage, %)*

Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar *Figures only began 
being collected in 

April 2020

2020/21 55 16 24 33 40 43 32 66 43 55 65 192

2021/22 78 89 59 47 25 40

Executive Area: Neighbourhood Services192



Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar *LAMS = an inspection-based 
system that monitors quality of 

grounds maintenance, street 
cleansing & cemetery services

2019/20 5/81 6/94 6/81 6/71 1/75 1/63 0/82 0/64 0/50 2/48 2/50 0/35

2020/21 2/64 1/11 0/44 0/26 0/34 0/74 1/110 1/63 0/39 1/28 0/98 0/45

2021/22 0/41 0/95 0/36 0/26 0/24 0/50

1.4 Land Audit Management System (LAMS)
score* (% of non-acceptable rated inspections)

0
.0

%

0
.0

%

0
.0

%

0
.0

%

0
.0

%

0
.0

%
0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = 5% or 

less

Red = more than 

5%

Executive Area: Neighbourhood Services

193



1.5 Clearing of fly-tipping
completed on time (percentage, %)

9
6
%

1
0
0
%

9
8
%

9
6
%

7
0
%

6
1
%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Red

Previous month = 

Red

RAG thresholds:

Green = 95% or 

more

Red = less than 

90%

Actuals* Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar *Actuals = incidents 
cleared in time / 

total incidents

2019/20 53/53 52/52 38/38 63/63 42/42 49/49 53/53 39/39 47/47 60/60 47/47 31/31

2020/21 48/48 64/66 100/109 74/76 93/97 100/103 53/55 77/78 78/83 83/88 83/86 93/95

2021/22 86/90 68/68 82/84 94/98 64/91 43/70

Executive Area: Neighbourhood Services194



N
o

 d
a
ta

 a
v
a

il
a
b

le

N
o

 d
a
ta

 a
v
a

il
a
b

le

N
o

 d
a
ta

 a
v
a

il
a
b

le

N
o

 d
a
ta

 a
v
a

il
a
b

le

N
o

 d
a
ta

 a
v
a

il
a
b

le

N
o

 d
a
ta

 a
v
a

il
a
b

le

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month = No 

data available

Previous month = 

No data available

RAG thresholds:

Green = 40µgm-3

or less

Red = more than 

45µgm-3

1.6 NO2 concentration at monitoring site with highest
level in Borough* (average for year to date in ugm-3)

*Figures show highest annual average concentration of NO2 recorded at any of the Borough’s monitoring sites 
during the 12 months prior to the month shown. Due to an instrument fault, and the time taken to acquire and 
install a replacement instrument, no data is available between September 2020 and September 2021.

Executive Area: Environment

195



8
4
% 9
4
%

8
8
% 9

9
%

1
0
0
%

9
4
%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month = 

Green

Previous month =

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = 90% or 

more

Red = less than 

75%

1.7 Noise nuisance requests responded 
to on time (percentage, %)

Actuals* Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 36/39 37/49 43/49 79/91 55/65 41/51 24/40 21/24 23/28 24/27 29/34 32/41

2020/21 90/96 43/70 69/95 66/79 59/67 49/52 27/27 20/23 28/28 29/29 26/26 33/34

2021/22 27/32 29/31 37/42 67/68 46/46 45/48

Executive Area: Customer Care196



197



Economy
Quarterly Scorecard

Economy KPIs
2020/21 2021/22

1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4

2.1.1 Businesses supported G G G G G G

2.1.2 Businesses registered to pay rates (target undecided)

2.2.1 Council Tax collected (cumulative) G A A A G A

2.2.2 Non-domestic Rates (NDR - business rates) collected (cumulative) R R R R R R

2.3 Occupancy rate for tenantable space at Eastleigh Business Centre R* R* A A A A

2.4
Council Tax - Customers with outstanding account queries older than 

15 days
G G A G A R

*Figures were directly affected by Covid-19 restrictions.

198



2.1.1 Businesses supported, incl. Wessex House
and Platform 4 Business (cumulative YTD)*

1
,1

6
9 1

,7
9
1

1
,9

9
5

2
,0

1
4

2
,0

8
2

2
,1

4
5

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = 1,000 or 

more for year

Red = less than 

1,000 for year

Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar *Figures began being collected in 
May 2019. Those for April to 

June and November 2020 
onwards include businesses 

given Covid-19 support grants.

2019/20 - 6 39 2 6 4 63 9 8 22 17

2020/21 1,240 168 249 65+ 158 49 24 239 165 283 183 832

2021/22 1,169 622 204 19 68 63

Executive Area: Planning & Economy

199



2.1.2 Businesses registered to
pay rates (number)*

3
,2

2
8

3
,2

2
6

3
,2

2
7

3
,2

2
6

3
,2

2
7

3
,2

2
5

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month = No 

target yet

Previous month = 

No target yet

RAG thresholds:

Green = To be 

decided

Red = To be 

decided

*Figures only began being collected in November 2019. A different calculation methodology was applied between 
September and December 2020 whereby any business with multiple premises was counted as a single registered 
business.

Executive Area: Finance & Housing Programme200



2.2.1 Council Tax collected
(cumulative percentage, %)

8
.4

% 1
8
.1

%

2
7
.1

%

3
6
.0

%

4
4
.9

%

5
4
.0

%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Amber

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = within 1% 

of 2019/20

Red = over 2% 

below 2019/20

Compared 

to 2019/20
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

.
2020/21 -0.6% -1.6%~ -1.0% -0.9% -0.8% -1.3%~ -1.2%~ -1.6%~ -1.7%~ -1.8%~ -1.9%~ -1.7%~

2021/22 -1.2%~ -1.0% -0.9% -0.9% -1.0% -1.5%~

Executive Area: Finance & Housing Programme

201



2.2.2 Non-domestic Rates (NDR - business rates)
collected (cumulative percentage, %)

1
0
.3

%

2
0
.3

%

2
4
.4

%

3
2
.6

%

4
0
.9

%

4
8
.1

%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Red

Previous month = 

Red

RAG thresholds:

Green = within 1% 

of 2019/20

Red = over 2% 

below 2019/20

Compared 

to 2019/20
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

.
2020/21 -1.8%~ -6.8%! -5.7%! -6.9%! -7.1%! -8.0%! -6.9%! -5.3%! -6.0%! -6.8%! -8.5%! -7.7%!

2021/22 +0.9% +0.3% -4.3%! -5.2%! 5.6%! -7.1%!

Executive Area: Finance & Housing Programme202



2.3 Occupancy rate for tenantable space at
Eastleigh Business Centre (percentage, %)*

7
1
%

7
3
%

7
2
%

7
2
%

7
2
%

7
1
%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Amber

Previous month = 

Amber

RAG thresholds:

Green = 75% or 

more

Red = less than 

65%

*Occupancy rate is calculated on the basis of the tenantable space occupied (occasional refurbishment work may 
reduce the space available for tenants). The Business centre was closed in April and May 2020 due to Covid-19 
lockdown measures.

Executive Area: Planning & Economy

203



8
9 1
1
5

6
6
5

7
5
9

1
2
1
2 1

7
0
6

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month =

Red

Previous month = 

Red

RAG thresholds:

Green = less than 

200

Red = 400 or 

more

2.4 Council Tax - Customers with outstanding
account queries older than 15 days (number)*

*Figures only began being collected in June 2019.

Executive Area: Customer Care204



205



Health and Wellbeing 
Quarterly Scorecard

Health and Wellbeing KPIs
2020/21 2021/22

1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4

3.1.1 Attendance at The Point & Berry Theatres R* R* R* R* N/A A

3.1.2 Participation in Arts and Culture activities A G R R R G

3.2 Visitors to Itchen Valley Country Park R* G G G G G

3.3.1 Attendance at HealthWorks sessions R* R* R* R* R* R*

3.3.2 Attendance at SportWorks sessions R* A* R* R* G G

3.4 Visits to Places Leisure Eastleigh R* R* R* R* R* R*

3.5 Households on housing register (no target)

3.6 Average waiting time for band 2 and 3 properties G G G G G G

3.7 Households in emergency accommodation arranged by the Council R R

3.8.1 New benefit (Council Tax or Housing Benefit) claims received (no target)

3.8.2 Time to process new benefit claims A A G G A G

3.9 Time to process benefit change events G G G G G G

3.10 Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) decided within 6 months of application A G G G G G

*Figures were directly affected by Covid-19 restrictions.

206



0
%

C
a

p
a

c
it

y
 u

n
d

e
te

rm
in

e
d

C
a

p
a

c
it

y
 u

n
d

e
te

rm
in

e
d

C
a

p
a

c
it

y
 u

n
d

e
te

rm
in

e
d 5

9
% 6
7
%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = 50% or 

more

Red = less than 

40%

3.1.1 Attendance at The Point & Berry Theatres 
(percentage of capacity, %)*

*Due to the pandemic, the theatres closed from mid-March 2020 until April 2021, apart from a brief opening in December 
2020. The café was open in September and October 2020, but its attendance figures are not included in later totals.

Attendance Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2021/22 0 328 2,227 1,994 1,298 1,474

Executive Area: Health & Wellbeing

207



7
9
9
 

3
4
8
 1
,2

8
6
 

1
,7

0
5

1
,3

3
4

8
,2

1
4

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

10,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Red

RAG thresholds:

Green = 2,500 or 

more

Red = less than 

2,250

3.1.2 Participation in Arts and Culture
activities (number)

% achieved 

of target
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2020/21 118% 125% 52%! 19%! 40%! 316% 16%! 12%! 19%! 9%! 15%! 22%!

2021/22 32%! 13%! 52%! 68%! 53%! 329%

Executive Area: Health & Wellbeing208



3.2 Visitors to Itchen Valley Country Park
(number)*

3
0
,9

9
5
 

2
2
,3

3
0
 

2
1
,8

4
3

2
3
,3

4
0

3
7
,0

0
3

2
1
,7

0
0

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

45,000

50,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month = 

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = 90% or 

more of target

Red = less than 

70% of target

Target
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar *Variable monthly target 

set on basis of annual 
target and previous 

year’s monthly figures.

% achieved

2020/21 28,800 24,000 18,570 26,400 31,200 21,600 21,600 14,400 16,800 9,600 12,000 12,000

2020/21 25%! 67%! 86%~ 112% 96% 119% 98% 138% 108% 163% 141% 173%

2021/22 26,400 24,000 21,600 26,400 31,200 21,600 21,600 14,400 16,800 12,000 12,000 12,000

2021/22 117% 93% 101% 88%~ 119% 101%

Executive Area: Health & Wellbeing

209



3.3.1 Attendance at HealthWorks
sessions (number)*

1
3
4 3

6
1 5

9
1

9
9
9 1

2
2
6

9
6
6

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Red

Previous month = 

Amber

RAG thresholds:

Green = more 

than 1,488

Red = 1,138 or 

less

*Session venues were closed from March to July 2020 and in November 2020 due to Covid-19 lockdown measures.

Executive Area: Health & Wellbeing210



2
1
0 1

1
1
3

9
9
6

2
6
4
2

6
0
5
6

3
6
1
0

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = more 

than 508

Red = 388 or less

3.3.2 Attendance at SportWorks
sessions (number)*

*Sessions were cancelled from February to July 2020, from October to November 2020 and in January 2021 due to Covid-
19 lockdown measures. Figures in August 2020 and 2021 increased due to the Park Sport programme.

Executive Area: Health & Wellbeing

211



3.4 Visits to Places Leisure Eastleigh
(number)*

1
9
,4

4
7

3
4
,5

4
2

3
6
,9

7
8

3
6
,4

4
8

3
8
,5

7
2

3
4
,8

0
6

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Red

Previous month = 

Red

RAG thresholds:

Green = 91,166 or 

more

Red = less than 

80,000

*PLE was closed from April to July 2020, in November 2020 and from January to February 2021 due to Covid-19 
lockdown measures. As PLE staff were on furlough, figures are unavailable for March 2020.

Executive Area: Health & Wellbeing212



2019/20 
average = 1,774

2020/21 
average = 1,884

3.5 Households on housing register
(number)

1
,9

1
6

1
,8

9
9

1
,9

3
9

1
,9

3
4

1
,9

3
6

1
,9

1
8

1,500

1,550

1,600

1,650

1,700

1,750

1,800

1,850

1,900

1,950

2,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

No target as

dependent on 

applications,

eligibility etc.

Executive Area: Health & Wellbeing

213



2
5
.8

2
5
.8

2
5
.8

2
3
.8

2
3
.8

2
3
.8

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest quarter =

Green

Previous quarter

= Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = 36.7 or 

less

Red = more than 

36.7

3.6 Average waiting time for
band 2 and 3 properties (months)*

*From July 2020 onwards waiting time data is collated on a quarterly basis. Hampshire HomeChoice uses bands to 
prioritise housing applications: band 1 = urgent, band 2 = high, band 3 = medium and band 4 = low. There are few band 1 
and 4 applications and their average waiting times vary greatly between months (or quarters), so the most reliable 
measure of overall waiting time is the combined average waiting time for bands 2 and 3.

Executive Area: Health & Wellbeing214



14

8
9

12

9

12

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month =

Red

Previous month = 

Red

RAG thresholds:

Green = less 

than 4

Red = 9 or more

3.7 Households staying in emergency
accommodation arranged by the Council (number)

*Figures only began being collected in April 2021

Executive Area: Health & Wellbeing

215



2020/21 
average 

= 170

3.8.1 New benefit (Council Tax or
Housing Benefit) claims received (number)*

1
2
4

1
1
2 1

4
1

1
4
7

1
3
8 1

7
1

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

None

No target set

(workload

indicator).

*Figures only began being collected in January 2020.

Executive Area: Customer Care216



2
1
.7

2
0
.7 2

4
.0

2
1
.8

2
2
.1

1
5
.9

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month = 

Green

Previous month =

Amber

RAG thresholds:

Green = less 

than 22 days

Red = 26 days or 

more

3.8.2 Time to process
new benefit claims (days)

Executive Area: Customer Care

217



4
.0

4
.9 5

.7

4
.5

6
.2

5
.9

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = less 

than 9 days

Red = 11 days or 

more

3.9 Time to process benefit
change events (days)

Executive Area: Customer Care218



3.10 Proportion of DFGs decided within
6 months of application date (percentage, %)

8
9
%

8
0
%

9
4
%

1
0
0
%

5
7
%

7
1
%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month = 

Amber

Previous month = 

Red

RAG thresholds:

Green = 75% or 

more

Red = less than 

60%

Executive Area: Health & Wellbeing

219



220



Housing and Development
Quarterly Scorecard

Housing and Development KPIs
2020/21 2021/22

1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4

4.1 Net additional homes delivered R G G G G N/A

4.2.1 Major planning applications processed within statutory timeframe R G R G G G

4.2.2 Minor planning applications processed within statutory timeframe G R R R G G

4.2.3 Other planning applications processed within statutory timeframe G G G R G G

4.3
Planning appeals allowed as a proportion of all planning application 

decisions
G G G G G G221



4.1. Net additional homes delivered (number)*

*Figures are available on a quarterly basis. The target threshold is based on the 5-year land supply targets and 

the associated annual housing requirement (source: HCC Land Supply Monitoring).

2
4
6

N
o

t 
a
v
a
il
a
b

le
 y

e
t

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest quarter =

Not available yet

Previous quarter = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = net 189 

or more

Red = less than 

189

Executive Area: Finance & Housing Programme222



4.2.1 Major planning applications processed
within statutory timeframe (percentage, %)

5
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

5
0
%

6
7
%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month = 

Green

Previous month = 

Red

RAG thresholds:

Green = 60% or 

more

Red = less than 

60%

Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 1/1 0/0 1/2 1/2 0/0 2/2 5/5 2/2 2/2 2/3 1/1 3/3

2020/21 0/0 0/1 0/0 2/2 5/5 2/2 3/4 3/4 0/1 1/1 2/3 4/4

2021/22 1/2 2/2 4/4 1/1 1/2 2/3

Executive Area: Planning & Economy

223



4.2.2 Minor planning applications processed
within statutory timeframe (percentage, %)

5
6
%

6
9
%

1
0
0
%

9
0
%

8
6
%

7
7
%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = 65% or 

more

Red = less than 

65%

Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 13/15 9/11 8/8 14/19 9/13 8/13 11/19 6/11 10/14 5/6 5/8 6/11

2020/21 7/10 9/12 7/8 5/10 5/6 1/2 7/13 11/18 3/5 2/4 2/9 5/7

2021/22 5/9 9/13 5/5 17/19 6/7 10/13

Executive Area: Planning & Economy224



4.2.3 Other planning applications processed
within statutory timeframe (percentage, %)

7
6
%

9
4
%

9
6
%

8
1
% 9

3
%

9
2
%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = 80% or 

more

Red = less than 

80%

Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 52/59 56/57 49/51 52/59 56/60 37/41 52/55 41/46 45/48 39/42 26/27 51/56

2020/21 37/39 43/48 34/40 44/49 37/38 56/60 48/53 39/46 46/57 23/39 43/51 47/62

2021/22 55/72 84/89 71/74 51/63 53/57 76/83

Executive Area: Planning & Economy

225



4.3 Planning appeals allowed as a proportion of
all planning application decisions (percentage, %)

0
.0

%

0
.6

%

0
.0

%

0
.5

%

0
.0

%

0
.5

%
0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = less 

than 10%

Red = 10% or 

more

Actuals* Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar *allowed of all appeals 

/decisions2019/20 2 of 6/131 2 of 3/113 0 of 3/61 0 of 0/87 2 of 9/73 1 of 4/56 0 of 4/79 0 of 0/63 3 of 4/66 0 of 3/51 2 of 3/32 1 of 3/136

2020/21 0 of 0/114 0 of 0/112 0 of 2/85 0 of 0/110 1 of 5/93 1 of 2/132 2 of 3/149 0 of 2/106 0 of 4/120 1 of 3/113 1 of 3/128 0 of 3/146

2021/22 0 of 5/155 1 of 3/179 0 of 0/118 1 of 2/184 0 of 1/117 1 of 2/207 

Executive Area: Planning & Economy226



227



Organisation
Quarterly Scorecard

Organisation KPIs
2020/21 2021/22

1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4

5.1 Customer complaints (no target)

5.2 Corporate complaints outside SLA R R G G G G

5.3 CSC – Interactions handled (no target)

5.4 CSC - Calls answered vs. offered G A G G A A

5.5 CSC - Customer interactions resolved at first point of contact G G G A G G

5.6
Corporate sickness (average number of working days lost due to 

sickness absence per employee per year)
A R A G G G

5.7 Staff turnover (for rolling 12-month period) G G G G G G

5.8 FOI / EIR requests responded to within SLA G G G G G G

5.9 Invoices paid within 10 days G R R R R R

5.10.1 Cases raised across all service areas R G A G G G

5.10.2 Average case duration for cases raised across all service areas G R R G R G

5.11.1 Cases raised via the Members' Hub R A A A A A

5.11.2 Average case duration for cases raised via Members' Hub R R R R R R

228



2019/20 
average = 30.4

2020/21 
average 

= 37

66

77

104

46 42 43

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month = 

No target set

Previous month = 

No target set

RAG thresholds:

No target

5.1 Customer complaints
(number)

Executive Area: Customer Care

229



1
1
% 1
6
%

8
%

3
1
%

1
4
% 2
1
%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = 25% or 

less

Red = more than 

25%

5.2 Corporate complaints outside SLA
(percentage, %)

Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 - - - - - 71/92 36/60 20/28  19/44 17/53 15/51 14/30

2020/21 12/28 8/31 16/39 15/61 26/69 34/86 16/36 8/38 0/37 1/34 0/40 7/36

2021/22 7/66 12/77 8/104 14/46 6/42 9/43

Executive Area: Customer Care230



2020/21 
average  

calls = 426

5
6
3

4
7
6

5
2
1

5
1
0

4
8
9

4
5
2

9
4
2

8
4
2 9

4
6

8
8
1

8
4
7

8
1
2

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 - calls 2020/21 - calls 2021/22 - calls 2021/22 - total

Polarity:

None

No target set

(workload

indicator)

5.3 CSC - Interactions handled
(average number per working day)*

*The KPI definition was changed from calls to interactions (including calls) from April 2021 onwards. Previously, only the 
number of calls was recorded. Interactions other than calls include working with customers at Reception, email 
administration for Benefits, Council Tax and Business Rates, and missed collection administration for Waste & Recycling.

Executive Area: Customer Care

231



8
4
%

8
3
%

8
2
%

8
4
%

8
2
%

8
5
%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Amber

RAG thresholds:

Green = 85% or 

more

Red = less than 

80%

5.4 CSC - Calls answered vs. offered
(percentage, %)*

*The number of calls ‘offered’ refers to the number of calls received, and not all of these will have been answered or 
‘handled’.

Executive Area: Customer Care232



7
0
%

6
5
%

6
0
%

6
0
%

6
0
%

6
0
%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = 60% or 

more

Red = less than 

50%

5.5 CSC - Customer interactions resolved
at first point of contact (percentage, %)

Executive Area: Customer Care

233



6
.1

6
.0

6
.0

6
.0

5
.7

5
.7

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = less 

than 7 days

Red = 7.5 days or 

more

5.6 Corporate sickness (average number of working
days lost due to sickness absence per employee per year)

Executive Area: Organisational Development234



9
.0

%

1
0
.0

%

1
1
.0

%

1
2
.0

%

1
3
.2

%

1
4
.1

%
0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = 15% or 

less

Red = more than 

18%

5.7 Staff turnover (percentage, % of people voluntarily 
resigning cf. total headcount for rolling 12 month period)

Executive Area: Organisational Development

235



9
8
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

9
6
%

9
4
%

9
1
%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = more 

than 90%

Red = 85% or 

less

5.8 FOI / EIR* requests responded
to within SLA (percentage, %)

Actuals Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar *FOI = Freedom of Information. EIR 

= Environmental Information 

Regulations. Both types of requests 

are regulated by the Information 

Commissioner's Office (ICO). 

2019/20 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 53/53 64/70 64/67 39/41 74/70 66/79

2020/21 40/46 30/33 33/34 54/56 36/38 52/56 46/56 49/53 66/68 40/40 65/68 73/73

2021/22 56/57 47/47 56/56 54/56 49/52 63/69

Executive Area: Governance236



2020/21 
average = 59.8

5
2
%

5
0
%

3
8
%

3
6
%

3
0
%

2
3
%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month =

Red

Previous month = 

Red

RAG thresholds:

Green = 75% or 

more

Red = less than 

70%

5.9 Invoices paid within 10 days
(percentage, %)

Executive Area: Customer Care

237



6
,0

9
5

4
,7

2
6

5
,8

7
4 7
,2

2
4

5
,9

2
8

9
,0

0
0

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month = 

Green

Previous month = 

Green

RAG thresholds:

Green = 5,000 or 

more

Red = less than 

4,000

5.10.1 Cases raised across all
service areas (number)*

*Cancelled cases were removed from the figures for September 2020 onwards. September 2021 is an estimated figure, 
as the actual figure of 14,933 was inflated by an estimated 6,000 out of office notifications.

Executive Area: Customer Care238



10

24

13 14
18

7

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month = 

Green

Previous month = 

Red

RAG thresholds:

Green = 15 days 

or less

Red = more than 

15 days

5.10.2 Average case duration for cases raised
across all service areas (working days)* 

*Case duration is calculated on the basis of the cases closed during the relevant month and does not include the cases 
that remained open at the end of that month. Cancelled cases were removed from the figures for September 2020 
onwards.

Executive Area: Customer Care

239



33 35
40

31

17

32

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↑

RAG status:

Latest month = 

Amber

Previous month = 

Red

RAG thresholds:

Green = 40 or 

more

Red = less than 

20

5.11.1 Cases raised via
Members' Hub (number)*

*Cancelled cases were removed from the figures for September 2020 onwards.

Executive Area: Customer Care240



13

38

19

37
29

20

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100
110
120

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2020/21 2021/22 Polarity:

Better = ↓

RAG status:

Latest month =

Red

Previous month = 

Red

RAG thresholds:

Green = 15 days 

or less

Red = more than 

15 days

5.11.2 Average case duration for cases raised via
Members' Hub (working days)*

*Case duration is calculated on the basis of the cases closed during the relevant month and does not include the cases 
that remained open at the end of that month. Cancelled cases were removed from the figures for September 2020 
onwards.

Executive Area: Customer Care

241



APPENDIX B

Budget Summary Outturn Original Rolling Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

2021/22 to 2025/26 2020/21 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Net continuing services 2,695 5,988 6,533 3,316 4,638 3,496 3,573 3,491

Other:

External Interest Payable 4,710 4,526 4,526 4,360 4,386 4,223 4,638 5,770

External Interest Receivable (3,541) (1,742) (1,742) (1,104) (390) (390) (410) (460)

Contribs to / (from) Reserves 20,581 817 586 3,252 (912) 325 (146) (1,109)

Capital Financing from Revenue 1,777 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Revenue Provision 5,055 5,226 5,226 5,198 6,171 6,419 6,670 6,833

Depreciation (4,886) (4,900) (4,900) (4,900) (4,900) (4,900) (4,900) (4,900)

Statutory Accounting Adjustments (3,446) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL COST 22,945 9,915 10,229 10,123 8,993 9,173 9,425 9,625

Transfer To/(From) Reserves (9) 0 (315) (59) (1) (1) (1) (1)

Total Budget Requirement 22,936 9,915 9,914 10,063 8,992 9,172 9,423 9,623

AVAILABLE FINANCE:

NDR (14,193) (3,564) (3,563) (3,712) (2,620) (2,672) (2,723) (2,723)

Council Tax (Surplus)/Deficit 0 0 0 (170) (72) 0 0 0

Council Tax - Base (8,743) (6,351) (6,351) (6,181) (6,300) (6,500) (6,700) (6,900)

Financed Budget Requirement (22,936) (9,915) (9,914) (10,063) (8,992) (9,172) (9,423) (9,623)

BUDGET DEFICIT/(SURPLUS) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 

GENERAL FUND BALANCES 2020/21 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Outturn Original Rolling Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Balance at 1st April (1,068) (1,001) (1,001) (1,059) (1,001) (1,001) (1,001) (1,001)

Appropriations (to)/from Reserve 9 0 315 59 1 1 1 1

(Surplus)/'Deficit in Year 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balance at 31st March (1,059) (1,001) (686) (1,001) (1,001) (1,001) (1,001) (1,001)

General Fund Target Balance (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000)

(Surplus)/Deficit (59) (1) 314 (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

242



Original Rolling Actual Budget

Budget Budget Sep-21 Remaining

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22

PROGRAMME BOARD £ £ £ £

Climate and Emergency 17,885,000 2,129,260 16,290 2,112,970

Housing 44,087,330 42,403,400 20,807,470 21,595,930

Infrastructure 1,756,780 20,403,190 16,872,570 3,530,620

IT 300,000 250,000 208,090 41,910

LAC - Bishopstoke, Fair Oak & Horton Heath 0 2,844,340 333,670 2,510,670

LAC - Bursledon, Hamble & Hound 0 2,034,540 12,530 2,022,010

LAC - Chandler's Ford & Hiltingbury 120,140 288,230 7,840 280,390

LAC - Eastleigh * 759,610 4,091,120 (1,290) 4,092,410

LAC - Hedge End, West End & Botley 6,830 4,610,410 917,250 3,693,160

Leisure * 0 107,580 (63,360) 170,940

Regeneration 750,000 2,673,050 157,380 2,515,670

65,665,690 81,835,120 39,268,440 42,566,680

* Negative values are in respect of the Council's policy on funding retentions and Work in Progress in advance of payment, once

Retentions and Work In Progress have been settled, these will balance to zero

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME

Quarter 2 - 2021/22
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 C

243



Ref Risk Description Cause(s) Existing Risk Controls Impact Likelihood

I L Total

1 Risk that financial sustainability will be 

impacted if the Council are not able to 

deliver/restore financial control. 

Impact of Covid-19 Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes.
Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

2 Failure to deliver strategic priorities due 

to inaccurate financial forecasting

Service and corporate 

expenditure varying from 

plans set by need to fulfil 

strategic priorities

Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes linked to 

strategic objectives requirements
Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

3 Key financial strategies set on the basis 

of inaccurate assessment of the 

Councils overall position

Poor budget preparation 

and poor financial 

monitoring

Sound and effective financial 

systems, Budget holders sign off 

budgets and monitoring 

information.  Central support 

provided to managers from 

Support Services - Financial 

Services Unit

Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

Risk Score 

(Existing 

Controls)

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 D

FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2021/22- Risk Assessment

244



Ref Risk Description Cause(s) Existing Risk Controls Impact Likelihood

I L Total

Risk Score 

(Existing 

Controls)

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 D

FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2021/22- Risk Assessment

4 Interest Rate Pressure Potential for rising interest 

rates above that 

anticipated as part of the 

budget

Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes. Interest rate 

reserve. Engagement of external 

advisor, Arlingclose, to provide 

advice on how the Council can 

manage its investment and 

borrowing portfolio.

Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

5 Additional Borrowing exceeding 

affordable levels

Additional borrowing will 

place pressure on the 

revenue budget particularly 

if interest rates rise

Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes and treasury 

management strategy. Use of 

robust business cases factoring in 

returns based on long term interest 

rate projections.

Significant Unlikely 3 2 6

6 Minimum General Fund balance falls 

below minimum level

Poor control of income and 

expenditure budgets

Budget monitoring systems and 

clear accountabilities for financial 

performance

Serious Very unlikely 4 1 4

Impact ratings: (I) Likelihood ratings: (L)

Minor 1 Very unlikely 1

Moderate 2 Unlikely 2

Significant 3 Possible 3

Serious 4 Likely 4

Major 5 Very likely 5

The risk total is achieved by multiplying the impact score by the likelihood score. 

245



Appendix E

Portfolio Executive Area

Variance

£000's Appendix

Area Committees

Bishopstoke Fair Oak And Horton Heath N/A 0 N/A

Bursledon Hamble-Le-Rice And Hound N/A 0 N/A

Chandler's Ford And Hiltingbury N/A 0 N/A

Eastleigh N/A 0 N/A

Hedge End West End and Botley N/A 0 N/A

0

Skills & Business

Economic Development Planning and Economy (3) K

Eastleigh Business Centre Planning and Economy (168) K

Council Tax Finance and Housing (18) F

NNDR Collection Finance and Housing 8 F

(181)

Environment

Sustainability And Climate Change Environment (6) L

Cemeteries Neighbourhood Services (14) N

Open Spaces Parks And Recreation Grounds Environment (0) L

Tree Works Environment (68) L

Combined Heat And Power Environment (10) L

Renewable Energy Scheme Environment (17) L

Biodiversity Environment 0 L

Countryside - Land Management Environment (6) L

Public Toilets Neighbourhood Services 8 N

Streetscene Neighbourhood Services (34) N

Environmental Health Environment 11 L

Waste Management Neighbourhood Services (299) N

Direct Services Neighbourhood Services 274 N

Technical Services Neighbourhood Services (148) N

Pollution Control Environment (61) L

(370)

Health

CCTV Neighbourhood Services 0 N

Safety & Resilience Organisational Development (0) J

Health & Wellbeing Health and Wellbeing 7 M

Places Leisure Eastleigh Health and Wellbeing 107 M

Playing Fields Health and Wellbeing (0) M

Allotments Health and Wellbeing 0 M

Licensing Act 2003/Gambling Act 2005 Governance 0 H

Arts & Culture Health and Wellbeing 137 M

Countryside Management Health and Wellbeing (4) M

247

Planning & Property

Development Management Planning and Economy (321) K

Planning Policy CLB 1 J

Building Control Partnership Planning and Economy (14) K

Strategic Housing Finance and Housing 2,636 F

Democratic Process Governance (12) H

Communications Organisational Development 13 J

Civic Events And Mayoralty Organisational Development 0 J

Strategic Planning CLB 107 J

Performance & Projects Organisational Development 0 J

Corporation Estates Assets and Project Delivery 61 G

Land Charges Planning and Economy 1 K

Registration Of Electors & Election Expenses Governance 19 H

Accommodation Assets and Project Delivery (3) G

Print And In-House Design Room Customer Care 5 I

Corporate Financial Services (inc Corporate 

Adjustments) Finance and Housing 495 F

Corporate Services Organisational Development 49 J

Corporate Governance Governance 7 H

Service Delivery Neighbourhood Services 0 N

3,043

Total For Health

Total For Planning & Property

General Fund Forecast Variance Summary

Total For Area Commitees

Total For Skills & Business

Total For Environment

246



Social

Customer Services Customer Care 16 I

Housing Benefit & Council Tax Support Finance and Housing 419 F

Home Improvements Health and Wellbeing (3) M

Housing Advice Health and Wellbeing 311 M

Case Management Customer Care 17 I

761

Transport

Highways Agency Services Environment (1) L

Highways Non-Agency Environment 6 L

Borough Council Services Transport Policy Environment 51 L

Hackney Carriages And Private Hire Vehicles Neighbourhood Services 43 N

Parking Services Neighbourhood Services (381) N

(282)

Non-Service-Related Items (3,118)

Net Position 99

Total For Social

Total For Transport

247



Finance & Strategic Housing Programme 
Executive Summary Report 

 
Planning & Property 

 Health & Social Policy and Skills & Business Portfolios 
 

Reporting Date: October 2021 

 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The position for the Executive continues to be a positive one, with all services back operating at 
normal levels as they were prior to the pandemic.  
 
Improvements continue to be made been made across KPIs, with recovery action for NDR 
happening in October to increase collection rates furthermore, process changes have been 
made to speed Benefit Claims up to ensure the KPI remains on target. Key strategic 
development work continues to progress across both Corporate Finance and the Strategic 
Housing Programme. 
 
The Executive is anticipating meeting its objectives as set out in the Corporate Action Plan. 
Good progress has been made with Making Every Contact Count, work is underway to 
establish the Lettings & Management capabilities for both market and affordable homes and 
supporting development of key sites such as Fanfare Place and Pembers Hill. Also £460,000 of 
the government Land Release Fund has successfully been applied for to support delivery of 
The Arch and The Parlour which will enable greater benefits for the local communities. 
 
  

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Corporate Financial Services GREEN GREEN     

Strategic Housing GREEN GREEN     

Council Tax AMBER AMBER     

NNDR Collection AMBER AMBER   

Housing Benefit & Council Tax 
Support 

AMBER AMBER 
    

  

248



2.2 Finance 

 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 (1,739) 2,861 (4,756) 2,956 

Q2 (1,657) 920 (5,189)  3,532 

Q3        

Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All Corporate KPIs to be included 

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

New benefit claim processing 
time 

G G A G G A       

Change in Circumstances 
processing time 

G G G G G G       

Discretionary Housing Payment 
Spend 

A A A A G G       

Council Tax Collection Rate A G G G G G       

NDR Collection Rate G G R R R R       

Number of Additional Homes 
Completed (quarterly) 

  G   G       

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

Short 
Term 

Borrowing 
Rate 

Approx. 
0.05% 

Approx. 0.05%   Below base 
Rate (0.1%) 

Final 
Accounts 
Produced 
& Audited 

20/21 Draft 
account 

published. 
Audit 

Delayed by 
EY until Oct 

2021. 

Audit to be 
done in Qtr 3. 

EY have 
acknowledged 

delay & 
started key 
risk work. 

  

September 
2021(sign off 
now January 

2022) 

  

249



3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

 

 
Skills & Business 
Council Tax – (£17,724) unfavourable 
NNDR Collection - £7,698 favourable 
Collection rates for both Council Tax & Business Rates are improving compared to last year 
however June has seen a decline in Business Rates compared to historical levels. Recovery 
has resumed for Council Tax, which has collection rates to return to 99%. Business Rates 
recovery will recommence in October which will increase collection rates. The Revenue 
Services are forecasting a net overspend of £10,000 this is due to additional spend of £24,000 
on the Empty Homes review which will be fully funded by grant offset by savings on court costs 
of £14,000 these costs will be monitored as recovery resumes with the potential for an ongoing 
saving. 
 
The resource demand of system upgrades continues to be an ongoing issue which is delaying 
work to improve the service, a new role has been funded with a plan to recruit later this year to 
lead system development work. 
 

Health & Social Policy 
Housing Benefit & Council Tax Support - £419,017 
Net Housing & Council Support spend will be £419,000 lower than budget due to increased 
migration to Universal Credit. Recently Track & Trace payments have been extended until 
March 2022 also combined with the announcement of two further support schemes, additional 
temporary resource has been recruited and trained to meet this demand. This will be reflected 
in the upcoming budget process. 
 
Inconsistency in processing times for new benefit claims has been addressed in October which 
will see an improvement over the coming months. However, efforts in this area need to 
recognise the fact that as Universal Credit expands these types of claims will eventually cease. 
 

Planning & Property 
Corporate Financial Services – £487,001 favourable 
Performance remains high in Corporate Finance with the pandemic having limited impact. The 
draft 2020/21 accounts have been published two months before the statutory August deadline 
and significant work has taken place to develop a new Corporate Performance process joining 
up both financial and service performance aligned with the new Executive areas. There is a net 
underspend being reported on this area due to the Government Covid Grant of £532,000 being 
included to fund corporate pressures. This is offset by corporate staff vacancy factor of 
£167,000 which is reduced by staff savings from vacant finance roles. The senior roles within 
Finance have now all been filled. 
 
Strategic Housing - £2.636M favourable 
The Strategic Housing Programme continues to progress at speed as reported to Cabinet in 
June. Work is now well underway for the creation of a new Lettings Service and the reopening 
of the Housing Revenue Account. Further work is now required to develop strategies to the next 
stage and start to determine specific aims of the programme for areas such as housing need 
and climate change. This work may require extra resource and the Affordable Housing Policy & 
Compliance Senior Specialist role (due to be appointed in October) working with the newly 
appointed Residential Manager will be developing a Business Plan for the service. Housing 
Rental income remains on target and the estimated New Homes Bonus Income of £2.6M is 
forecast as a saving for the year which will be transferred to reserve. 

250



  

Service Plan 

 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan  (1,657) (1,657) (1,657) (1,657) (1,657) 

Forecast  (5,189) (2,000) (2,000) (2,000) (2,000) 

The forecast above reflects the ongoing saving of the move to Universal Credit and potential 
savings on court costs. The current year surplus is the estimated New Homes Bonus income 
which will be transferred to reserve. 

 

 

251



Assets and Project Delivery Executive Area  
Executive Summary Report 

Reporting Date: 

12/10/2021 

 

1. Overall Summary 
 
The Executive Area continues to perform well despite challenges to the property portfolio, 
project completions and facilities management due to the pandemic. 
 
The proactive management of the Council’s property portfolio through extensive tenant liaison 
has seen rent collection figures to continue to improve (82.9% collected to mid-September), 
although not yet back to pre-pandemic levels.  This is despite hard to fill vacancies during the 
year which are now being recruited to. 
 
The One Horton Heath team continue to focus on the delivery of the Council’s One Horton 
Heath housing scheme and are fully resourced to enable this landmark project to be delivered. 
 
The Project Management (PM) Team are working well and at capacity ensuring projects are 
well coordinated and delivered in line with project briefs.  In line with national trends the Council 
is seeing increasing costs for construction projects, both for materials and labour, and the 
Project Management Team are reviewing and reporting on trends and individual projects as 
appropriate. 
 
The Facilities Management (FM) Team has continued to be busy during the last quarter 
preparing for the return of staff to Eastleigh House, working on improving Health and Safety 
throughout the Council and also being involved in the approval process for events across the 
Borough which have peaked with the lifting of restrictions. 
 
The repairs and renewals plan, to ensure our assets are well maintained, continues to be 
delivered against.  

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Asset Management Amber Amber     

Facilities Management Amber Amber     

Project Management Green Green     

Building Surveying Green Green    

One Horton Heath Green Green    

2.2 Finance 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

252



(£’000) (Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 (11,679) (4,367) (11,679) 0 

Q2 (11,723) (7,964) (11,781) 58 

Q3     
Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

No KPI’s to report against             

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

Voids 6% (10/163 
lettable 
properties) 

6% (11/163 
lettable 
properties) 

      

Rent 
Collection 
 

76% to the 
end of June 
2021 
 

As at 13 Sept 
2021: 82.90%. 
collected 
totalling 
£6,753,000 

      

         

  

253



3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

 

Asset Management (Corporation Estates - £61,000 Favourable) 

The success in increasing the levels of rental payments received, despite the difficulties 

businesses have suffered during the pandemic, demonstrates the success of building 

relationships with our tenants.  Additional expenditure is being incurred for rates payable and 

holding costs across the property portfolio.  However, this increase in expenditure is offset by 

forecast of additional rental income following favourable rent reviews and minimum RPI 

increases across several properties. 

This success been achieved despite vacancies in the team and challenges to recruit.  External 

recruitment agencies have been employed to help with recruitment and this has seen some 

progress with additional efforts now being made to recruit trainees and “grow our own” to aid 

resilience in future. 

The team work across a number of areas in addition to property management including 

addressing the climate emergency within our property portfolio, the identification and 

assessment of new regeneration opportunities, asset transfers and advising on strategic land 

acquisitions continues. 

Facilities Management (Accommodation - £3,000 unfavourable) 

The FM Team continue to support the Council in reviewing Health and Safety including 

ensuring safe systems of work for employees and processes.  This has been a very time-

consuming role through the pandemic where Health and Safety was paramount and there were 

regular legislative and guidance changes.  Furthermore, the easing of restrictions has seen an 

influx of applications for events on Council land which has seen the workload above normal 

levels for the last quarter.  There has also been additional work arising from the need to ensure 

Eastleigh House is ready for staff to return, in a hybrid way, from mid October 2021.  A review 

of the team is underway to ensure that there is enough capacity to deal with both Facilities 

Management issues and Health and Safety processes now that restrictions have eased, and 

the workload can be better planned and less reactionary. 

Project Management 

The PM Team is working at capacity supporting a number of construction and other projects.  

The requirement to properly link our service areas throughout the preconstruction stage of 

projects requires strengthening with the introduction of a new role of Preconstruction Manager. 

The role will be to liaise with specialists to develop potential projects into fully defined schemes 

for delivery by the PM and/or Building Surveying (BS) teams. 

The team continue to monitor and report on the costs and delays arising in the construction 

industry both as a trend and where they affect individual projects. 

A summary of key projects is as follows: 

One Horton Heath 

The team continue to focus on the delivery of the Council’s One Horton Heath housing scheme 

and are fully resourced to enable this landmark project to be delivered. The next update is 

planned for December 2021 Cabinet. 

Housing 

254



HRA project underway. 

Stoneham Park - first handovers commenced Sept 21 

Pembers Hill – proceeding in line with programme 

Romsey Road Development – handover anticipated Q4. 

Regeneration 

Eastleigh Town Centre toilets – works planned to commence Q4. 

Kestrel Park (Bursledon) – ground works underway with completion anticipated Oct 21 with 12 

months maintenance prior to handover in Summer 22. Play provision being prioritised 

Woodhouse Lane sports facilities – proceeding in line with programme 

Stoneham Community/Nursery – completed May 21 

Post office – Technical design underway to allow development to commence Q4. 

The Arch – Response to pre-app comments underway. External funding approved from 

Brownfield Land Release Fund. 

IVCP –Architects appointed. Planning submission anticipated Q3 with determination anticipated 

Q4. 

Building Surveying 

The Building Surveying teams are working at capacity. External support is being considered to 

assist the with the completion of the Repairs and Renewal (R&R) programme, funded through 

the R&R budget.  There have been delays due to building access issues through the pandemic 

although these have now passed. 

Recruitment/ Retention 

In both the Asset Management (AM) and FM teams’ vacant posts remain. Whilst efforts 

continue to fill these this is creating pressure on the current staff to cover the vacancies with 

additional hours being worked to help proved resilience. Support has been provided from within 

the PM team to coordinate several of the more critical tasks. External recruitment consultants 

have been engaged to support AM and this has resulted in one of the vacant post being filled – 

albeit not at Senior level. Resource plan is to work with career pathways for specialists to 

support progression from within. 

FM resource continues to support the Future Ways of Working project to plan the return of staff 

to Eastleigh House, adding to the pressures on the team. 

Income 

Additional expenditure is being incurred for rates payable and holding costs across the property 

portfolio. However, this increase in expenditure is offset by forecast of additional rental income 

following favourable rent reviews and minimum RPI increases across several properties. 

Construction Costs 

There is a general issue related to the increase of costs and materials, which will have an 

impact on projects. Construction material and labour costs have been rising since June 2020. 

This is impacting on the residential and commercial construction industry and on other Council 

projects. 

255



Environment Portfolio 

Provision made within IVCP project to factor in tree planting to assist with Borough target. 

New fly tipping response process agreed. IT are updating Salesforce to incorporate new 

processes required. Staff training/ induction being carried out November 21. 

Economy 

The Green project (if approved) will generate circa 50 new jobs and regenerate a vacant site at 

the entrance to Eastleigh Borough. Planning submission Oct 2021 – determination anticipated 

Dec/Jan 22. 

Health & Social Policy 

Further equalities training planned. 

One Public Estate partnership work with CCG ongoing, specialist advice provided for Eastleigh 

Southern Parishes agreement and potential sites for health hub to be considered. 
 

Service Plan 

How does the above impact your service plan? 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan      
Forecast      

 

256



Governance Executive Area  
Planning and Property Portfolio  

Health Portfolio 

Executive Summary Report 

Reporting Date: 

06/10/2021 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The Governance Executive Area overall is performing well with work to support priorities 
identified within the Corporate Action Plan being progressed. 
 
The need to hold face to face meetings to ensure decisions can be taken, whilst the Covid-19 
pandemic is still circulating has put additional pressure on the Democratic Services Team. 
Some meetings have been cancelled where no decisions are due to be taken and other 
unplanned meetings have been scheduled.  
 
Following the successful delivery of the 2021 election, the team is now progressing the annual 
canvass work with the deadline of the publication of the electoral register on 1 December 2021. 
 
The Legal Services Team continued to provide a professional service to the Council although 
carrying a number of vacancies.  
 
The Internal Audit Team continues to deliver the Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 and reports 
progress to the Audit and Resources Committee regularly.   

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Corporate Governance (Internal 
Audit & Legal) Amber Amber     

Licensing Green Green     

Democratic Services Amber Amber     

Electoral Services Green Green     

2.2 Finance 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Variance 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 1,602 563 1,600 2 

Q2 1,580 1,110 1,565 15 

Q3        

Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
257



KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1 FOI/EIR requests 
responded to within SLA (%, and 
actual number of requests) 
Green = more than 90% 

Amber = more than 85% 

Red = 85% or less 

 

G 
98
% 
56/ 
57 

G 
100
% 
47/ 
47 

G 
100
% 
56/ 
56 

G 
96
% 
54/ 
56 

G 
94
% 
49/ 
52 

G 
91
% 
63/ 
69 

      

  

258



3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

Democratic Services -Planning and Property Portfolio (£11,730): 
There has been an overspend of £11,730 in Democratic Services predominantly due to the 
need to hold face to face meetings safely in venues outside of Eastleigh House and 
expenditure on Councillor mobile devices due to increased data usage for virtual meetings as 
some councillors do not have a reliable connection. The contract is being reviewed to ensure it 
represents value for money based on data usage. It is planned that meetings will return to 
Eastleigh House from January 2022 and therefore the impact on the budget is short-term and 
no growth is anticipated.  
 
During the quarter Democratic Services ensured that Council, Cabinet, Committee and Panel 
meetings took place safely face to face. Individual risk assessments were produced for the 
meetings and agendas closely reviewed to determine if a meeting was necessary. Where there 
was not substantive business or decisions to take, meetings were cancelled. Face to face 
meetings until 2022 are scheduled at venues across the Borough as Eastleigh House cannot 
be used until January 2022.  
 
Democratic Services and the Executive Head of Governance are co-ordinating the independent 
review of Councillor Allowances. An Independent Remuneration Panel, with a minimum of 3 
members, will need to be recruited during quarter 3 and guided through the review. This work 
will be absorbed by the current team.  
 
Elections – Planning & Property Portfolio £19,111: 
Following the successful delivery of the 2021 election, the team is now progressing the annual 
canvass work with the deadline of the publication of the electoral register on 1 December 2021. 
 
There is currently a forecast underspend of £19,111 in Elections assuming the election costs 
for the PCC and HCC will be fully reimbursed by the respective authorities on submission of the 
accounting claims (reimbursement could take up to six months). This forecast underspend will 
be allocated to reserves. It should also be noted that there was a one-off grant of £42,000, 
issued due to running an election against the backdrop of Covid-19.  Going forward there will 
be no such grant so this will mean that the budget could potentially be overspent if 
supplementary Covid-19 health and safety measures are needed for future elections. 
   
The Parliamentary Constituency Boundary Review consultation commenced during the first 
quarter. During the second quarter the Administration Committee discussed the impact of the 
Boundary Review and submitted their response to the Boundary Commission as part of the 
consultation.  
 
Corporate Governance (Legal & Internal Audit) - Planning & Property Portfolio  £7,108: 
Airport Planning Application Judicial Review progressing. Counsel advice being sought and 
External Legal Advice being procured. The budget is being monitored by Executive Head of 
Planning & Economy.  
 
The Resource Manager and Executive Head have worked with Legal to review activity and 
capacity to deliver key priorities whilst the team had vacant posts. 3 appointments have been 
made, one internal and 2 external, with one vacancy remaining. The newly appointed Legal 
Services Manager is reviewing the team structure. Currently the service is delivering as usual 
and workload is manageable but this is also due to key vacancies in client departments. If 
vacancies in client departments are filled this will have a ripple effect as demands for legal work 
will increase and given the need to train and support new staff whilst they transition to their new 

259



roles the service has been given a RAG status of amber. During the quarter the Legal Team 
filed the Council’s response to the two judicial review claims served against the decision to 
permit the application to extend the runway at Southampton International Airport Ltd.  
 
During the quarter improvements to the arrangements for asset transfers were identified and 
discussions are taking place to ensure responsibility and accountability for the process is 
clearly articulated. 
 
The Legal Team has also continued to support the Council with, asset transfers, property 
acquisitions, lease arrangements, contract arrangements, planning advice, enforcement, data 
protection advice, procurement and insurance support.  
 
Work is continuing on Risk Management and embedding this across the organisation. 
Resource to support this needs to be identified within existing resources or within Case 
Management. This will be considered as part of the Legal Services Manager’s review of the 
team structure. A new template for the Corporate Risk Register and Operational Risk Register 
is being rolled out. The Annual Risk Management report was presented to Strategic Risk 
Management Group (SRMG) in September 2021. It will be presented to the Audit and 
Resources Committee in October 2021 and Cabinet in December 2021.  
 
Internal Audit are progressing with delivery of the Internal Audit Plan 2021/22. Next monitoring 
report (Quarter 2) to be presented to the Audit & Resources Committee in November 2021. The 
Team continues to closely monitor delivery of audit recommendations and liaise with Executive 
Heads to ensure appropriate action is being taken within the agreed timescales. 
 
Finance is currently separating the Corporate Governance Budget between Legal & Audit 
Services as currently combined. This will take effect from 2022/23.  
 
Licensing – Health Portfolio  
The Licensing budget transferred to the Governance Executive Area on 7 October 2021 and 

therefore more scrutiny is due to take place by the Legal Services Manager and Executive 

Head of Governance.  

 

A review of the contract with Southampton City Council is currently being undertaken, to ensure 

that the new contract from the 1st December 2021 details all the requirements and performance 

measures for the service.  Safeguarding training for drivers is an outstanding issue that will 

affect the ongoing budget requirement of the services. Initial training will be met by reserves 

and fees and charges will be set to cover the costs. However, this is currently under review as 

Councillors have indicated a wish for the trade not to pay for this. The service will return to 

Eastleigh House from the Depot at Hedge End during quarter 3 which will address some health 

and safety and GDPR requirements. 

  

Following the reduction in licence applications due to the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020/21, the 
income target for 2021/22 was reduced. Currently the service has received more enquiries for 
Taxi Licences than forecast. 
 
A review of the fees and charges will be undertaken to ensure that the correct charges are 
being charged. It should be noted that licensing is a ring fenced service and the budget is set to 
balance.  Other local authorities have reduced their charges to the trade which may cause a 
reduction in demand for licences in the next financial year as the trade seek licences from other 
Councils. 
 

Monitoring Officer summary: 
New Parish & Town Council – Monitoring Officer (MO) is the Project Sponsor – a Locum Clerk 
has been appointed to support the formation of the shadow council, new website, stakeholder & 260



community engagement. Election takes place May 2022. Currently work is being carried out to 
identify the assets which could potentially transfer under a programme of asset transfers once 
the new parish councils have been established. External Legal advice is needed and it is 
anticipated that this will cost up to £10k which will be met within the existing project budget. 
 
During the quarter the Modern Slavery Statement 2020/21 was presented to Cabinet and 
approved. This has now been published on the Council’s website and Gov.UK Modern Slavery 
Statement Registry.  
 
The Constitution review project is progressing. The Draft Constitution was shared with the 
Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel who formed a working group to review, discuss and 
suggest changes. Recommendations have been made by the working group which the Policy 
and Performance Scrutiny Panel have asked the 3 group leaders to review ahead of Full 
Council in November when it will be presented for approval.  
 
  

Service Plan 

How does the above impact your service plan? 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan 1,602 1,660 1,660 1,660 1,660 

Forecast 1,565 1,610 1,610 1,610 1,610 
 

 

261



Executive Area Customer Care 
Social Policy Portfolio  

Executive Summary Report 

Reporting Date: 

September 2021 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The Customer Care Executive Area was newly formed in 2021 and brings together what were 4 
separate teams into one.  The initial focus has been on bringing the budgets together, 
improving forecasting as well as better understanding demand and where spend should be 
focussed in order to maintain service delivery and support the delivery of the Corporate Action 
Plan.  
 
Customer Care resources have also been diverted to help deliver other responsive corporate 
priorities, including assisting Direct Services with Waste Collection and providing support to the 
evacuee resettlement operation.  
 
The Executive Area is in the main working well although, as the performance information 
indicates, there are some areas that need closer scrutiny over the coming months to improve 
service delivery.  Plans are in place to address issues in invoice payment times, planning 
enforcement and debt recovery and improvements in these indicators should be seen before 
the end of the financial year. 

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Customer Services  Green Green     

Case Management Support  Amber Amber     

Case Management Service 
Delivery 

Amber Amber 
    

Local Area Services Amber Amber     

2.2 Finance 

 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 

2,919 

 

903 2,940 

 

(21,000) 

 

Q2 2,998 

 

1,744 2,960 

 

38,000 

 

Q3        

Q4     

  
262



2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 
Council Tax - Customers with outstanding 
account queries older than 15 days (number) 
Green < 200 
Amber < 400 
Red >400 

G 
89 

G 
115 

R 
665 

R 
759 

R 
121
2 

R 
170
6 

      

New benefit (Council Tax or Housing Benefit) 
claims received (number) 
Workflow indicator only 

124 112 141 147 138 171       

Time to process new benefit (Council Tax 
Support & Housing Benefit) claims (days) 
Green < 22 days 
Amber < 11 days 
Red > 11 days 

R 
21 

R 
20 

R 
24 

G 
21 

G 
22 

G 
16.8 

      

Time to process benefit (Council Tax Support 
& Housing Benefit) change events (days) 
Green < 22 days 
Amber < 11 days 
Red > 11 days 

G 
4.0 

G 
4.9 

G 
5.7 

G 
4.5 

G 
6.15 

G 
5.9 

      

Customer complaints (number) 
No target 
 

66 77 104 46 42 43       

Corporate complaints outside SLA (%, and 
actual number of complaints) 
Green < 25% 
Red > 25% 

G 
11% 
7/66 

G 
16% 
12/7

7 

G 
8% 
(8/1
04) 

R 
31% 
(14/
46) 

G 
14%
6/42 

G 
20% 
9/43 

      

Invoices paid within 10 days (%)  
Green > 75% 
Amber > 70% 
Red <70% 

R 
52% 

R 
50% 

R 
38% 

R 
36% 

R 
30% 

R 
24% 

      

Cases raised across all service areas 
(number) 
Green > 5,000 
Amber < 5,000 
Red < 4,000 

G 
6095 

A 
4726 

G 
5874 

G 
7224 

G 
5928 

G 
6433 

      

Average case duration for cases raised 
across all service areas (working days)   

 
13 38 19 37 18 7       

Cases raised via the Members' Hub (number) 
Green > 40 
Amber < 40 
Red < 20 

A 
33 

A 
35 

G 
40 

A 
31 

R 
17 

A 
32 

      

Average case duration for cases raised via 
the Members' Hub (working days)   

 
13 38 19 37 29 20       

Noise nuisance requests responded to on 
time (% & actual number of requests) 
Green > 90% 
Amber < 90% 
Red <75% 

A 
84% 
(27/3

2) 

G 
94%
29/3

1 

A 
88% 
(37/4

2) 

G 
99% 

G 
100
% 

G 
94% 
45/48 

      

CSC - Interactions handled  
(average number per working day, no 
target, workflow indicator) 

942 842 945 882 847 812       

CSC - Calls answered vs. offered (%) 
Green = 85% 
Amber = 80% 
Red = < 80% 

A 
84% 

A 
83% 

A 
82% 

A 
84% 

A 
82 

G 
85% 

      

CSC - Customer interactions resolved at first 
point of contact (%) 

G 
70% 

G 
65% 

G 
60% 

G 
60% 

G 
60% 

G 
60% 

      

DM Enforcement Priority 3 
Closed within target (80%) 

R 
48% 

R 
50% 

R 
48% 

R 
45% 

R 
50% 

R 
33% 

      

DM Enforcement Priority 3 
Initial visit within target (80%) 

G 
93% 

G 
85% 

G 
85% 

A 
79% 

G 
94% 

G 
87% 

      

DM Enforcement Priority 4 
Closed within target (80%) 

A 
73% 

A 
63% 

R 
29% 

R 
0% 

R 
50% 

R 
0% 

      

  

263



3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

 
Budget  
The forecast position as at Q2 is a slight favourable variance, predominately made up of 
managed vacancies.  Work is ongoing to ensure resources and spend are prioritised and 
allocated effectively to address areas where there is high demand and to help improve service 
support.   
 
Case Management/Local Area Services £22,000 (favourable)  
Customer Services - £16,000 (favourable) 
 
 
Case Management (Support)  
Performance in respect of the payment of invoices within 10 days has reduced. A combination 
of issues have contributed to this, including the administration of Additional Restriction Grants 
and Test & Trace payments arising from the pandemic. We are investigating other ways to 
better understand demand in this area and productivity so we can allocate resources 
accordingly.   
 
Case Management (Service Delivery) 
Council Tax – performance continues to be red, with an increase in the number of cases being 
worked on, with the main area being the recommencement of debt recovery which had been 
paused due to the pandemic.  Additional resources are being allocated to this work area to 
improving performance prior to Annual Billing in February 2022 and work on further automation 
later this year should result in some improvements in efficiency.  
 
The corporate refresh of ‘Councillor Cases’ delivered by the team has trained 125 staff and 13 
councillors during September to meet the deadline, and the embed phase is now overlapping 
with the end of the training phase.  An increase in cases raised by Councillors can be seen in 
September.  The duration of cases is expected to stay the same or increase as the quality of 
service improves. 
 
Corporate Complaints – a peak in the number of complaints being received can be seen in 
June, the main contributing factor was the number of missed bin complaints as a result of the 
changes to rounds, however as these have reduced so has the number of complaints and 
subsequently performance against the response time SLA has also improved.  
 
Customer Services continues to perform well overall. 
 
Local Area Services 
 
There have been several staffing changes in this area in Q1 & 2, including the resignation of 
the Team Leader, the secondment of 1 full time equivalent, (FTE) to Countryside and 1 FTE 
diverted to assist Direct Services. This has resulted in some resourcing challenges which can 
be seen in the above performance information around planning enforcement work. These are 
expected to remain for the immediate future; however plans are now in place to address this 
from November onwards, with performance expected to gradually improve as vacancies are 
filled and staff have been trained. 
 
A new interim Team Leader has been appointed and the key areas of focus are on work 

allocation and individual and service performance and improving performance reporting as well 

264



as improving resilience. With regards to Planning Enforcement specifically, we are within target 

with site visits, but the time taken to close cases is showing as red. This is in part due to the 

way this KPI is measured, and we are reviewing this with the Planning Enforcement Team.  
 

 

Service Plan 

How does the above impact your service plan? 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan 2,998 

 

2,853 2,853 2,853 2,853 

Forecast 2,998 2,853 2,853 2,853 2,853 

 

265



Organisational Development – Planning and 
Property/Health Portfolios 

Executive Summary Report 

Reporting Date: 

11/10/2021 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The Organisational Development Executive Area is a new team and it consists of 
Communications and Marketing, Human Resources (HR), Information Technology (IT), Safety 
and Resilience and Resource Management. During this quarter, it has had mixed success in 
filling vacancies and consequently, resources remain stretched especially within (IT) and (HR). 
Understanding the demands on our services is imperative and a prioritisation exercise is being 
undertaken in line with the annual strategic planning cycle. The team continues to support the 
delivery of the Corporate Action Plan. 

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service 
Quarter 

1 
Quarter 

2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Organisational Development 

Communications and Marketing Amber Amber   

Human Resources  Red Amber     

Information Technology  Red Red     

Performance  Amber Green     

Safety & Resilience Amber Amber   

Strategy 

Strategic Planning Green Green   

Planning Policy Green Green   

2.2 Finance 
 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Unde
rspent 

Organisational Development 

Q1  2,398 1,347  2,354 43 

Q2  2,459 1,802 2,398 61 

Q3        

Q4     

Strategy 

Q1 1,986 183 1,695 291 

Q2 2,018 478 1,910 108 
266



Q3     

Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1  
Corporate sickness 
(average number of 
working days lost due 
to sickness absence 
per employee per 
year) Green = less than 
7 days 

 

6.1 
(G) 

6.0 
(G) 

6.0 
(G) 

6.0 
(G) 

5.7 
(G) 

 
5.7 
(G) 

      

KPI 2  
Staff turnover (% of 
people voluntarily 
resigning cf. total 
headcount for rolling 12 
month period) Green = 
15% or less  
Amber = 18% or less  
Red = more than 18%  
 

9.0 
(G) 

10.0 
(G) 

11.0 
(G) 

12.0 
(G) 

13.2 
(G) 

14.1 
(G) 

      

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

              

           

  
  
          

 

3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

Planning and Property Portfolio 
 
Communications and Marketing (Variance – 13k) 
The team has supported the Afghan resettlement programme and conducted high profile 
campaigns for the annual canvass, Park Sport, Borough Gems businesses, the new market in 
Hamble and the waste prevention grant. Promotion of the Council’s events continued especially 
within Eastleigh Town Centre, The Point and Itchen Valley Country Park. 
Service Key Performance Indicators show a pleasing increase in followers across all types of 
communications including the Borough News and social media. 
The current variance is largely due to an underspend on staffing which is being reviewed by the 
Head of Service. A positive variance of £8,000 is currently being forecasted because of a 
projected continued reduction in sponsorship income, and the cost of forthcoming campaigns 
and the Future Ways of Working project. 
 
 267



Human Resources (Variance - £12k) 
A Senior HR Advisor was appointed in August but one full time vacancy remains and this will 
hopefully be filled in November. Extra hours have been authorised to deal with the backlog and 
volume of existing work so this service will be on budget by year end. The vacancies have 
restricted the amount of project work that the team has undertaken. However it has been 
supporting Managers with recruitment campaigns in addition to advising on restructures 
resulting from the creation of the new Executive Head team. Statutory requirements such as 
completing and publishing the Gender Pay Gap analysis have also been met and regular 
information on health and wellbeing has been distributed to staff and councillors. 
An extensive development programme for Executive Heads has continued into this quarter 
coupled with coaching sessions for senior managers. 
The corporate turnover figure will be closely monitored as it is showing an upward trend. 
Surveys from voluntary leavers reveal career advancement or retirement as the top reasons for 
resigning.  
The corporate sickness figure shows a slight downward trend. Further analysis will be 
undertaken in quarter 3 to confirm whether there are any specific Executive Areas of concern 
which may be hidden by this overall figure. 
 
Information Technology (Variance - £36k) 
Resources remain stretched due to increased workload and long - term vacancies. Inevitably 
this has affected performance and a new recruitment campaign will commence in October.  
The existing IT programme will be reviewed in line with the Council’s priorities and resources. 
This exercise has begun with the Executive Team and further work is planned in November 
which will result in consideration of a new Programme by the Organisational Development 
Review Group. 
In terms of live projects, waste collection schemes remain a high priority along with transferring 
applications to a new web service. Online discounts and exemptions have also gone live. 
Budget planning to align capital and revenue is in progress. The current variance will not be 
realised and there is a high risk of an overspend. An accurate forecast will be completed for 
quarter 3. 
 
Performance (Variance - £0k) 
The team has focused on resource reviews for areas with performance concerns. Strategic planning 

and finding solutions to resource challenges have been emerging priorities in this quarter. A major 

recruitment review will be undertaken with the HR team and will focus on the areas of attract, 

recruit and retain. The scope and importance of this project has been agreed and 

acknowledged by the Executive Team. Consequently, the budget for the vacant post of Service 

Improvement Officer, will be utilised on a temporary basis to appoint a recruitment specialist instead.  

Health Portfolio 
 
Safety and Resilience (Variance - £0k) 
The impact of Covid is lessening enabling more focus on increasing partnership working. 
Successful emergency planning exercises have been carried out and recruitment to the 
Borough’s Emergency Control Centre is underway.  
The Safety and Resilience Manager continues to lead on safeguarding issues and training for 
the Council and is also co-ordinating a multi-agency group to resolve safeguarding issues in 
Eastleigh Town Centre. This is a high priority for the Council but it is inevitably impacting on his 
workload and will need to be monitored in quarter 3. 
The Supporting Families programme has been acknowledged as the best in Hampshire. 
 
All services in the Organisational Development Executive Area have contributed to the 
Council’s Future Ways of Working project. The first phase of this project has involved three 
aims; namely, planning for the return of more staff to Eastleigh House on 18 October; an 
extension of hybrid working and an increase in collaboration through different uses of the space 

268



at Eastleigh House and the use of alternative workplaces such as Itchen Valley Country Park 
and The Point The first phase of the project will run until mid-April on a trial basis.  
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Strategy 
 
Strategic Planning (reporting direct to CLB, included here for indicative purposes) – 
Variance £107k 
Variance due to whole-year budget being transferred for two Planning Policy posts for which 
recruitment started in August 2021; plus underspend from 6 month vacancy of Environment 
lead. Strategy Development work (across Health, Environment and Economy/Town and Local 
Centres), and support for an improved Annual Planning Cycle progressing well. 
 
Planning Policy (reporting direct to CLB, included here for indicative purposes) – 
Variance £1k 
Local Plan work progressing well towards adoption as expected. A range of Planning Policy 
work also underway including Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space, Supplementary 
Planning Documents, Partnership for South Hampshire. 
 
  

Service Plan 

How does the above impact your service plan? 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Organisational Development 

Per service plan 2,459 2,459 2,459 2,459 2,459 

Forecast 2,398 2,459 2,459 2,459 2,459 

Strategy 

Per Service Plan 2,017 2,017 2,017 2,017 2,017 

Forecast 1,910 2,017 2,017 2,017 2,017 
 

 

269



Planning and Economy  

Executive Summary Report 
 

Planning and Housing; Economy Portfolios.   
Reporting Date: October 2021 

 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The position for the Executive is demonstrating good performance against key performance 
indicators for Development Management and Economy & Business. Measures and investment 
within Planning Enforcement are being put in place to improve the effective and timely 
conclusion of cases. At Q2 an unfavourable forecast financial variance is reported primarily due 
to costs associated with defending the two Judicial Reviews against the airport planning 
decision, reduced income from Wessex House whilst pending refurbishment and increased 
staffing costs within the Development Management service.  

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Development Management Green Amber     

Planning Enforcement Red Red     

Urban & Landscape Design Green Amber     

Economy and Business Green Green   

Eastleigh Business Centre Amber Amber   

Building Control  Green Green   

Land Charges Red Amber   

Heritage and Conservation Green Green     

2.2 Finance 

 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 186 664 376, (190) 

Q2 186 773 692 (506) 

Q3        

Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1 – DM Major App (60% - 13 weeks) 50      
R 

100 
G 

100 
G 

100 
G 

50   
R 

66       
G       

KPI 2 – DM Minor App (65% - 8 weeks) 56      
R 

69  
G 

100 
G 

89.5 
G 

87  
G 

77       
G 

      

270



KPI 3 – DM Other Apps (80% - 8 weeks) 76      
R 

694 
G 

96  
G 

81  
G 

93  
G 

92       
G       

KPI 4 – DM Quality of service (Planning 
appeals allowed as a proportion of all 
planning application decisions (<10%) 

0        
G 

0.6 
G 

0     
G 

0.54 
G 

0     
G 

0.48    
G 

      

KPI 5 – EB Businesses supported 
(number per month and YTD) including 
Wessex House and Platform4 Business 
(1,000+) 

1169  
YTD    
G 

622 
1791 
G 

204 
1995 
G 

19 
2014 
G 

68 
2082 
G 

57 
2139   
G 

      

KPI 6 – EB Occupancy rate for 
tenantable space at Eastleigh Business 
Centre* (75%) 

71     
A 

73  
A 

72  
A 

72  
A 

72  
A 

72       
A 

      

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 
Enforcement site visit 
(Specialist)  

85% (G) 85% (G) 

  

80% 

Enforcement site visit 
(Specialist & Localities 
combined)  

86% (G) 85% (G) 

  

80% 

Enforcement closed 
cases (Specialist) 

71% (A) 55% (R) 

  

80% 

Enforcement closed 
cases (Specialist & 
Localities combined) 

57% (R) 45.4% (R) 
  80% 

Land Charges 
completed in 10 
working days 

68.5 (R) 

 94.4 (A)   100% 

 

3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

 
At Q2 an unfavourable forecast financial variance is reported of £506,000. This is primarily as a 
result of the inclusion of forecast external legal costs that could be incurred (£200,000) in 
defending the two judicial reviews (JRs) lodged against the Council’s approval of the planning 
application to extend the runway at Southampton International Airport. This will be funded from 
the reserve.  Despite this funding, the forecast variance remains negative with an expected 
drop in income for DM planning application fees of £29,000.  Income from Eastleigh Business 
Centre is also forecast at a loss of £168,000 for 2020/21 although this will be funded from the 
property reserve. 
 
 
Housing & Development: Planning & Property Portfolio 
 
Development Management has performed well against the KPIs for quarter 2, with just 1 of the 
major applications determined falling outside of the statutory decision period. Performance 
across minors and other applications remains strong, combined with quality of decisions 
remaining extremely high measured against decisions over-turned at appeal. The service is 
forecasting an unfavourable variance at the end of the year of £321,000.  This includes the 
estimated cost of the Judicial Reviews (£200,000) against the airport decision which will be 
funded by reserves.  The remaining unfavourable financial position of £121,000 relates to 
staffing costs and a drop in planning application income.  Agency staff were employed to 
maintain service delivery during a period of significant recruitment. The cost of using agency 

271



staff has been partly offset by salary savings from vacant posts with a forecast staffing 
overspend at the end of the year of £76,000.  All posts have been now been appointed to with 
new staff starting throughout October which should prevent continued additional staffing costs. 
A negative variance of £29,000 is forecast for income due to a reduction in new major 
development proposals in part due to the development industry recovering post Covid 19. The 
budget is being monitored and forecasting considers major schemes expected during the 
remaining six months.  
 
Planning Enforcement initial contact and investigations across all four priority areas meets the 
performance target but a drop in the closure of cases continues in quarter 2. A combination of 
factors has influenced the drop in performance including an increase in high priority cases, an 
increase in formal action being taken and appeal work alongside continued vacancies within the 
Specialists and Localities teams. Measures to improve performance have been introduced with 
new recruits starting in October and performance forecast to improve from quarter 3. The 
Localities team are continuing to find meeting performance targets challenging and the 
Executive Heads for Planning and Economy and Customer Care are developing strategies to 
improve workflow, information sharing and performance.  
 
Building Control is delivered by Southampton CC through the Partnership Agreement. This 
remains a successful arrangement with performance exceeding statutory national targets, with 
more stringent continuous improvements targets set by the Partnership Manager in the main 
being met. Costs are forecast to be a negative variance of £19,000 for contracted service (8% 
increase) and this would be funded by the reserve. A review of the EBC / SCC Partnership 
agreement has been undertaken and the drafting of a new Agreement is likely to be completed 
during quarter 3. 
 
Land Charges has seen a reduction in searches to more seasonal levels as the Stamp Duty 
free period closed at the end of September. Performance improved significantly closing the 
quarter just 0.5% from meeting the 100% target in September.  
 
Urban and Landscape Design –continue to deliver projects and provide support to the 
Development Management service on schemes including the One Horton Heath strategic 
housing site. An amber rating is included for Q2 to reflect the 25% reduction in resources due to 
one resignation and the resultant delay in delivery of some smaller projects 
 
Heritage – the statutory service of providing advice on heritage matters continues to be 
successfully delivered through an outsourcing arrangement and is commensurate to the 
quantum of relevant planning applications.  
 
Economy Portfolio 
 
Economy and Business has made progress with the employer engagement programme and 
outdoor markets in Hedge End and Hamble. Wessex House occupancy are forecast to remain 
at current levels or below for the rest of the financial year with the forecast loss of income of 
£168,000 to be funded from the property reserve.  The potential for refurbishment works to 
maximise occupancy are under consideration based on business case to be funded from the 
repairs an renewals reserve. The launch of the Youth Employment Hub (YEH), information and 
advice service for young people looking for skills and employment opportunities in partnership 
with three adjoining local authorities has been delayed to November 2021 whilst the teams are 
established, and the venues secured across the partnership. The YEH is the only Hub within 
the country that is to be delivered in such partnership and demonstrates the need for 
considering cross boundary investment in skills and support. A set back with the opening of 
alternative accommodation for the Sorting Office whilst the premises are being made ready for 
occupation.   
 

272



The tight timetable for submission of the Freeport Outline Business Case was met and 
Government final comments are awaited. Councillors will be updated as the bid progresses 
through quarter 3.  

Service Plan 

How does the above impact your service plan? 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan 186 186 186 186 186 

Forecast 629 186 186 186 186 
 

 

273



Environment Executive Summary Report 
 

Environment and Transport 
 

Reporting Date: October 2021 
 

 

1. Overall Summary 
 
The Environment Executive area is still disparate with Land Management and the Tree Team 
overseen by the Executive Head of Neighbourhood Services. All services remain busy, some 
with legacy impacts of Covid as they return to business as usual. Whilst there remain 
resourcing pressures in some services, Q2 has seen a number of difficult to fill posts recruited 
to.  
 
Overall the Executive area is performing well with many areas of work identified within the 
Corporate Action Plan being progressed as planned. There are some areas where delivery has 
fallen behind schedule, including Sustainable Transport and Climate Change, and more detail 
on the reasons for these delays, and the action being taken to mitigate these, can be found 
within the commentary in this report.  
 
There is a forecast overspend of £95,000, the majority of which (£66,000) is attributable to 
contractors employed in the Environmental Health team to assist with Covid recovery. This cost 
will be funded from the Contain Outbreak Management Fund.  
  

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Sustainability & Climate Change R R     

CHP & Renewable Energy G G     

Biodiversity/Ecology G G     

Environmental Health G G   

Air Quality/Pollution  A A   

Sustainable Transport R R     

2.2 Finance 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 2,029 499 2,055 (26) 

Q2 2,015 865 2,110 (95) 

Q3        

Q4     

274



2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1.6 Air Quality Monitoring             

KPI 1.7 Noise Nuisance 
Requests 

A G A G G        

KPI 3             

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

X           

Y           

Z           

 

3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

 
The Environment Executive area remains in a period of transition whilst work is undertaken to 
consolidate the team, induct new staff and bring the teams up to full capacity. The positions of 
Strategy Development Senior Specialist (Environment) and Executive Head (Environment), 
have been appointed to in this quarter which will support the delivery of corporate actions for 
this area. 
 
Transport 
 
Sustainable Transport - £57,000 
 

This team is resourced with 1 FTE and significant work was undertaken on Eastleigh Town 
Centre road closures during the Covid pandemic which has resulted in a delay in progressing 
projects.  
 
There is a projected positive variance of c.£50k from a reduction in public transport patronage 
as a result of Covid. The long-term effects of Covid on the patronage of public transport are yet 
to be fully understood. The County Council will be publishing a Bus Service improvement plan 
which may help EBC to identify how this funding can be invested in the coming months. Please 
note that the finances for Sustainable Transport are reported in Neighbourhoods, and therefore 
do not contribute to the forecast overspend in section 2.2. 
 
The preferred supplier has been selected for the BHH Public Art Vision & History & Heritage 
Wayfinding Trail project. Work on community engagement and design can now begin. A 
number of local transport services have been commissioned to support access to EBC cultural 
events, this includes the provision of transport to family fun days held at Itchen Valley Country 
Park, targeted at families in receipt of free school meals, and to enable families in the Afghan 
Resettlement Scheme to attend the Eastleigh Mela.  
 
Environment 
 
Ecology - £1,500 
 

275



Performance remains high in Ecology and within budget. Work on the Biodiversity Strategy is 
ongoing, and this will be taken to public consultation later in the year. The team are working 
closely with Natural England to explore the development of Suitable Alternative Natural 
Greenspaces (SANGS) to offset the impact of additional visitors to the New Forest National 
Park from development in the borough. Hampshire Biodiversity Information Centre (HBIC) have 
been engaged to establish a baseline for biodiversity net gain for land strategically acquired by 
EBC. There are opportunities to maximise the benefits from land acquired to fulfil multiple 
strategic ambitions including SANG provision, nutrient neutrality and carbon capture.  
 
 
Combined Heat & Power / Renewable Energy – (£27,000) 
 

Renewable Energy Inspections were carried out last financial year which resulted in a planned 
maintenance programme for this financial year which has caused a forecast overspend. This 
will be reviewed as part of the budget setting process to see if it can be part of the capital 
program. Electric Vehicle chargers are being installed in Eastleigh carparks – Channon Retail 
Park, Chestnut Retail Park, Romsey Road Car Park and Places Leisure Eastleigh Car Park. 
Phase 1 of the installations (laying foundations) begins early October.  
 
Chalcroft Solar Farm is a separate company, wholly owned by EBC. The wholesale electricity 
price is directly linked to the wholesale gas price because a lot of electricity is generated from 
gas. We have benefitted from this because the Solar Park’s costs remain unchanged and EBC 
sell electricity at the market price which has increased from £64/MW in May to £106/MW in 
August. The revenue impact of the solar park will be additional income to the environment 
executive of £859,000 per annum from 2022/23. These figures are contained within the MTFP, 
and will be introduced to the executives budgets in line with the upcoming budget setting 
process. The assets of the solar company are currently in the process of being transferred into 
the Council, and once complete it is likely there will be further revenue income in the 2021/2022 
financial year, once the values are finalised, they will be included in the relevant quarter’s ESR.  
 
 
Sustainability and Climate Change – (£6,000) 
 

The Climate and Environmental Emergency (CEE) programme has experienced delays due to 
staff recruitment and resource constraints in both staff time and budget. The CEE action plan 
has 41 actions, nine of which are on target/complete, seven are assessed as amber and 25 
considered red. Therefore, the overall programme has been given a RAG status of Red for Q2. 
Additional financial resources have been drawn down from reserves (£105k) and reallocated 
from the replacements and renewals budget (£150k) to enable action to be taken against the 
highest priorities in the CEE action plan. All vacant posts have now been filled (Strategy 
Development Senior Specialist (Environment) and Green Energy Manager). It is anticipated 
that over Q3 and Q4 the programme will move from red to amber/green.  
 
The current projected overspend (c.£6,000) is a combination of issuing grants which will be 
corrected when the budget is drown down from reserves at the end of the year, and an 
honorarium payment made while the Executive Head of Environment post was vacant.  
 
 
Environmental Health – £11,000 
 

The commercial team are returning to business as usual following the Food Standards 
Agency’s (FSA) recovery plan which provides a risk-based approach to addressing the backlog 
in food hygiene inspections. Primary Authority income is forecast to have an unfavourable 
variance of c.£28,000. In particular, site inspections ceased due to Covid, which would normally 
generate significant income. A claim is being prepared for central Government to reclaim part of 

276



the lost income. Funding has been received from the Contain Outbreak Management Fund 
(COMF) and is being used to support the return to business as usual. 
 
 
Air Quality / Pollution – (£61,000) 
 

The Pollution team have been impacted by reduced staffing numbers, combined with the 
customary seasonal increase in service demands. Q3 is predicted to see a reduction in reactive 
demands on the team. Two part time contractors have been engaged to cover some of the 
shortfall, particularly relating to Planning consultation. The overspend will be funded from the 
COMF money reserves.   
 
The Band 7 post has been filled internally, which has left a vacant Band 5 post that is out to 
advert. The potential to take on an apprentice is currently being explored. New procedures for 
investigating fly-tipping are being finalised with an aim to be implemented in Q3/Q4. Please 
note that the finances for Air Quality / Pollution are reported in Neighbourhoods, and therefore 
do not contribute to the forecast underspend in section 2.2.  
 
Tree Works – (£67,000) 
This service is currently in the Neighbourhoods team pending the consolidation of the 
Environment Executive Area. 
 
Open Spaces Park and Recreation Grounds – (£300) 
This service is currently in Neighbourhoods team pending the consolidation of the Environment 
Executive Area. 
 
  

Service Plan 

How does the above impact your service plan? 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan 2,015 2,015 2,015 2,015 2,015 

Forecast 2,110 2,015 2,015 2,015 2,015 
 

 

277



Health and Wellbeing 
Health and Wellbeing and Social Policy Portfolio’s 

Executive Summary Report 
 
Reporting Date: October 2021   
 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The Executive Area comprises of six key services Arts and Culture, Country Parks, Healthy 
Communities, and Leisure Services all contributing to the Health and Wellbeing Portfolio, and 
Housing and Homelessness and Housing Standards contributing directly to the Social Policy 
Portfolio.  
 
The Health and Wellbeing Executive Area has been hit incredibly hard by the Covid-19 
pandemic with services continuing to adapt. Facilities and activities are still being modified as 
part of the recovery from Covid, with uncertainty about future restrictions and customer 
confidence making it hard to forecast with certainty for 21-22.  
 
Covid-19 has exacerbated the inequalities gap with a detrimental effect on our most vulnerable. 
The pressure and responsibility on welfare services for the most vulnerable is greater than 
ever. All homelessness prevention, housing and community development services have seen 
increased demand, with a greater complexity of cases. Service improvements within Case 
Management are helping to manage this however we are yet to know the long term demand. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Executive is working at complete capacity, in particular due to the 
unexpected Home Office implementation of a Bridging Hotel within the borough, and part of the 
Afghanistan evacuation in August 2021. The Health and Wellbeing Executive still aim to meet 
the majority of objectives as set out in the Corporate Action Plan, however are prepared to be 
flexible with ever changing demands.   

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Arts and Culture        

Country Parks        

Healthy Communities     

Housing and Homelessness     

Housing Standards        

Leisure Services        

 
 
 
 
 
2.2 Finance 

278



Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1  2,577 1,546  1,857 720 

Q2  2,765 1,959  2,210 556 

Q3        

Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

HealthWorks session 
participation 

R R R R A R       

SportWorks session 
participation 

R A A G G G       

Visits to Places Leisure 
Eastleigh 

R R R R R R       

Arts and Culture Attendance R R R R R R       

Arts and Culture Participation  R R R R R A       

IVCP Visitor Footfall G G G A G G       

HHC average waiting times G G G G G G       

Total in B&B R A R R R R       

DFG % decided within 6 months 
from application 

G G G G R A       

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

  N/A         

           

           

  

279



3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 
Healthy Communities (‘Health and Wellbeing’ budget book page £7,000 underspend) 
The majority of the HealthWorks target group are vulnerable either due to age, or long-term 
health conditions therefore the return to in person activities remains cautious, with online 
sessions and campaigns such as ‘We are Undefeatable’ becoming even more important. 
Sessions will be smaller and class prices will be increased slightly to help offset the reduction in 
numbers. Customer confidence seems high in younger more healthy age groups as 
SportWorks programmes such as Park Sport were popular. Currently, it appears unlikely that 
the HealthWorks or SportWorks service will meet their income target for 21/22, however there 
has also been a reduction in staffing resulting in a forecasted underspend of £7,000. However 
external funding from sponsors is being sought now the economy is opening up, and there will 
be a more accurate forecast by the end of Q2.  
 
 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 
Leisure Services (‘Places Leisure Eastleigh (PLE)’ budget book page £107,000 
underspend)  
Throughput at PLE in Quarter 2  has remained steady, although well below pre-Covid target. 
This is mainly due to reduced capacity and workforce following Covid, as well as flooring 
maintenance issues which has resulted in studios being closed. The PLE budget is forecasting 
an underspend of £107k which will be allocated to the PLE maintenance reserve. The Council 
continue to defer the receipt of the Management Fee whilst the sector struggles to meet income 
targets. Re-profiling negotiations are ongoing and are expected to be concluded in Q3.  
 
 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 
Country Parks (‘Countryside Management’ budget book page £4,000 overspend) 
Strong performance at both Country Parks during August has buffered lower footfall and shorter 
stays in July and September due to unseasonably bad weather. August has proven the most 
successful month IVCP has ever recorded with 37,000 visitors which is the highest monthly 
footfall the park has ever seen and around 6,000 visitors above target.  
 
The overall Country Parks budget is currently forecasting a £4,000 overspend however this is 
only due to essential maintenance and one-off expenditure.  Delivery of the IVCP Masterplan 
will fundamentally change the profile of the budget. Work is in the early stages with Finance to 
identify where income and expenditure growth will occur. This may be phased in over a 3 year 
period to allow for the visitor footfall increase expected with the new developments.  
 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 
Arts and Culture (‘Arts and Culture’ budget book page £137,000 underspend) 
Restrictions due to Covid-19 have resulted in The Point’s programmes and capacities vastly 
reducing, along with The Berry being closed until September 21. Whilst this has allowed for 
some expenditure savings, this has impacted heavily on participation and income targets, 
particularly relating to community & commercial hires, room lettings, café bars & 
programming. As Covid restrictions lift, Arts & Culture are focusing on building customer 
confidence plus developing the external and outreach elements of the programme. There is a 
plan to apply to ACE/DCMS for further Cultural Recovery funds to offset forecast losses which 
have been fruitful in the past.  
 

280



It is important to note that although the budget line is showing a £137,000 saving, this is only 
due to a one-off £300,000 growth being added to the budget for 21-22 due to the uncertainty 
around recovery.  
 
 
SOCIAL POLICY PORTFOLIO 
Housing and Homelessness (‘Housing Advice’ budget book page £311,000 underspend) 
It has been a challenge to meet service KPI’s in Case Management, these have been affected 

by the increasing demand and complexity of cases impacted by a range of Covid-19 related 

issues such as regularly changing government guidance and legislation, ending the eviction 

ban, ending of furlough and HCC proposed cuts. We are investing further grant funding to 

support additional resource however recruitment is challenging due to a competitive 

environment. The Homelessness grant reserve is funding posts within the service agreed by 

Cabinet therefore ringfenced homelessness grant of £311,000 is forecast to be moved into 

reserves for spend already planned for 22/23, this may reduce depending on bad debt provision 

at the end of the year. 

 

In Quarter 2 the team have continued to see an increase in rough sleeping of 8 reported 

individuals, far higher than previous rates. The team continue to work hard to support these 

individuals. Multi-agency task and focus group is focusing on increased rough sleeper numbers 

in Eastleigh town centre. We are increasing our outreach across the Borough and linking in with 

social prescribers and other support agencies to do joint outreach with a focus on encouraging 

rough sleepers to get the Covid-19 vaccine (currently less than 50% uptake with known rough 

sleepers). Our Rough Sleeper Initiative (RSI) focuses on 4 areas; personalised budgets, winter 

provision/off the street offers, communications campaign and tenancy coaching course.  

 
 
SOCIAL POLICY PORTFOLIO 
Housing Standards (‘Home Improvements’ budget book page £3,000 overspend) 
The budget forecast for housing enforcement is £3,000 overspent due to variability of 
enforcement work & case requirements. Housing Enforcement is considered to be back to 
almost typical levels but is variable due to the reactive nature of the service. The new fit & 
proper person test for caravan site licensing will increase staff demand slightly. 
 
Disabled Facility Grant (DFG) spend is currently managed through a Capital grant scheme. The 
DFG team have been a member of the team down for most of the first two quarters of this year. 
This has led to increased time taken to approve & complete on cases as well as the number of 
cases in individual workloads. The team have recruited to the vacant post now and the new 
member of the team will be starting Mid-October. 
 
  

Service Plan 

How does the above impact your service plan? 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan  2,765  2,465   
 2,46
5    2,465    2,465   

Forecast  2,210  2,465   
 2,46
5    2,465    2,465   

 

 

281



Neigbourhood Services Executive Area 
Environment and Transport 

Executive Summary Report 

Reporting Date: 

7th October 2021 

 

1. Overall Summary 
Recruitment and retention of staff remains a key piece of work for all services areas, we have 
seen some positive impacts from pay initiatives already agreed and implemented, and further 
positive work is being undertaken in conjunction with colleagues in both HR and the 
communications team in promoting vacant posts through traditional and social media 
channels.it should be noted that despite the challenging recruitment market at this time we 
have not had to suspend any services, unlike a number of authorities across the country, all 
staff continue to work flexibly across areas to ensure services continue to be provided. 
However, the impact of covering staff shortages in the Waste and Streetscene service areas 
through overtime, a reduction in income in car parks and increased costs in fuel, materials and 
parts and delays in the delivery of new food waste vehicles in Fleet Management has resulted 
in a £556k unfavourable forecast in the Neighbourhood Services area. 
 
Waste and Recycling Service 
The service saw a large increase in the numbers of missed collections and complaints in the 
first half of the year, which required a number of management interventions to implement long 
term solutions, these changes have settled down as staff become more familiar with rounds 
and new staff are recruited. In addition we are starting to see the positive impact of these 
changes on our recycling rate which has reached 45.4% for the last 5 months and is likely to 
increase further as we roll out further Comms messaging to our residents and promote the food 
waste service to residents in flats and communal buildings. Our garden waste service continues 
to grow with our highest number of subscribers since its launch with income forecast to exceed 
£1million this financial year. 
 
Streetscene  
The tree nursery is now well established with just under 20,000 trees already growing on site 
and the two apprentices gaining valuable skills in propagation and horticultural skills. 
 
Fleet and Transport 
The trial of HVO fuel has been positive and the transition of the whole fleet to using HVO is 
planned to be completed by the end of the 3rd quarter which will reduce our vehicle emissions 
by approximately 93%. Following a detailed testing and evaluation process we will be placing 
orders for 3 electric RCV’s in the 3rd quarter of this year. 
 
Traffic Management 
The traffic management team have progressed and implemented a number of schemes which 
had stalled, all of these schemes will have a positive impact within their local areas.  
 
Parking 
Income levels are significantly lower than budgeted income targets and therefore we are 
unlikely to achieve budgeted income for parking services this financial year. Off street shopper 
parking, although lower than pre-pandemic levels, is starting to show signs of recovery, but we 

282



will not see a return to pre-pandemic usage in a number of our car parks such as Mitchell Road 
MSCP which currently has occupancy levels of 15% compared to 95% pre-pandemic.  

 

 

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Streetscene  Amber Amber     

Waste Management  Red Amber     

Technical Services – Fleet & 

Transport Amber Green   

Technical Services - Construction Red Amber   

CCTV Red Red   

Parking Services Red Red   

Highways Agency Services Green Green   

2.2 Finance 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1  4,226 2,160 5,235  (1,009)  

Q2 4,579 3,329 5,135 (556) 

Q3        

Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1 Waste Recycling Rate G G G G G        

KPI 2 Waste Arisings per 
household 

A A A A A        

KPI 3 Missed Collections R R R R A A       

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

X           

Y           

Z           

  

283



3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

Technical Services  
Construction and Maintenance (24,370) 

Two members of staff including the unit Supervisor left the Council in July.  We are using higher graded 

staff from the engineering team to provide quotations, organise and oversee the work programme. 
Given the current challenges in recruitment within the construction industry and difficulties in the 
procurement of materials, there are delays in achieving the work programme with lead in times of up to 
12 weeks. New work for external clients has been suspended to focus on delivering internal projects. 
This provides opportunity to carryout essential training and improve processes, so we are better placed 
to respond to both the internal and external market moving forward.  
The Construction and Maintenance section will be subject to review as part of the wider Neighbourhood 
Services re-structure, we are aiming to break even this year.  
 
Engineers and Traffic Management £6,218  
There has been a reduction of engineering design schemes from HCC\EBC which has meant a 
reduction of recharges to capital schemes. The members of staff who have been helping with the 
construction team are working on TRO schemes funded from revenue.  A temporary Case Management 
Officer has been employed to cover the administration for engineering and construction.  The existing 
CMO has been seconded to LAMS and additional support was required to free the engineer to assist 
with TRO’s and Construction. 

 
Fleet and Transport (£106,378) 
There has been an overall increase in the cost of diesel of 0.05p per litre since July which is negatively 
impacting fuel budgets, estimated £40k, however the transition to HVO from November will reduce this 
variance by £10k 
 Insurance premium increased by £29k, due to risk based matrix used by insurance industry at time of 
renewal, it should be noted that the number and value of claims has not increased, and we are working 
with our insurers to identify how we can reduce this premium in future years.   
Transport trading (MOT and Compliance) tests are down due to the covid exemption introduced by DfT, 
although we are starting to see some signs of improvement in utilisation of testing bays, additional PPE 
and H&S equipment required by the risk assessment has resulted in a small overspend of £2k.     
We have seen increases in costs of vehicle parts between 11% & 70% over the last two quarters with 
suppliers citing the cost of transportation and import duty as the main reasons, with an adverse variance 
of £35k.   
 
Streetscene (£34,150)  
Staff vacancies delayed the amount of external and additional work which could be delivered in the first 
half of the year however a recruitment drive has been developed to attract new staff which will enable 
the service to undertake these works in the 3rd and 4th quarters. We are aiming that the Streetscene 
service will break even 
 
The tree nursery is now well established with a stock of 19,475 trees growing on site, it is planned to 
plant approximately a third of these during the coming planting season.    
  
Pest Control (£20,270)  
Reduced income due to the service still not being fully offered with regard to entering residents' 
properties and a number of commercial contracts not being renewed due to businesses closing or 
looking to reduce their spend.  
  
A review of the commercial service offer including pricing is planned to be completed in the 3rd quarter 
for launching in January 2022 in order to address this adverse variance.  
  
Parking & Abandoned Vehicles (£380,671)  
Parking occupancy in ‘commuter’ car parks remains lower than pre-pandemic levels with Mitchell Road 

Multi Storey Car Park (MSCP) running at 15% compared to 95% in 2019. Other car parks for example 
Hedge End Station Car Park are showing small gains from 1st quarter as some commuters are starting 

284



to return but overall numbers are under-performing compared to 2019 – year to date ticket 
sales at 2,000 compared to 20,000 for the same period in 2019 at Hedge End.  
  
We are starting to see positive trends in shopper car parks, such as Swan Centre which is 
showing continued growth from Q1 with occupancy approaching 90% compared to 95% for same 
periods in 2019.   
  
The move to cashless payments for parking continues to increase positively, with nearly 30% of all Pay 
& Display transactions now cashless, this is up from 15% in 2018. A revised RingGo contract, due to 
start in Q3, will enable lower transaction charges for EBC and the ability to remove the end-user ‘20p 
convenience fee’, which should see further increases in usage. The switch to cashless 
payments provides for additional savings within the cash collection contract, which is currently being 
reviewed for renewal with partner Councils.   
  
Parking enforcement income remains robust, particularly on-street. This is due to driver behaviour Civil 
Enforcement Officer resources have been maintained.    
  
 A Parking Working Group has been set up to review performance and identify any actions to mitigate 
future income losses. 
Ongoing discussions with Asset Management relating to potential new contract parking are being held; 
this ‘new’ income could offset some or all of the income lost from those contracts that were not renewed 
during 2021 for parking at Mitchell Road MSCP.   
  
Waste Management (£299,267) 
Recruitment and Retention of LGV Drivers: In line with the national picture, the Waste and Recycling 
service has been dealing with driver recruitment and retention issues.  We have successfully recruited 3 
experienced drivers with another round of recruitment currently underway to ensure that there is a bank 
of drivers and operatives available to meet future needs.  
 
Work to reduce the excessive number of missed collections including repeat missed collections and 
complaints has been effective and we are now returning to a more acceptable levels of missed 
collections and have seen a reduction in the number of complaints received.   
  
Garden Waste subscriptions continue to increase with just under 23,000 subscriptions and almost 
25,000 bins grossing £980k. The additional income has been used to fund the Optimisation work which 
has been completed to provide garden waste collection on the same day as recycling collections across 
the Borough and the cost of the new IT system which is being implemented.   A review of the cost of the 
services going forward is being undertaken which will feed into the fees and charges report. 
 
The forecast Waste Management staffing variance is £151,166 overspent due to an additional garden 
waste round, staff working overtime in the first half of the year to embed the new service and 
additional temporary staff to cover vacancies.   

 

A delay in the delivery of new food waste vehicles has increased hire charges for vehicles to £110k.  

  
Food Waste: There is an increase in participation and tonnages collected due to the new rounds and 

positive work with the Communications team. There is capacity within food waste rounds to continue to 
promote this service and to cater for the continuing roll out of the service to residents living in flats or 
communal blocks.   
  
Implications of the Hampshire County Council Waste Strategy and the Environment Bill 2023: The newly 
designed waste and recycling rounds were created, in part, with cognisance of the HCC Waste 
Strategy and also the Environment Bill 2023. Services are now aligned to absorb upcoming changes 
and cost pressures as much as practicably possible. However, a keen eye will be required to deal with 
issues and pressures emanating from these regional and national strategies. At this time Eastleigh is 
well positioned to cope with the upcoming changes.  
 
Direct Services overhead account £274,254 Favourable 

Favourable variance due to vacant posts and as yet unallocated salary enhancements.  

285



Cemeteries (£13,951) Unfavourable 

The unfavourable forecast variance takes into account the reduction in income levels over the first 2 

quarters, however due to seasonal variance's, the service is aiming to break even. 

Public Toilets £8,165 Favourable 

Positive variance due to two public conveniences closing which has resulted in being allocated NNDR 

relief for the two closed sites Bishopstoke Recreation and Central Precinct. 

Service Plan 

How does the above impact your service plan? 

 

Current year 
£’000 

Next Year 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

2025/26 
£’000 

Per service plan 4,579 4,980 4,980 4,980 4,980 

Forecast 4,579     
 

 

286



Appendix O 

 

Treasury Management Half Yearly Report 

 
 
Introduction   
 
The Authority has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the 

CIPFA Code) which requires the Authority to approve treasury management semi-

annual and annual reports. 

The Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2021/22 was approved by full 

Council in February 2021. The Authority has borrowed substantial sums of money 

and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and 

the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The successful identification, 

monitoring and control of risk remains central to the Authority’s treasury management 

strategy. 

The 2017 Prudential Code includes a requirement for local authorities to provide a 

Capital Strategy, a summary document approved by full Council covering capital 

expenditure and financing, treasury management and non-treasury investments. The 

Authority’s Capital Strategy, complying with CIPFA’s requirement, was also 

approved by full Council in February 2021. 

External Context 
 
Economic background: The economic recovery from the coronavirus pandemic 

continued to dominate the first half of the financial year. By the end of the period over 

48 million people in the UK had received their first dose of a COVID-19 vaccine and 

almost 45 million their second dose. 

The Bank of England (BoE) held Bank Rate at 0.1% throughout the period and 

maintained its Quantitative Easing programme at £895 billion, unchanged since the 

November 2020 meeting. In its September 2021 policy announcement, the BoE 

noted it now expected the UK economy to grow at a slower pace than was predicted 

in August, as the pace of the global recovery had shown signs of slowing and there 

were concerns inflationary pressures may be more persistent.  

Government initiatives continued to support the economy over the quarter but came 

to an end on 30th September 2021 with the end of the furlough scheme.  

The latest labour market data showed that in the three months to July 2021 the 

unemployment rate fell to 4.6%. The employment rate increased, and economic 

activity rates decreased, suggesting an improving labour market picture. Latest data 

showed growth in average total pay (including bonuses) and regular pay (excluding 

287



 

  2 

bonuses) among employees was 8.3% and 6.3% respectively over the period. 

However, part of the robust growth figures is due to a base effect from a decline in 

average pay in the spring of last year associated with the furlough scheme.  

Annual CPI inflation rose to 3.2% in August, exceeding expectations for 2.9%, with 
the largest upward contribution coming from restaurants and hotels. The Bank of 
England now expects inflation to exceed 4% by the end of the calendar year owing 
largely to developments in energy and goods prices. The Office of National Statistics’ 
(ONS’) preferred measure of CPIH which includes owner-occupied housing was 
3.0% year/year, marginally higher than expectations for 2.7%. 

The easing of restrictions boosted activity in the second quarter of calendar year, 
helping push GDP up by 5.5%The headline rate of UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) 
fell to 0.2% year/year in August, further below the Bank of England’s 2% target, with 
the largest downward contribution coming from restaurants and hotels influenced by 
the EOHO scheme.  The Office for National Statistics’ preferred measure of CPIH 
which includes owner-occupied housing was 0.5% y/y. 
 
The easing of restrictions boosted activity in the second quarter of calendar year, 

helping push GDP up by 5.5% q/q (final estimate vs 4.8% q/q initial estimate). 

Household consumption was the largest contributor. Within the sector breakdown 

production contributed 1.0% q/q, construction 3.8% q/q and services 6.5% q/q, taking 

all these close to their pre-pandemic levels. 

The US economy grew by 6.3% in Q1 2021 (Jan-Mar) and then by an even stronger 

6.6% in Q2 as the recovery continued. The Federal Reserve maintained its main 

interest rate at between 0% and 0.25% over the period but in its most recent meeting 

made suggestion that monetary policy may start to be tightened soon. 

The European Central Bank maintained its base rate at 0%, deposit rate at -0.5%, 

and asset purchase scheme at €1.85 trillion. 

 
Financial markets: Monetary and fiscal stimulus together with rising economic 

growth and the ongoing vaccine rollout programmes continued to support equity 

markets over most of the period.  The Dow Jones hit another record high while the 

UK-focused FTSE 250 index continued making gains over pre-pandemic levels. The 

more internationally focused FTSE 100 saw more modest gains over the period and 

remains below its pre-crisis peak. 

Inflation worries continued during the period. Declines in bond yields in the first 

quarter of the financial year suggested bond markets were expecting any general 

price increases to be less severe, or more transitory, that was previously thought. 

However, an increase in gas prices in the UK and EU, supply shortages of HGV and 

lorry drivers with companies willing to pay more to secure their services, has caused 

problems for a range of industries and, in some instance, lead to higher prices. 

288



 

  3 

The 5-year UK benchmark gilt yield began the financial year at 0.36% before 

declining to 0.33% by the end of June 2021 and then climbing to 0.64% on 30th 

September. Over the same period the 10-year gilt yield fell from 0.80% to 0.71% 

before rising to 1.03% and the 20-year yield declined from 1.31% to 1.21% and then 

increased to 1.37%. 

 

Credit review: Over the period Fitch and Moody’s upwardly revised to stable the 

outlook on a number of UK banks and building societies on our counterparty list, 

recognising their improved capital positions compared to last year and better 

economic growth prospects in the UK. 

The successful vaccine rollout programme is credit positive for the financial services 

sector in general and the improved economic outlook has meant some institutions 

have been able to reduce provisions for bad loans. While there is still uncertainty 

around the full extent of the losses banks and building societies will suffer due to the 

pandemic-related economic slowdown, the sector is in a generally better position 

now compared to earlier this year and 2020. 

Local Context 
 
On 31st March 2021, the Authority had net borrowing of £472m arising from its 

revenue and capital income and expenditure. The underlying need to borrow for 

capital purposes is measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), while 

usable reserves and working capital are the underlying resources available for 

investment. These factors are summarised in Table 1 below. 

 
Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary 

 

 

Lower official interest rates have lowered the cost of short-term, temporary loans and 

investment returns from cash assets that can be used in lieu of borrowing. The 

Authority pursued its strategy of keeping borrowing and investments below their 

underlying levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing, in order to reduce risk.  

 

The treasury management position on 30th September 2021 and the change over 

the six months is shown in Table 2 below. 

 

 
31.3.21 
Balance 

£’000 

General Fund CFR 523,186 

Total Borrowing 503,233 

Internal Borrowing 19,953 

289



 

  4 

Table 2: Treasury Management Summary 

 
31.3.21 
Balance 

£’000 

Movement 
£’000 

30.9.21 
Balance 

£’000 

30.9.21 
Rate 

% 

Long-term borrowing 

Short-term borrowing  

350,000 

153,233 

0 

-13,733 

350,000 

139,500 

1.92% 

0.04% 

Total borrowing 503,233 -13,733 489,500 1.38% 

Long-term investments 

Short-term investments 

Cash and cash equivalents 

9,219 

24,000 

7,630 

0 

-19,000 

-4,767 

9,219 

5,000 

2,863 

3.60% 

0.01% 

0.01% 

Total investments 40,849 -23,767 17,082 1.95% 

Net borrowing 462,384 10,034 472,418 1.40% 

 

Net borrowing has increased since the 31st March 2021, predominantly due to the 

ongoing requirement to fund the Council’s ongoing capital programme. 

 

 
Borrowing Update 
 
PWLB: Local authorities can borrow from the PWLB provided they can confirm they 

are not planning to purchase ‘investment assets primarily for yield’ in the current or 

next two financial years, with confirmation of the purpose of capital expenditure from 

the Section 151 Officer. Authorities that are purchasing or intending to purchase 

investment assets primarily for yield will not be able to access the PWLB except to 

refinance existing loans or externalise internal borrowing. 

 

Acceptable use of PWLB borrowing includes service delivery, housing, regeneration, 

preventative action, refinancing and treasury management.  

 

The Authority is not planning to purchase any investment assets primarily for yield 

within the next three years and so is able to fully access the PWLB 

 

Competitive market alternatives may be available for authorities with or without 

access to the PWLB. However, the financial strength of the individual authority and 

borrowing purpose will be scrutinised by commercial lenders. Further changes to the 

CIPFA Prudential Code expected in December 2021 are likely to prohibit borrowing 

for the primary purpose of commercial return even where the source of borrowing is 

not the PWLB. 

 

The settlement time for a PWLB loan has been extended from two workings days 

(T+2) to five working days (T+5). In a move to protect the PWLB against negative 

interest rates, the minimum interest rate for PWLB loans has also been set at 0.01% 

290



 

  5 

and the interest charged on late repayments will be the higher of Bank of England 

Base Rate or 0.1%.  

Municipal Bonds Agency (MBA): The MBA is working to deliver a new short-term 

loan solution, available in the first instance to principal local authorities in England, 

allowing them access to short-dated, low rate, flexible debt.  The minimum loan size 

is expected to be £25 million.  Importantly, local authorities will borrow in their own 

name and will not cross guarantee any other authorities.  

UK Infrastructure Bank: £4bn has been earmarked for of lending to local authorities 

by the UK Infrastructure Bank which is wholly owned and backed by HM Treasury. 

The availability of this lending to local authorities, for which there will be a bidding 

process, is yet to commence. Loans will be available for qualifying projects at gilt 

yields plus 0.6%, which is 0.2% lower than the PWLB certainty rate.  

Borrowing Strategy during the period 
 
At 30th September 2021 the Authority held £489.5m of loans, a decrease of £13.7m 

compared to 31st March 2021, as part of its strategy for funding previous and current 

years’ capital programmes.  This reduction is predominantly due to the reduction in 

investments over the period, therefore reducing the need to borrow. Outstanding 

loans on 30th September are summarised in Table 3 below. 

 

Table 3: Borrowing Position 

 

The Authority’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an appropriately 

low risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty 

over the period for which funds are required, with flexibility to renegotiate loans 

should the Authority’s long-term plans change being a secondary objective.  

 

With short-term interest rates remaining much lower than long-term rates and with 

surplus of liquidity continuing to feature in the LA to LA market, the Authority 

considered it to be more cost effective in the near term to borrow rolling temporary / 

short-term loans instead.   

 

 

 
31.3.21 
Balance 

£’000 

Net 
Movement 

£’000 

30.9.21 
Balance 

£’000 

30.9.21 
Average 

Rate 
% 

Public Works Loan Board 350,000 0 350,500 1.92% 

Local authorities 153,233 -13,733 139,500 0.04% 

Total Borrowing 503,233 -17,248 489,500 1.38% 

291



 

  6 

Treasury Investment Activity  
 

The Authority holds invested funds, representing income received in advance of 

expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During the year, the Authority’s 

investment balances ranged between £15m and £45m due to timing differences 

between income and expenditure. The investment position is shown in table 4 below. 

 

Table 4: Treasury Investment Position 

 

Investment Position 
31.3.21 
Balance 

£’000 

Net 
Movement 

£’000 

30.9.21 
Balance 

£’000 

30.9.21 
Income 
Return 

% 

Banks 7,630 -4767 2,863 0.01% 

Money Market Funds 24,000 -19,000 5,000 0.01% 

CCLA Property Fund 9,219 0 9,219 3.60% 

Total Investments 40,849 -23,767 17,082 1.95% 

 

 

During the financial year, in light of the pandemic crisis and the likelihood of 

unexpected calls on cash flow, the Authority kept more cash available at very short 

notice than is normal. Liquid cash was diversified over several counterparties and 

Money Market Funds to manage both credit and liquidity risks.  As restrictions have 

eased, and cashflows have become more certain, the authority has reduced its 

investment position to levels more normally seen before the pandemic. 

 

Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Authority to invest its 

funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its treasury 

investments before seeking the optimum rate of return, or yield.  The Authority’s 

objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and 

return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving 

unsuitably low investment income. 

 

Externally Managed Pooled Funds: The Authority is invested in the CCLA Local 

Authorities Property Fund. The improved market sentiment in the past 6 months is 

reflected in equity, property, and multi-asset fund valuations and, in turn, in the 

capital values of the Authority’s investments in the property fund. 

 

Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal 

after a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the 

Authority’s medium- to long-term investment objectives are regularly reviewed. 

Strategic fund investments are made in the knowledge that capital values will move 

292



 

  7 

both up and down on months, quarters and even years; but with the confidence that 

over a three- to five-year period total returns will exceed cash interest rates. 

 

Compliance  

 

The Chief Financial Officer must report that treasury management activities 

undertaken during the first half of 2021/22 did not fully comply with the Authority’s 

approved Treasury Management Strategy. 

 

The limit on specified investments being a maximum of £10m with any single 

organisation was breached twice during the 6 months, both times due to unexpected 

cashflows leading to an increased overnight balance in the Barclays current account.  

Please see table 5 below for more information 

 

Table 5: Investment Limits 

 

Q2 

Maximum 

£’000 

30.9.21 

Actual 

£’000 

2021/22 

Limit 

£’000 

Complied? 

 

Any single organisation, except the 
UK Government 

14,009 2,863 10,000 No 

Money Market Funds 10,000 5,000 10,000 Yes 

CCLA Property Fund 9,466 9,466 14,500 Yes 

 

Compliance with the authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt is 

demonstrated in table 6 below.  Neither the Operational Boundary, not Authorised 

Limit were breached during the first half of 2020/21 

 

Table 6: Debt Limits 

 

2021.22 

Maximum 

£’000 

30.9.21 

Actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
Operational 
Boundary 

£’000 

2021/22 
Authorised 

Limit 

Complied? 

 

Borrowing 524,000 489,500 561,953 572,953 Yes 

 
Since the operational boundary is a management tool for in-year monitoring it is not 

significant if the operational boundary is breached on occasions due to variations in 

cash flow, and this is not counted as a compliance failure.  

 

293



 

  8 

 

 

Treasury Management Indicators 

 

The Authority measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks 

using the following indicators. 

 

Security: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit 

risk by monitoring the value-weighted average credit rating of its investment portfolio.   

 

 
30.9.21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Target 

Compli
ed? 

Portfolio average credit score A A ✓ 

 

Liquidity: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity 

risk by monitoring the amount it can borrow each quarter without giving prior notice. 

 

 
30.9.21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Target 

Complied 

Total sum borrowed in past 3 months without prior 
notice 

£0m £0m ✓ 

 
 
Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to 
interest rate risk.  The upper limits on fixed and variable rate interest rate exposures, 
expressed as the proportion of net principal borrowed was: 
 

 
30.9.21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Limit 

Compli
ed? 

Upper limit on fixed interest rate exposure 72% 100% ✓ 

Upper limit on variable interest rate exposure 28% 100% ✓ 

 
Fixed rate investments and borrowings are those where the rate of interest is fixed 

for at least 12 months, measured from the start of the financial year or the transaction 

date if later.  All other instruments are classed as variable rate. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

294



 

  9 

Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s 

exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of 

all borrowing were: 

 

 
30.9.21 
Actual 

Upper 
Limit 

Lower 
Limit 

Compli
ed? 

Under 12 months 28% 100% 0% ✓ 

12 months and within 24 months 0% 100% 0% ✓ 

24 months and within 5 years 6% 100% 0% ✓ 

5 years and within 10 years 37% 100% 0% ✓ 

10 years and above 29% 100% 0% ✓ 

 

 

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 365 days: The purpose of this 

indicator is to control the Authority’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by 

seeking early repayment of its investments.  The limits on the long-term principal 

sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end were: 

 

 
2019/20 

£’000 

2020/21 
£’000 

2021/22 
£’000 

Actual principal invested beyond year end 0 0 0 

Limit on principal invested beyond year end £14.5m £14.5m £14.5m 

 

Revisions to CIPFA Codes 

In February 2021 CIPFA launched two consultations on changes to its Prudential 

Code and Treasury Management Code of Practice. These followed the Public 

Accounts Committee’s recommendation that the prudential framework should be 

further tightened following continued borrowing by some authorities for investment 

purposes.  In June, CIPFA provided feedback from this consultation.  

In September CIPFA issued the revised Codes and Guidance Notes in draft form 

and opened the latest consultation process on their proposed changes. The changes 

include: 

• Clarification that (a) local authorities must not borrow to invest primarily for 

financial return (b) it is not prudent for authorities to make any investment or 

spending decision that will increase the Capital Financing Requirement, and 

so may lead to new borrowing, unless directly and primarily related to the 

functions of the authority. 

• Categorising investments as those (a) for treasury management purposes, (b) 

for service purposes and (c) for commercial purposes.   

• Defining acceptable reasons to borrow money: (i) financing capital 

295



 

  10 

expenditure primarily related to delivering a local authority’s functions, (ii) 

temporary management of cash flow within the context of a balanced budget, 

(iii) securing affordability by removing exposure to future interest rate rises 

and (iv) refinancing current borrowing, including replacing internal borrowing. 

• For service and commercial investments, in addition to assessments of 

affordability and prudence, an assessment of proportionality in respect of the 

authority’s overall financial capacity (i.e. whether plausible losses could be 

absorbed in budgets or reserves without unmanageable detriment to local 

services). 

• New Prudential Indicators 

• Incorporating ESG issues as a consideration within the Treasury 

Management Practices. 

• Additional focus on the knowledge and skills of officers and elected members 

involved in decision making 

MHCLG Improvements to the Capital Finance Framework 

MHCLG published a brief policy paper in July outlining the ways it feels that the 

current framework is failing and potential changes that could be made. The paper 

found that “while many authorities are compliant with the framework, there remain 

some authorities that continue to engage in practices that push the bounds of 

compliance and expose themselves to excessive risk”.  

The actions announced include greater scrutiny of local authorities and particularly 

those engaged in commercial practices; an assessment of governance and training; 

a consideration of statutory caps on borrowing; further regulations around Minimum 

Revenue Provision (MRP) and ensuring that MHCLG regulations enforce guidance 

from CIPFA and the new PWLB lending arrangements.  

A further consultation on these matters is expected. 

 
Arlingclose’s Economic Outlook for the remainder of 2021/22 (based on the 
October 2021  interest rate forecast) 
 
 
Arlingclose expects Bank Rate to rise in Q2 2022. We believe this is driven as much 

by the Bank of England’s desire to move from emergency levels as by fears of 

inflationary pressure.  

Investors have priced in multiple rises in Bank Rate to 1% by 2024. While Arlingclose 

believes Bank Rate will rise, it is by a lesser extent than expected by markets. 

The global economy continues to recover from the pandemic but has entered a more 

challenging phase. The resurgence of demand has led to the expected rise in 

inflationary pressure, but disrupted factors of supply are amplifying the effects, 

increasing the likelihood of lower growth rates ahead. This is particularly apparent in 

296



 

  11 

the UK due to the impact of Brexit.  

While Q2 UK GDP expanded more quickly than initially thought, the ‘pingdemic’ and 

more latterly supply disruption will leave Q3 GDP broadly stagnant. The outlook also 

appears weaker. Household spending, the driver of the recovery to date, is under 

pressure from a combination of retail energy price rises, the end of government 

support programmes and soon, tax rises. Government spending, the other driver of 

recovery, will slow considerably as the economy is taken off life support. 

Inflation rose to 3.2% in August. A combination of factors will drive this to over 4% in 

the near term. While the transitory factors affecting inflation, including the low base 

effect of 2020, are expected to unwind over time, the MPC has recently 

communicated fears that these transitory factors will feed longer-term inflation 

expectations that require tighter monetary policy to control. This has driven interest 

rate expectations substantially higher. 

The supply imbalances are apparent in the labour market. While wage growth is 

currently elevated due to compositional and base factors, stories abound of higher 

wages for certain sectors, driving inflation expectations. It is uncertain whether a 

broad-based increased in wages is possible given the pressures on businesses.  

Government bond yields increased sharply following the September FOMC and 

MPC minutes, in which both central banks communicated a lower tolerance for 

higher inflation than previously thought. The MPC in particular has doubled down on 

these signals in spite of softer economic data. Bond investors expect higher near-

term interest rates but are also clearly uncertain about central bank policy. 

The MPC appears to be playing both sides, but has made clear its intentions to 

tighten policy, possibly driven by a desire to move away from emergency levels. 

While the economic outlook will be challenging, the signals from policymakers 

suggest Bank Rate will rise unless data indicates a more severe slowdown. 

 
 
 
 

297



Appendix P

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Total Annual Capital Expenditure 51,145 81,835 41,958 23,332

% % % %

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 27.1 84.0 113.1 111.8
Percentage that Interest & Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is of 
the net annual budget.

Net borrowing requirement £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
       Brought forward 1 April 484,748 503,233 553,000 582,253
       Carried forward 31 March 503,233 553,000 582,253 597,736
       In year borrowing requirement 18,485 49,767 29,254 15,483

Capital financing requirement as at 31 March 523,186 572,953 602,207 617,690 Total value of capital spend financed from borrowing.

Annual change in capital financing requirement (CFR) 28,853 49,767 29,254 15,483
Net impact that capital spend less MRP has on the CFR. When MRP 
exceeds the spend this will be negative.

Net debt and the capital financing requirement
Net debt as at 31st March 503,233 553,000 582,253 597,736 Estimated total funds borrowed.

Incremental impact of capital investment decisions £ p £ p £ p £ p
on the Council Tax

       Cumulative impact of all decisions taken at Full Council (257.69) (203.93) (190.26) (193.87)
This is an indicator of the annual impact of the Community Investment 
Programme on Council Tax. ( ) indicate a benefit.

Estimate Estimate Estimate

Authorised limit for external debt £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
       Borrowing 522,186 571,953 601,207 616,690
       Other long-term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
       Total 523,186 572,953 602,207 617,690

Operational boundary for external debt
       Borrowing 511,186 560,953 590,207 605,690
       Other long-term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
       Total 512,186 561,953 591,207 606,690

% % % %
Upper limit for fixed rate interest rate exposure 100 100 100 100

% % % %
Upper limit for variable rate interest rate exposure 100 100 100 100

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Upper limit for total principal sums invested >364 days 14,500 14,500 14,500 14,500

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing

       under 12 months Note - the Council has no Housing Revenue
       12 months and within 24 months Account (HRA) and therefore all indicators
       24 months and within 5 years refer to non-HRA amounts
       5 years and within 10 years
       10 years and above

Based on the Authority's estimate of most likely requirement for 
external debt.

This section of indicators reflect the limits attributed to long term 
borrowing with a fixed Interest rate. The Council keep these limits at 
100% to ensure that an instant change can be made to long term 
borrowing when approved by the Treasury Management Group.

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS Notes

Annual actual borrowing estimates.

The affordable borrowing limit determined in compliance with the 
Local Government Act 2003. This sum can not exceed the CFR.

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS SEPTEMBER 2021

298



 STRATEGIC RISK MANAGEMENT GROUP 

16 September 2021 

AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE  

 19 October 2021 

CABINET 

9 December 2021 

CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT - ANNUAL REPORT 

Report of the Executive Head of Governance 
 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that the SRMG & the Audit and Resources Committee: 
(1) considers the Annual Risk Management Report, and; 
(2) note the content of the Risk Management Framework, Terms of Reference 

and Risk Appetite Statement.  
 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(1) considers the Annual Risk Management Report,  
(2) approves the Risk Management Framework and Risk Appetite Statement; 

and 
(3) notes the content of the Terms of Reference. 

 

Summary 
 
Risk Management is a key element of the Council’s operational and strategic functioning. 
This report presents to Councillors the Annual Report and asks Cabinet to approve the 
Risk Management Framework (Appendix 1) and Risk Appetite Statement (Appendix 2) and 
notes the Terms of Reference (Appendix 3). 

Statutory Powers 
 
S151 Local Government Act 1972 

 

 

299

Agenda Item 11



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Strategic Implications  

1. This report relates to all of the Council’s Corporate Objectives and the 
framework that supports the management of risks to meet those objectives. 
The Risk Appetite supports strategic priorities in certain areas and is designed 
to be flexible in recognition of the Council operating more innovatively and 
dynamically.  

Introduction 

2. The Executive Head of Governance is responsible for the co-ordination of 
Corporate Risk Management. The Strategic Risk Management Group (SRMG) 
are responsible for overseeing and monitoring the Council’s response to Risk 
Management.  

3. This Annual Report provides a summary of Risk Management activity during 
2020/21 and also presents the Risk Management Framework (the Policy), 
Risk Appetite Statement and Terms of Reference for SRMG.  

Definition of Risk Management  

4. Risk has been defined as the threat that an event or action will adversely 
affect an organisation’s ability to achieve its objectives and to successfully 
execute its strategies. Risk Management is the process by which risks are 
identified, evaluated and controlled. It is a key element of the framework of 
governance.  

Risk Framework & Risk Appetite  

5. A member of the Audit and Resources Committee is appointed to the 
Strategic Risk Management Group annually and regularly reports 
developments and progress back to the Audit and Resources Committee. The 
Group reviews risk arrangements and advises the Corporate Leadership 
Board on risk issues within the Council and on existing and planned risk 
controls. Risks are reported by use of risk registers. Each service and 
programme of projects is required to update its own register as part of the 
performance management process. These registers are reviewed by service 
managers; project risks are reviewed by project managers with their project 
group and sponsor and overseen by programme managers. A corporate risk 
register exists to record high level risks which affect the work of several units 
or the whole Council, that are of strategic significance or for which further 
Corporate Leadership Board consideration or resource are required.  

6. Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution (Rules and Procedures) contains the 
Council’s Financial Regulations, of which Chapter 4 outlines arrangements for 
risk management and the control of resources. Paragraph 4.2 states “The 
Cabinet is responsible for approving the Council’s policy on risk management 
and for defining the Councillor, staff and committee structure through which 
risk management will be planned and monitored”. The Risk Management 
Framework is attached at Appendix 1 and the Terms of Reference for the 
Strategic Risk Management Group, which forms part of the framework, is 

300



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

attached at Appendix 3. It is recommended that Cabinet approves this Policy 
and note the Terms of Reference.  

7. The risk appetite statement sets the tone for risk management, it details the 
amount and type of risk that the Council is willing to take in order to meet its 
strategic objectives and will support the achievement of these objectives. The 
Risk Appetite Statement is attached at Appendix 2 and it is recommended that 
it is given Cabinet approval. It should be noted that following presentation to 
the Audit and Resources Committee some queries arose and as a result 
amendments were made to the Risk Appetite Statement. The revised Risk 
Appetite Statement was represented to SRMG on 18 November 2021 and 
recirculated to the Audit and Resources Committee who were content with the 
revisions and this was subsequently recorded in the minutes of the Audit and 
Resources Committee meeting of 23 November 2021.  

Risk Management Developments 2020/21 

8. Service Managers are responsible for managing risks using risk registers that 
are reviewed regularly as part of service performance management. SRMG 
met on 6 occasions during 2020/21 and reviewed the following service risk 
registers:  

 Customer Services 

 Local Area Services 

 Support Services 

 One Horton Heath Project 

 Strategic Planning and Development  

 Country Parks 

 Housing and Regeneration Programmes 

 Specialist Services 

 Arts and Culture 

 Direct Services  

9. In January 2021 a new Executive Head structure with nine executive areas 
was created. Work commenced during the latter part of 2020/21 to realign the 
Service Risk Registers to the new structure. It is planned that during 2021/22, 
the individual Service Risk Registers will be combined to form one operational 
risk register which will allow more visibility of the risks faced by other services 
and opportunities to address new and emerging risks collaboratively.  

10. SRMG also considered the following matters during the year:  

301



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 Insurance  

 Training 

 Audit resources and Audit reports  

 Business Continuity and the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic 

 Procurement  

 Enforcement  

 Health and Safety  

 Fraud risks  

 Business Grant support (Covid-19)  

 Homeworking & staff well-being 

11. The Corporate Risk Register is managed by the Council’s Corporate 
Leadership Board and updated for newly stated risks and ongoing matters on 
a quarterly basis. The register is also reviewed by the SRMG and considered 
at least annually by Cabinet, with Cabinet members being kept appraised of 
corporate and portfolio-related risks throughout the year. 

12. In April 2021 the Strategic Incident Management Team (SIMT), which formed 
in March 2020 in response to the pandemic, created the Covid-19 Risk 
Register to ensure that critical services continue to operate across the 
Borough. This was regularly monitored and discussed by SIMT. The Covid-19 
Risk Register was also monitored by SRMG who discussed the risks 
contained within and sought assurance that risks were being appropriately 
mitigated. Discussion particularly took place around business grant support, 
health and well-being of staff and the pausing of some services.  

Financial Implications 

13. There are no resource requirements associated with this report. Financial 
risks to the Council are included in the Council’s Corporate Risk Register and 
assessed and managed regularly by the Chief Financial Officer, reporting 
Treasury Management and other financial risks regularly to Councillors; 
financial risks of individual decisions are reported in standard paragraphs in 
committee reports. 

14. Appropriate mitigation of financial risks will ensure the public purse is 
appropriately safeguarded and support the achievement of strategic 
objectives.  

302



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Risk Assessment 

15. The Council significantly reduces a number of varied risks by having a robust 
risk management framework in place. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

16. An equal opportunities assessment has not been carried out as service 
delivery is not directly affected by the report, although in determining risks 
individual services will be assessing equalities and diversity implications. 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

17. Climate change and environmental implications features on the Corporate 
Risk Register and is discussed at each meeting of SRMG. The Council has 
recently appointed a Climate Change Manager and it is planned that this 
officer and the Strategic Planning Lead (Environment) are invited to attend  
future SRMG meetings to discuss risk associated with the Climate Change & 
Environmental Strategy and Action Plan.  

Conclusion 

18. Risk management within the Council continues to be developed in accordance 
with good risk management practice and efforts are being made to ensure 
continuous improvement in risk management processes, as well as to further 
embed risk management awareness into Council business management. The 
practices and framework provide a sound platform for risk management 
throughout the organisation. 

 
JOANNE CASSAR 

EXECUTIVE HEAD OF GOVERNANCE 
Date: 29 November 2021 
Contact Officer: Joanne Cassar  
Tel No: 02380 688015 
e-mail: joanne.cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 3  
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None 
 

303



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK – September 2021 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 

1. Risk is the potential of an action or event to impact on the Council’s achievement 
of objectives and the execution of its strategies.  Risks are things that might 
happen and are therefore different to issues (things that are happening or are 
certain to happen in the future).  Risks may be positive opportunities or negative 
threats.  
 

2. Risk Management is a process that allows individual risk events and overall risk 
to be identified, evaluated and managed proactively, optimising success by 
minimising negative likelihood and impact, and maximising opportunities. Risk 
Management is a key element of the framework of governance.  
 

3. The best formulation for describing a risk is: cause – event – effect: 
 

Cause Unplanned event Effect on objective 

Adverse weather 
may cause … 

… staff to arrive late for 
work… 

…which may have the effect 
of reducing customer service 
standards. 

 

RISK APPETITE 
 

4. Risk Appetite is defined as the level of risk the Council is prepared to accept to 
fulfil its mission and achieve its objectives. Levels of reward and costs of 
managing risks will determine the Council’s Risk Appetite. Risks outside the 
Council’s Risk Appetite will not be tolerated and must be managed (reduced, 
transferred, mitigated etc.). 
 

5. The overall risk appetite of the Council is defined as MODERATE, with varying 
appetite across different objectives and Council activities.   
 

6. The Council’s level of exposure to risk at any time is expressed in risk registers 
by the scoring of risks and the difference between current and target risk score 
(in line with Risk Appetite).   
 

7. Management and understanding of exposure will be achieved by considering and 
reviewing risks and by deploying mitigation controls that treat, tolerate, transfer, 
terminate risks or take opportunities. 
 

8. Reports from the Strategic Risk Management Group to the Executive Leadership 
Team quarterly will show the level of exposure to corporate risks at the time of 
reporting and the degree of difference between exposure and appetite. 
 
 
 

305



FRAMEWORK 
 

9. The risk management framework consists of four areas, which are subject to 
regular scrutiny and review: policy which is implemented by processes which 
are carried out by stakeholders using methods, which leads to a review of 
policy to ensure continuous self-improvement.  The Strategic Risk Management 
Group oversees this entire framework and regulates it as necessary, and the 
Executive Head of Governance (as Chair of SRMG) provides guidance and 
assistance to Councillors and staff. 

 
POLICY 
 

10. The Council is committed to carrying out effective risk management at all levels 
and throughout all of its activities including operational, tactical and strategic 
processes, activities carried out in partnership with other organisations and 
functions carried out by the Council.  Evaluation will ensure that corporate 
objectives are successfully met and that the Council delivers the best possible 
services taking advantage of properly assessed opportunities for the benefit of its 
stakeholders. 
 

11. The Council’s risk management process shall: 

 ensure integration of risk management as a core part of business planning 

 include an effective risk identification, monitoring and review process at 
service, project, programme and corporate level 

 contribute towards sustainable improvements in service performance 

 reduce the number and cost of insurance claims made by and against the 
Council 

 improve the Council’s ability to defend claims against it 

 fully document major risks and their mitigation. 
 

12. The risk profile that the Council faces includes: 

 Strategic risks: threats to the achievement of corporate and strategic 
objectives, unwillingness or inability to adapt to changes in the Council’s 
business environment   

 Operational risks: potential lapse of performance standards, threats to 
achievement of operational objectives  

 Financial risks: risks to achieving a balanced budget, controlling costs 
(including borrowing costs) and achieving projected income levels  

 Reputational risks: Possible adverse perception of the Council by 
stakeholders  

 Failure to deliver statutory functions and meet legal requirements; incidences 
of fraud or corruption (Compliance risks) 

 
13. The Council will ensure that organisational infrastructure exists to ensure 

effective implementation of risk management processes and to ensure effective 
risk control by use of reporting mechanisms including Risk Registers. 
 

306



14. Potential threats to good risk management include: 
 

 Insufficient officer time available to drive risk initiatives 

 A lack of training for staff and Councillors 

 A lack of coordination of parts of the risk management framework 

 Insufficient management oversight of risk and risk processes 

 Lack of integration of risk management in business planning. 
 

15. Therefore, to be effective, this policy must meet the following objectives: 
 

 Risk management must be integrated in the culture of the Council’s 
Councillors and staff across all activities 
 

 Risk management must embody best practice, regular training and 
continuous self-improvement 

 

 Risks must be managed systematically, with Cabinet, Corporate Leadership 
Board, Executive Leadership Team, the Strategic Risk Management Group 
and the Audit and Resources Committee taking responsibility for the risk 
framework. 

 

PROCESS 
 

16. The key risk management process undertaken across the Council is the 
maintenance of the Operational risk register, owned and reviewed by services. 
The Strategic Risk Management Group conducts reviews of specific areas of the 
Operational Risk Register in conjunction with the Corporate Risk Register where 
necessary.  Each of the Council’s service areas and programmes will be 
reviewed by the SRMG at least once annually. The Operational Risk Register 
has been designed to provide complete records of risk including cause, 
ownership, existing controls, mitigation plans, resources required and mitigation 
timetables.  

 
17. The Corporate Risk Register is drafted, owned and reviewed by the Corporate 

Leadership Board as part of the Executive Team and reviewed by the Strategic 
Risk Management Group which may make recommendations (to add, remove or 
amend risks on the register) to the Corporate Leadership Board. 
 

18. SRMG may implement risk training for staff and Councillors to assist 
stakeholders in implementing the Risk Framework. 
 

STAKEHOLDER RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

19. Stakeholders in the context of risk management comprise the following groups: 
 
 
 

307



Stakeholder Group Responsibilities 

Cabinet Overseeing the effective management of 
risk through adoption of policy. 

Audit and Resources Committee 
(ARC) 

Overseeing the effective management of 
risk through assurance that policy is being 
implemented. 

Ward Councillors Considering risks in all decisions via the 
business of committees and panels 

Corporate Leadership Board (with 
input from Executive Heads) 

Producing the Corporate Risk Register 
and forwarding to SRMG; ensuring the 
implementation of policy; integrating risk 
management into the culture (routines, 
processes, values, behaviours) of the 
organisation. 

Strategic Risk Management Group 
(SRMG) 

Monitoring and assuring the 
implementation of the Risk Framework; 
reporting to Audit and Resources 
Committee, Corporate Management Team 
and Cabinet.  See details below. 

Service Heads Maintaining the Operational Risk Register 
for their service as part of business 
planning and reviewing and updating the 
register monthly as part of service 
performance review.  

Service Teams Understanding operational risks including 
service level health and safety issues. 

Programme Boards and Project 
Teams 

Drafting Programme and Project Risk 
Registers and forwarding to SRMG. 

Internal audit Comprehensive independent monitoring 
and reviewing of the Framework and risk 
controls. Risk Registers are used to inform 
the Annual Internal Audit Plan.  

 

METHODS 
 

20. The following methods and resources are available to enable risk management: 
 

 Operational Risk Register: service level register is compiled by Service 
Managers and reviewed as part of performance and business management 
routines. Registers are made available to the Executive Head of Governance 
and SRMG, who review them and may recommend to ELT that risks of a 
higher level be escalated to the Corporate Risk Register in accordance with 
criteria agreed by the SRMG: 

o Very high levels of risk outside risk appetite / target risk score 
o Risks requiring ELT mitigation action 
o Risks of corporate significance. 

 

308



 Programme and Project Risk Registers: drafted and owned by Programme 
and Project Managers, reviewed by Programme and Project Boards and the 
SRMG as for the Operational Risk Register. 

 

 Corporate Risk Register: drafted and owned by Corporate Leadership 
Board and reviewed by the SRMG. The Corporate Risk Register is a 
confidential document. If the Member representing Audit and Resources 
Committee on the SRMG feels that a risk contained on the Corporate Risk 
Register should be referred to other Members of the Audit and Resources 
Committee, the Member should raise and discuss the matter during a 
confidential session of the ARC meeting agenda. 

 

 Internal Audit: provide independent assurance on control issues by the use 
of a comprehensive and fluid Internal Audit Strategic Plan, driven in part by 
the Operational and the Corporate Risk Registers.  The frequency of review is 
determined by the use of a well-developed risk index.  Following such reviews 
management are alerted to risks and asked to record such risks in their risk 
register.  This allows such risks to be addressed and monitored.  

 

 Insurance Management Consultancy: the Council pays for the services of a 
team of local government risk management consultants on occasions when 
external advice is required. 

 

309



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

APPENDIX 2 
Eastleigh Borough Council Risk Appetite Statement November 2021 
 
Risk appetite is the level of risk that the Council is prepared to accept in pursuit of its 
objectives, before action is deemed necessary to reduce the risk. It represents a 
balance between the potential benefits of innovation and the threats, that change 
inevitably brings.  
 
Risk appetite is an important tool in guiding what the Council is willing to seek or accept 
in pursuit of its strategic objectives set out in its corporate plan. As an organisation, we 
must sometimes take risks to deliver beneficial outcomes to stakeholders and a risk 
appetite allows for risk-taking to be a controlled process. Good risk management allows 
for informed decision making and understanding of associated risks in undertaking 
certain tasks and activities. The ability to properly manage and understand risks means 
that the Council is more likely to be able to achieve its goals, as well as allowing for 
control and a high level of due diligence consistent with the responsibilities of a public 
sector organisation. Risk management also incorporates opportunities as well as 
threats. The Council’s approach to risk is to seek the right opportunities where possible 
and minimise risk as effectively as possible. By encouraging managed risk-taking and 
considering options, the Council can take a balanced approach of both caution and 
ambition (innovation). As an organisation, we are not willing to take risks that will cause 
significant negative consequences to our objectives. In some cases, the Council may 
have to accept higher risks due to the cost of controlling them or statutory obligations. 
 

Overall Appetite (September 2021) 
 

MODERATE 

(Risk Appetite (tolerance) range: AVERSE - CAUTIOUS – MODERATE – OPEN – AMBITIOUS) 

 
AVERSE: avoidance of risk and uncertainty, no inherent* risk 
CAUTIOUS: preference for safe options that have a low degree of risk but willing to 
accept/tolerate a degree of risk 
MODERATE: taking a balance approached, accepting/rejecting some risks 
OPEN: prepared to accept greater inherent risk 
AMBITIOUS: eager to be innovative and choose activities that focus on maximising 
opportunities and offering high reward but can carry high residual** risk 
 
*Inherent Risk – the current risk level given to the existing set of controls 
** Residual Risk – the risk level given after mitigating controls are introduced  

 
The Council’s overall attitude towards risk, across all its services, is currently assessed 
as MODERATE.  However given the diverse services provided across a dynamic and 
innovative Council, it is recognised that not one classification is appropriate Appetite 
levels will vary, in some areas our risk tolerance will be cautious in others, the Council is 

more open to risk and willing to carry risk in the pursuit of important objectives. Risk 
management shall be an integral part of all organisational activities to support decision-
making in achieving objectives. Where activities are projected to exceed the defined 
levels, this must be highlighted through appropriate governance mechanisms.  
 

311



APPENDIX B 
 

 

Compliance Risk 
Compliance risk is the potential for losses and legal penalties due to failure to comply 
with laws or regulations. The Council is AVERSE to compliance risk. It must comply 
with legal requirements and carry out statutory duties and is entrusted with public funds 
to deliver services to residents. Some of the services of the Council relate to vulnerable 
individuals and families. 
 
Reputational Risk 
Reputational risk refers to the potential for negative publicity, public perception or 
uncontrollable events to have an adverse impact on the Council’s reputation.The 
Council’s brand and reputation is important in providing residents with confidence and 
security, but the Council accepts that some of its activities may be unpopular, or may 
not be fully understood by stakeholders; appetite towards reputational risk is therefore 
OPEN.  The Council is AMBITIOUS in relation to its community leadership to address 
Climate Change. 

 

Financial risks 

Risks arising from not managing finances in accordance with requirements and financial 
constraints resulting in poor returns from investments, failure to manage 
assets/liabilities or to obtain value for money from the resources deployed, and/or non-
compliant financial reporting. We have adopted a MODERATE stance for financial risks 
taking a balanced approach but prepared to accept some degree of risk. 

 

Discretionary Services Activity 

In discretionary service areas, or for core services for a limited period, the Council will 
adopt an OPEN approach to risk, due to financial constraints and changes in the 
Council’s ways of working; the Council is prepared to accept a small negative impact 
upon its financial position in order to achieve its overall goals, especially when 
achievement of those goals will deliver substantial benefits to residents/businesses 
and/or realise significant longer-term efficiencies. 

 

Innovation & Commercial Activity 
The Council’s appetite to risk is more OPEN where it needs to operate more 
innovatively and commercially in order to continue to provide services and achieve 
corporate objectives. The introduction of new ways of working, and the Council’s 
approach to commercial property investment and housing delivery are examples of the 
Council’s more AMBITIOUS appetite for risk; risks are more acceptable here because 
the opportunity for reward is greater; nevertheless robust measures are taken to 
mitigate risk e.g. treasury management. 
 
Health & Safety Risk 
The Council takes safety of residents, staff, and visitors to the borough very seriously 
and is AVERSE to risk in this area.  A range of policies and procedures are in place, as 
well as specific services that promote safety:  e.g. Food Hygiene, Health and Safety 
inspections of businesses, working practices by Direct Services operatives, Community 
Safety and Emergency Planning. 

312



APPENDIX 3  

STRATEGIC RISK MANAGEMENT GROUP  
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
The Strategic Risk Management Group’s Terms of Reference are: 
 

1. ROLE 
 
Develop and maintain a framework, to ensure integration of risk management 
into business planning, to establish an assessment process to enable corporate 
objectives to be met and to promote good risk management practice throughout 
the Council and where relevant, to share this with partner organisations. 
 

2. MEMBERSHIP 
 
SRMG membership of the group includes: 
 

 One Member representative – appointed by the Audit and Resources 
Committee 

 Leader of the Council  

 Executive Head of Governance & Monitoring Officer  

 Chief Internal Auditor or representative 

 Strategic Planning Manager 

 Senior Projects & Programmes Officer 

 Neighbourhood Services representative 

 Safety and Resilience Manager 

 One Local Area Manager 

 Procurement and Insurance Officer 

 Corporate Health and Safety Officer 

 Finance Specialist 

 Climate Change Manager   

 Resource Manager  
 
Other officers and Members may be invited as necessary, depending on the 
agenda items scheduled for each meeting. 
 

3. PROTOCOLS 
 
The group will meet every 8 weeks.  Additional meetings will be held if 
circumstances require at which the following protocols will apply: 

 
1. Agendas for meetings will be drawn up by the Case Management/Democratic 

Services Officer in consultation with the Chair and circulated at least 7 days 
before the meeting. 

 
2. In the absence of the Chair, meetings will be chaired by the most senior 

officer present. 

313



 
3. Minutes will be taken by the Case Management/Democratic Services Officer 

and approved by whoever chaired the meeting before circulation. 
 
4. Email will be the main method of communication outside meetings. 
 
5. These Terms of Reference are reviewed annually and are dated accordingly. 
 

4. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 
 

 Encourage a culture of risk management across the Council 

 Ensure appropriate risk management is embedded in all business 
processes via the provision of guidance to Councillors and staff 

 Manage and review the risk management framework to achieve continuous 
improvement 

 Ensure effective risk and mitigation reporting structures and systems are 
operational 

 Review service, programme, project, and corporate risks and advise as 
necessary 

 Provide or arrange appropriate Risk Management training for Councillors 
and staff 

 Periodically liaise with our Insurance consultants and external auditors to 
ensure the Council’s risk management framework and risk profile are 
satisfactory 

 Review and update the relevant risk management sections of the Council’s 
Constitution 

 
5. REPORTING ARRANGEMENTS AND RELATIONSHIPS 

 
The flow of risk reporting information is set out below. 
 

314



 
 
Any changes to the corporate risk profile will be reported to Cabinet, with the 
impact on corporate priorities and policy decision-making linked to these 
changes.   
 
Additionally, Internal Audit will notify the SRMG of risks identified during its own 
risk assessment process, as the Chief Internal Auditor is a member of the group. 
 

6. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 
 
For each risk, the potential impact and likelihood are rated on scales of 1 to 5, 
then the resulting figures are multiplied together and rated such that a rating of 1 
indicates very low risk and 25 indicates the highest level of risk.  
 
The Risk Registers require users to record current risk ratings and ratings 
expected following a defined plan for mitigation.   
 
 
 
 

315



7. COUNCILLORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

Elected Councillors are responsible for governing the delivery of services to the 
local community.  Failure to deliver services efficiently and high-level incidents 
and scandals often result in the public questioning the competence of those in 
charge. It often transpires that such failures and scandals could have been 
avoided if proper governance procedures had been operating effectively.  Such 
questions can impact on the public perception of individual Councillors or the 
Council as a whole.  Cabinet members have a responsibility to understand the 
strategic risks that their Council faces, and to decide how these risks should be 
managed.  They should not seek to avoid or delegate this overall responsibility as 
it is key to their stewardship responsibilities.  Cabinet members should: 

 seek implementation of a strategic risk management process as soon as is 
practical;  

 agree on the Councillor and staff structures for planning and monitoring risk 
management across the authority;  

 correctly position risk management as a strategic and operational tool that 
can help Councillor and staff to meet the challenges and demands facing 
them, rather than as a mere compliance exercise;  

 promote the desired mindset and attitude that is essential for successful 
implementation and robust, ongoing risk management processes;  

 view the process as a significant management exercise, with the right level 
of resources committed to implementation of risk policy and risk 
management measures;  

 take a top-down approach, focusing on issues of corporate significance 
rather than a ‘bottom-up’ exercise which would be too large to manage; and  

 aim for continual improvement on a longer-term basis. 

8. KEY TASKS FOR CABINET MEMBERS 

 

Councillors need to determine within existing leadership structures how they will 
plan and monitor the Council’s risk management arrangements.  They should: 

 decide on the structure through which risk management will be led and 
monitored;  

 consider appointing a particular group or committee, such as an audit 
committee, to oversee risk management policy and to provide a focus for 
the process;  

 approve the Council’s policy on risk 
 agree the Council’s risk appetite i.e. the degree to which the Council is 

willing to accept risk;  
 receive reports on risk management and internal control – officers should 

report annually on the effectiveness of the framework, with possibly interim 
reporting as necessary.  

Cabinet Members must support and monitor both implementation and ongoing 
risk management processes.  This includes: 

316



 embracing risk management in a positive way to:  
o drive service and organisational improvement;  
o assist in the achievement of Council’s objectives;  
o ensure that sensible management decisions are taken;  
o minimise the likelihood of things going wrong and their potential 

impact; and  
o provide a framework to meet new challenges. 

 promoting the right management culture on an ongoing basis. Most 
problems that materialise are likely to be people-based and arise through 
lack of proper application of management processes rather than through 
weaknesses in systems. 

317



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

319

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

329

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

331

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

337

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

339

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Recommendations from Committees
	5 Asset Transfer Policy
	Asset Transfer Policy app 1

	6 One Horton Heath Property Transaction
	OHH Property Transaction Appendix A
	OHH Property Transaction Appendix B
	OHH Property Transaction Appendix C
	OHH Property Transaction Appendix D
	OHH Property Transaction Appendix E

	7 Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document
	Trees and Developmement SPD Appendix 1
	Trees and Developmement SPD Appendix 2
	Trees and Development SPD Appendix 3
	_Hlk70345787
	_Hlk53483350
	_Hlk50388354


	8 Biodiversity Strategy 2022-2032
	Appendix. 1 for Biodiversity Strategy 2022-2032

	9 Corporate Fees and Charges
	Appendix for Corporate Fees and Charges_v1 Cabinet version

	10 Corporate Performance Report
	Corporate Performance Appendices A to P

	11 Corporate Risk Management Annual Report
	App 1 Risk Man Framework for Cabinet 9.12.21
	App 2 Risk Appetite Statement for Cabinet 9.12.21
	App 3 for Cabinet 9.12.21 SRMG ToR

	13 Property Transaction
	Property Transaction Appendix 1

	14 Property Transaction
	Property Transaction (2) Appendix 1
	Property Transaction (2) Appendix 2


